Exhibit 2 — Community Health Needs Assessment {ltem #2)

Please provide the CHNA reports for all years from 2012.

Response:

Prepared at the request of Counsel, please find attached the comprehensive CHNA from 2012 and the
supplemental CHNA from 2015. We are also sending along our most recent CHIP for your review., We
believe the participation in HHC’s Health Transformation Grant {which we will become part of under an
affiliation), along with their community benefit planning and management approach will enhance our
ability to respond to the needs identified. In addition, this work will be given further shape by the grant
to be made to the community foundation as contemplated in the affiliation agreement and as we
integrate population health initiatives over time with HHC.
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The 2012 Litchfield County Community Health
Needs Assessment {CHNA) represents the
collaborative efforts of the Litchfield County
Community Transformation Grant (CTG)
Coalition to begin to assess and prioritize health
needs in our community and to collectively
develop strategies and mobilize resources to
improve the heaith of county residents.

The CTG Program is funded by the Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). The CTG
Program’s overarching goal is to create
healthier communities by making healthy living
easier and more affordable. The CTG program
aims to improve the the health of all Americans
by improving weight, nutrition, physical activity,
tobacco use, emotional well-being, and overall
mental health. By promoting healthy lifestyles
and communities, especially among population
groups experiencing the greatest burden of
chronic disease, CTGs help improve health,
reduce health disparities, and lower health care
costs. www.cdc.gov/communitytransformation/Cached

Litchfield County is one of five counties in the
state awarded CTG funding in partnership with
the Connecticut Department of Public Health
(CTDPH) to build capacity to support healthy
lifestyles in a combined county population of
over 889,000 including a rural population of
306,000. Connecticut’s CTG Program targets
evidence-based strategies to promote tobacco-
free living, active living and healthy eating,
guality clinical and other preventive services,
healthy and safe physical enviranments, and
social and emotional wellness.

The CTG Program is closely aligned with two
other nationwide health promotion inttiatives,
the National Prevention Strategy and the
Million Hearts Campaign™. The National
Prevention Strategy is a comprehensive planto
increase the number of Americans who are
heaithy at every stage of life. The Prevention
Strategy recognizes that good health comes not
just from receiving quality medical care, but
also from clean air and water, safe outdoor

spaces for physical activity, safe worksites,
healthy foods, violence-free environments and
healthy homes. Prevention should be woven
into all aspects of our lives, including where and
how we live, learn, work and play.
http.//www.healthcare.gov/prevention/nphpphc/strategy/
index.html. The Million Hearts™ Campaign aims
to prevent one million heart attacks and strokes
over the next five years. Million Hearts™ brings
together communities, health systems,
nonprofit organizations, federal agencies, and
private-sector partners from across the country

to fight heart disease and stroke.
http://millionhearts.hhs.gov/index.html!

Conducting a community health needs
assessment is the first step to developing a
community health improvement plan. The
CHNA describes the health of the community,
by presenting refevant information on
socioeconomic and demographic factors
affecting health, personal health-related
lifestyle practices, health status indicators,
community health resources, and studies of
current local health issues. The CHNA identifies
population groups that may be at increased risk
for poor health outcomes, assesses the larger
community environment and how it impacts
health, and identifies areas where additional or
better information is needed. The assessment
process is highly collaborative, involving a broad
spectrum of community stakeholders.

The leading health issues in Litchfield County, as
in the state and the nation, result from many
underlying factors which can be controlled or
modified. Harmful lifestyle behaviors such as
smoking, overeating, poor nutrition, lack of
physical activity, and substance abuse have
major impacts on individual health. Economic
and Janguage/cultural factors present barriers
to access and utilization of medical care and
preventive health services. Income,
employment status, educational attainment,
housing, and other social factors impact health
or limit access to care. Uncontrollable factors,
including inherited health conditions or
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increased susceptibility to disease, also
significantly influence health.

Poverty underlies many of the social factors
that contribute to poor health. Differences for

~ many health indicators are also apparent by
gender, race/ethnicity, age, and geographic
area of residence. This information will be used
to guide the development of programs and
services to meet identified health needs.

Recent trends in health indicators for county
residents show improvement in overall
mortality rates for many leading causes of
death. There are indications of improvement in
personal health habits such as smoking and
activity rates and accessing screening services
for early detection of certain diseases.
However, disparities in health care access and
health status in certain populations persist.
Expanded joint planning and coordination of
programs and services among community
partners can reduce health disparities and
improve the health of all county residents.

The intent is for the Community Health Needs
Assessment to have significant value for the
community, and to be widely used to advance
community health improvement planning by a
diverse constituency of private and public
agencies. We welcome your comments and
reactions to this report, and invite you to join in
the assessment process going forward.

The Litchfield County CTG Coualition Steering
Committee

Jim Rokos, Director of Health

. Torrington Area Health District

Lesiie Polito, Assistant Director of Health
Torrington Area Health District

Sharon McCoy, Project Director
Torrington Area Health District

Stephanie Barksdale, Executive Director
United Way of Northwest Connecticut

Greg Brisco, Chief Executive Officer
Northwest Connecticut YMCA

Brian Mattiello, V.P. for Organizational
Development, Chariotte Hungerford Hospital

Daniel Baroody, Director of Health
Town of Sharon

Mike Crespan, Director of Health
New Milford Health Department

Donna Culbert, Director of Health
Newtown Health District

Jennifer Kertanis, Director of Health
Farmington Valley Health District

Neal Lustig, Director of Health
Pomperaug Health District

Mary Bevan, Director, Center for Healthy
Schools and Communities
EDUCATION CONNECTION

Jim Hutchison, Community Health Coordinator
Sharon Hospital

Andrea Rynn, Director of Public and
Government Relations
Western CT Health Network

Mary Winar, Projects Coordinator
Connecticut Office of Rural Health
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Situated in the northwestern corner of
Connecticut, Litchfield County occupies the
largest land area of any county in the state (920
square miles). Consistent with the rural nature
of many of its 26 municipalities, the county has
the lowest population density of any county in
CT. According to the 2010 Census, the total
population of the county was 189,927 ranking
4" in population size among the eight CT
counties. This represents a 4.3% increase in
population since 2000, which is slightly less than
the average state population growth rate of
4.9% over the past decade.

In 2010, as reported by the Census, there were
76,640 households in the county, and an
average household size of 2.4 persons. Nearly
30% {29.9%) of households include persons
under the age of 18 and 28.2% include persons
ages 65 and over. Litchfield County has the
distinction of having the highest proportion of
residents ages 50 and over in the state {39%),
compared with the CT average of 34%.

Overall, Litchfield County’s population is
relatively non-diverse; the Census 2010
racial/ethnic composition is 93.9% White and
1.3 % Black or African American, 1.5 % Asian,
0.2% American Indian, and 4.5% Hispanic or
Latino (6.1% minority). However, as noted in
Table 2, the county’s two primary urban centers
of Torrington and New Milford are considerably
more diverse; the total minority population in
Torrington is 11.3% and in New Milford is 8.3%.

According to the U.S. Census American
Community Survey (ACS} 5-Year estimates for
2006-2010, the predominant ancestries in the
county were: 23.0% ltalian, 21.3% Irish, 14.8%
English, 14.2% German and 9.5% French.
Slightly over 6% (6.3%) of the county's
population is foreign-born, and of those 42.5%
are not U.S. citizens. The vast majority of
county residents speak English (91.2%); 8.8% of
residents have a primary language other than
English, however only 2.7% speak English less
than “very well”. The predominant non-English

State of Connecticut
Counties

languages spoken include “other Indo-European
fanguages” and Spanish. Itis important to note
that Census ACS data are estimates based on a
sample and therefore subject to sampling
variability. In contrast, the decennial Census
data are official population and housing counts.
Additional information on the sampling
methodology used in the ACS is available at

Overall levels of educational attainment by
Litchfield County residents surpass the state
average - 96% of county residents are high
school graduates, 29% completed some college,
and 34% attained a bachelor's degree or higher.

The median income per household in the
county as estimated by the 2006-2010 ACS was
569,639, and the median family income was
$84,890. in 2009, 5.3% of the county’s
population was living in poverty, well below the
state average of 8.7%. High poverty areas exist
in certain communities, and poverty is most
commoan in female-headed househelds with
children under 18 years of age.

Related to housing characteristics, the majority
of Litchfield County residents own their own
homes {76.3%), with the remainder renting
(23.7%). Homeownership in the county is well
above the state average. According to CERC
Town Profiles, one-third of the housing stock in
the county was built prior to 1950 and there are
over 3,400 subsidized housing units in the
county.
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There are 26 distinct municipalities in the
county, including: Barkhamsted, Bethlehem,
Bridgewater, Canaan, Colebrook, Cornwall,
Goshen, Harwinton, Kent, Litchfield, Morris,
New Hartford, New Milford, Norfolk, North
Canaan, Plymouth, Roxbury, Salisbury, Sharon,
Thomaston, Torrington, Warren, Washington,
Watertown, Winchester, and Woodbury.

Although Connecticut is divided geographically
into eight counties, these counties do not have
any associated government structure. The
Connecticut General Assembly abolished all
county governments in the state on October 1,
1960. The 169 towns of Connecticut are the
principal units of local government in the state
and have full municipal powers including:
corporate powers, eminent domain, ability to
levy taxes, public services {low cost housing,
waste disposal, fire, police, ambulance, street
lighting), public works (highways, sewers,
cemeteries, parking lots, etc.}, regulatory
powers {building codes, traffic, animals, crime,
public health), environmental protection, and
economic development.

Under Connecticut's Home Rule Act, any
municipality in CT is permitted to adopt its own
local charter and choose its own structure of
government. The three principal municipal
government structures used in the state are: 1}
seiectman—-town meeting, 2} mayor-council,
and 3) manager—-council.

Litchfield
County

Five Regional Planning Crganizations (RPOs)
serve Litchfield County municipalities including
Central Connecticut Regional Planning Agency,
Council of Governments of the Central
Naugatuck Valley, Housatonic Valtey Council of
Elected Officials, Litchfield Hills Council of
Elected Officials, and Northwestern CT Council
of Governments. Through local ordinance, the
municipalities within each of these planning
regions have voluntarily created one of the
three types of RPOs permitted under CT statute
to carry out a variety of regional planning and
other activities on their behalf.

2000-2010 Census Comparisons, Growth Projections, and Ethnic/Racial Composition

As noted in Table 1, the county’s two most
populated urban centers are Torrington (2010
population - 36,383), and New Milford (2010
popuiation —28,142). Five of the county’s 26
municipalities have populations of 10,000 or
greater; the least populated town in the county
is Canaan, with 1,234 residents. Population
projections from the CT State Data Center show

an overall net growth rate in the county of
6.5%, for the 15 year period 2015-2030, with
the highest growth rate in Woodbury, closely
followed by New Hartford, New Milford,
Bethlehem, and Goshen. Negative growth rates
are projected in eight municipalities, with the
greatest percentage loss in population
projected for Canaan and Roxbury.
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Table 1: 2010 Census Population and Projections for Litchfield County Municipalities, 2015-2030

Ba rkhamsted
“Bethlehem™

Brldgewater

‘Canaan =

Colebrook

.-"CornwaEi

4 Harw:n‘ton

Kent

Litchfield

Morris

- New Hartford

New Milford

‘Norfalk:

North Canaan
‘Plymouth

Roxbury

fSahsbury

Sharon

 Thomaston’

Torrmgton

Warren

Washmgton

‘Watertown

Winchester

Woodbury

Litchfield County 189,927 193 489 197 751 202 218 ZDG 087 6.5%

Connecticut 3,574,097 | 3,573,885 | 3,622,774 | 3,669,990 | 3,702,400 6%

* Notes: Ten most populated municipalities are listed in bold type.

Sources: CERC Town Profiles, accessed at httn://www.cerc.com and Connecticut State Data Center, University of Connecticut,

http://ctsde.uconn.edu/projections/ct towns.htm!

Changes in the ethnic and racial composition of
the county by municipality over the past decade
compiled by the CT State Data Center are
shown in Tables 2 and 3. Overall, the county
has become more diverse from 2000 - 2010,
with the highest increase in the Hispanic or
Latino population (4,641 persons or an increase
of 119.2%), which is more than double the state
average increase of 49.6%. Based on the
increase in absolute numbers of persons, the

next highest increase was in White residents
{3,784 persons), followed by “other” {1,473
persons), Asian residents (771 persons), Black
or African American residents {560 persons),
followed by American Indian (85 persons} and
fastly Pacific Islander. By far, the greatest gains
in the number of minority residents were
experienced in three communities - Torrington,
New Milford, and Watertown.
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Table 2: Litchfield County Municipality Census 2000 and 2010 Population Counts by Race/Ethnicity*

Kent 2,858 2,979 2,737 2,813 16 35 22 22 28 49 1 1 20 21 72 94

New Milford 28,142 25,583 2g3| 4s4] a0 e8| s8] 7 71 11| 1l asal  vm1] 1603

Torrington 35,202| 36,383| a32,749| 32278 757  oval  70] oo ee3|  7es 7 s| 60| 1330 1162 32193

Winchester 10,664| 11,242 10071 10468 132] zo1| 25| 28] 99| 109 1 1| 180 225) 338 583

* Note: Hispanic or Latino population counts inciude persons of any race.
Source: (T State Data Center, University of Connecticut http://ctsdc.uconn.edu/data/2010_ 2600 PL_Census_data_comparison_towns.xis
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Table 3: Litchfield County Municipality Census 2000 and 2010 Numeric and Percent Population Change

New Milford 1,021 3.8

09

161

942

125.4

{7,045}

3,25

loss in popultation for that subgroup.

Source: CT State Data Center, University of Connecticut http://ctsdc uconn.edu/data/2010_2000_PL_Census_data_comparison_towns.xls

* Note: Hispanic or Latino population counts include persons of any race. Population change numbers in parentheses () are negative and represent o
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Age Distribution

As previously noted, the proportion of Litchfield
County residents ages 50 and over exceeds the
state average. Figure 1 graphically shows the

Figure 1

Population of Litchfield County
2000-2010, by Age Group

2000

Population

Source: LS, Census, Decennial Census by Age, Race, Sex; Ethnicily, provided sourtesy of HISR,
Connecticut Depariment of Public Health Attp.Awww. et gow/dph/cwpiview. asp?a=3132&q=488837),

accessed May 2, 2012,

20,000 15,006 10,000 5,000 o ¢ 5000 10,000 15,000 20,000

increase in the county population ages 50 and
over, and the decline in the population under
the age of 14 from 2000-2010.

Based on Census 2010 data, the age distribution of the county’s ten most populated municipalities,
compared with the county and the state is shown in Figure 2.

100%
90%
30%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%

Figure 2: Litchfield County Population by Age, 2010

i 65+
B 50-64
W 25-49
#18-24
#®5-17

#0-4

Source: CERC Town Profiles, http://www.cerc.com
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The upward trend in the age distribution of
Litchfield County’s population is explained in
large part by two factors - the advancing age of
the “baby boomer” generation and declining
birth rates, both of which are consistent with
state and national trends. This shift in

population demographics is noteworthy as the
need for health care and support services by
residents generally increases with advancing
age. The CT State Data Center projects the
median age in the county will to continue to rise
through 2015, as shown in Figure 3.

45

Median Age
I
o

)
wun

Figure 3: Litchfield County Median Age Projections
2000 to 2030

aConnecticut

ACounty

30
2000 2005 2010 2015

2020 2025 2030

R T

Source: Connecticut State Data Center, University of Connecticut, http://ctsde.edu/projections/ct towns.htmi

In addition to having a higher percentage of
residents ages 65 and over, overall the county
has a lower percentage of residents under the
age of 18 when compared with the state
average. Atthe municipal level, the top 10
communities with the highest percentage of

residents under the age of 18 and residents
ages 65 and over are shown graphically in
Figures 4 and 5. This information is important
as it has broad implications for health,
education, housing, and human services
planning.

Figure 4: Top 10 Litchfield County
Municipalities With Highest Percentage of
Population Under Age 18, 2010
Connecticut 22.7%
Litchfield County E 20.4%
Barkhamsted 21.0%
Bethlehem 4 21.1%
Cornwall 20.3%
Harwinton § 20.8%
Litchfield # 21.0%
New Hartford 22.6%
New Milford 23.1%
Plymouth 21.5%
Thomaston 21.2%
Watertown 20.4%
0.0%  50% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0% 25.0%

Figure 5: Top 10 Litchfield County
Municipalities With Highest Percentage
of Population Age 65 and Over, 2010

Connecticut
Litchfield County

Cornwall
Goshen

Kent
Litchfield
North Canaan
Salisbury
Sharon
Torrington
Washington
Winchester

0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0% 25.0%

Source: CERC Town Profiles www.cerc.com
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Educational Attainment

Advancing levels of education are strongly
associated with increased income and the
related benefits of improved socioeconomic
status. According to the National Center for
Educational Statistics, young adults with a
bachelor's degree earned more than twice as
much as those without a high school diploma or
its equivalent in 2009, 50 percent more than
young adult high school completers, and 25
percent more than young adults with an
associate's degree. In 2009, the median
earnings of young adults with a master's degree
or higher was $60,000, one-third more than the
median for young adults with a bachelor's
degree. http.//nces.ed.qgov/fastfacts/display.asp Pid=77

Socioeconomic status and health are strongly
correlated, with persons of higher
socioeconomic status generally experiencing
better health status and access to health care.
Persons with higher socioeconomic status are
also more likely to live in safe neighborhoods,

be steadily employed at higher paying jobs with
health benefits, and practice healthy lifestyle
behaviors. There is a growing body of research
suggesting that sociceconomic factors underlie
many of the abserved racial, ethnic, and gender
inequalities in health status, and that
socioeconomic factors are powerful predictors
of health status and health outcomes.

As indicated in Table 4, from 2000-2010 there
was a favorable upward trend in the percentage
of Litchfield County residents completing high
school and attaining a bachelor’s degree. The
overall county average for high school
completion exceeds the state average. Not
surprisingly, lower levels of educational
attainment are found in the county
municipalities with the highest poverty rates
and lowest median household incomes —
Torrington, Winchester, Thomaston, North
Canaan, and Plymouth.

Table 4: Educational Attainment in Litchfield County Residents Ages 25 and Over, Census 2000 and 2010

Barkhamsted

96.0

40.0

Bridgewater i 93.3

96.0

48.2

Colebrook 90.2

94.0

335

Goshen 90.0

94.0

32.4 37.0

New Milford
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North Canaan

91.0

20.8

26.0

ymou

Roxbury

salisbury

Washington

Watertown

Winchester

The Connecticut State Department of
Education’s (CSDE) Comprehensive Plan for
Education includes high school reform to assure
all students graduate and are prepared for
lifelong learning and careers in the global
competitive economy. As noted in Table 5,
Regional School District 12 and the Explorations
Charter School in Winchester achieved the goal
of 100% high school compietion and 0% high

Sources: U.5. Census Bureai, 2000 Census of Population and Housing. Summary Social, Economic and Housing Characteristics,
Connecticut and CERC 2011 Town Profiles.

school dropouts for the class of 2008 (the most
recent published data). Three school districts
{Plymouth, The Gilbert School, and Torrington}
had dropout rates considerably higher than the
state average. With one exception, districts in
the county achieved the Healthy People 2020
target of 82.4% of students graduating from high

schoal.

Table 5: High School Graduation Rates and Dropout Rates, School Districts in Litchfield County, 2008

100.9

0.0

Regional School District 1 (Canaan, Cornwali, Kent,
North Canaan, Salisbury, Sharon)

92.0

7.1

r

0.5
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Regional School District 14 (Bethlehem, Woodbury} 94.8 5.2

Thomaston School District 92.3 7.3

Source: CSDE CT Dato Education and Reseorch hittp.//sdeportal.ct.gov/Cedar/WEB/ct report/DTHame.aspx
Note: Harwinton is served by Reglonal School District 10, located in Hartford County.

Consistent with local demographic trends, there English Language Learners (7.0%}. In addition,
was an increase in the minority population in over 13% of Torrington students were reported
most school districts in the county over the past’ to live in households where English is not the
two academic years - this increase was most primary language. There is considerable
dramatic in Winchester. In 2009-2010, the variation in the minority population by school in
Torrington School District reported the highest some school districts, for example, several
percentage of minority students (24.3%) and also schools in Torrington have student populations
the highest percentage of students who were that exceed 30% minority.

Table 6: Percent of Minority and ELL Students Enrolled by School District, Litchfield County

2008-2010
Minority (%) Not Fluent in English (%)

Explorations District 7.1 6.3 0.0 0.0
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Economic Stability - Income, Poverty, and Unemployment

Healthy People 2020 emphasizes the inseparable
connections between health and the
environments in which we are born, live, learn,
work, play, and age. The relationship between
poverty and health is particularly strong. Itis
well documented that low income persons are
more likely to be uninsured, have fragmented
health care, and have higher rates of tobacco
use, substance abuse, mental illness and certain
chronic diseases such as chesity and diabetes. in
addition, poor persons are more likely to have
low levels of education, five in substandard
housing and unsafe neighborhoods, be
unempioyed, and be victims of crime.

As shown in Table 7, Litchfield County residents
generally have median incomes above the state

Table 7: Economic Characteristics of Litchfield County Municipalities, 2009-2010

and well above the national average, and
poverty rates lower than the state and national
averages. Income by municipality varies
considerably , and in 2010 ranged from a low of
544,817 in North Canaan to a high of $120,008
in Roxbury. Five municipalities have median
household incomes below the state average -
North Canaan, Plymouth, Thomaston,
Torrington, and Winchester. North Canaan’s
household median income is below the national
average. Two municipalities - North Canaan
and Torrington - have poverty rates that exceed
the state average. A concerning finding is that.
over two-thirds of the county’s muncipalities
experienced a decline in the household median
income from 2009-2010, likely related to the
economic recession and rise in unemployment.

Barkhamsted

Bridgewater

Colebrook

“Harwinton

Kent

Litchfield

Morris

New Milford

Roxbury 116,057

Sharon 68,857




Tor_rin_gton

Nate: Ten most populated towns are listed in bold type.

Sources: CERC tawn profiles www.cerc.com and U.S. Census http://www.census.qgov/prod/2010puks/n60-238. pdf
Municipal 2009 & 2010 Median income: hitp.//pschousing.org/files/HC 2010 CTAffordability Study.pdf

2008 (.S, Median income: hittn//www.census.gov/newsroom/releases/archives/income wealth/cb10-144.html

CT Median Income 2010; hitp:/fwww.ers.usda. gov/data/unemployrment/RDUst2. asp eST=CF

CT Median income 2009;

hitp: /A www.census. gov/compendia/stotab/cats/income _expenditures poverty wealth/income and poverty—

state ond local data htmi

In examining median income and poverty rates,
it is important to note significant inequalities in
income and poverty rates exist statewide and
within Litchfield County by ethnicity, race,
gender, and household composition. The
Partnership for Strong Communities report,
2010 Housing in Connecticut: The Latest
Measures of Affordability, indicates that the
income disparity in Connecticut ranks second in
the nation and has grown faster than any state
in the nation, according to the CT Department
of Economic and Community Development
{DECDY). http://pschousing.org/fites/hsginct2010. pdf.

As noted in CT Department of Public Health's
2009 Connecticut Health Disparities Report,
Hispanic or Latino and Black or African
American CT residents were 2 to 3 times more
likely to live in poverty than White residents. In
terms of household composition, according to
U.S. Census ACS estimates, nearly one in four
female-headed households {no husband
present} in the county with children under the
age of 18 live in poverty {23%); for female-
headed households with children under the age
of 5, this figure jumps to one in two (51%]).

An additional consideration is that in areas with
a high cost of living such as Litchfield County,

families living well above the poverty level often
struggle financially. The fair living wage in the

county is double the current minimum wage.
htto./fwww.universaflivingwage.org/fmitables 2011/CT F
MRZ011.htm

A timely indicator of financial hardship in the
community is the percentage of school-age
children who are eligible for free or reduced
school meals. The income eligibility for free
meals is 130% or below the federal poverty
level; for reduced meals it is more than 130%
and up to 185% of the federal poverty level.
Data indicate that most school districts in the
county fall below the statewide average for free
or reduced price meal eligibility, with the
exception of schools serving Torrington and
Winchester. It is notable that over the past two
years, there has been an increase in the
proportion of eligible children in the majority of
districts, with the highest percentage increases
in Explorations {Winchester}, North Canaan,
Cornwall, and Barkhamsted.
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Tabie 8: Students Ellglble for Free/Reduced Price School Meals, Rank Order by School D:strict 2009-2011

Explorations District

T '_mngton School Distr]

Wmchester School District

Plyrﬁoﬁt.h Sﬁhool Di.s’.cr.ict

:»North Canaan School DlStri_ t

Reglonal School D!StrlCt 1 (Canaan Comwall Kent

145 199

North Canaan Sallsbury Sharon}

Water‘town School Dlstnct

| Washington)

New I-Eartford School Dlstrlct

329 34.4

Source: Connecticut State Department of Education, Student Need Data, hitp://sdeportal.ct.gov/Cedar/WEB/ct report/StudentNeedDT. aspx

Fortunately Connecticut counties and
municipalities have experienced a decline in the
unemployment rate over the past year.
According to the CT Department of Labor, the
state’s unemployment rate in March 2011 was
9.2%, and as of March 2012 this had declined to
8.1%, slightly below the national rate of 8.4%.
tn March 2012, unemployment rates in

Litchfield County ranked 4™ among the 8 CT
counties at 7.7%. Unemployment rates ranged
from a low of 4.6% in Bridgewater to a high of
9.3% in North Canaan.
htip.//wwwi. ctdolstate. ct.us/imi/laus/laustown.asp.

Unskilled workers, persons with fow
educational attainment, and minorities are
historically at higher risk for unemployment.
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Health Insurance Coverage

Having public or private health insurance
coverage is a strong predictor of both access to
and regular use of all types of health care
services. Studies demonstrate that individuals
lacking health insurance are far more likely to
receive fragmented health care and experience
delayed access to health screenings and

diagnosis and treatment for disease. As shown
in Figure 6, the percentage of CT residents who
are uninsured is well below the national
average. From 2007-2009, however, this
percentage increased at a faster rate in CT than
in the U.S. as a whole.

18

Figure 6: CT and U.S. Percent Uninsured Population, 1995-2009
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Source: US Census Bureau, Historical Health insurance Data, hitp//www.census.gov/hhes/www/hithins/data/historical/index.htm!.
Population as of March of the foliowing year. Reprinted with permission from The 2011 Community Report Card For Western (T
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The CT Department of Public Health’s {DPH)
report, Healthy Connecticut 2010, indicates that
the likelihood of being insured in our state
varies considerably by population subgroup. As
shown in Figure 7, children in Connecticut are
more likely than adults to have health
insurance, females are more likely than males,
and white non-Hispanic residents are
significantly more likely than non-Hispanic Black
and Hispanic residents to have coverage. HUSKY
Health is Connecticut’s comprehensive public
health insurance program, designed to reduce
the number of uninsured individuals and
families and increase access to preventive care
and diagnostic and treatment services.

As reported by the CT Voices for Children in
Uninsured Children in Connecticut, 2010, the
estimated percentage of uninsured persons in
Litchfield County in 2010 based on U.S. Census
ACS data, was 6.9% for persons of all ages and
2.4% for children under age 18. These

FGURET
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CHIDRE BRYRS ORSREANG
ADULTS 1654 YHE OF AGE 8V SEX RACE . EDiniTY
n CESNECTCUT. 18000
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38 4 e pory e Pl 0P i
e B et
o

45 ey SN
1595 2080 2061, 2004 2003 2004 Z0I5 HO0E 20072008 Z003.

Bk, Polidors Risk Fackd Shwilains Sydii,
g Data for e 530 yeun of un not asiflebls snid 2003,

Source: Healthy Connecticut 2010

percentages compare favorably with the 2010
CT rate of 9.1% overall and 3.0 % for children.
The report also cites the impact of HUSKY in
containing the numbers of uninsured children in
spite of the recent economic downturn.
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Housing and Homelessness

The U. 5. Department of Housing and Urban
Development defines cost-burdened renters or
homeowners as those who pay more than 30%
of their income for rent or mortgage payments.
In many instances, this leaves little money for
other necessities such as food, clothing,
transportation, utilities, and healthcare. For
renters, the situation is typically worse, as the
median household income for renters is
substantially less on average than for
homeowners. According to U.S. Census 2006-
2010 American Community Survey data, 48% of
renter households in the county are cost-
burdened and 41% of households who are
paying a home mortgage are cost-burdened.

The National Low Income Housing Coalition’s
2012 Out of Reach Study indicates that
Connecticut is the 7" most expensive state in
the nation for housing. In Litchfield County, the
hourly wage needed to afford a two-bedroom
fair market rate apartmentis $20.44 per hour,

2.5 times the minimum wage.
hitp://nlibc.org/fsites/default/files/oor/2012-00R. pdf

According to the 2010 U.S. Census, 76.3% of
Litchfield County residents own their homes
and 23.7% rent. There is considerable variation
by muncipality, with the proportion of residents
who rent exceeding one in three in Torrington
(33.6%) and Winchester (37.4%). The number
of subsidized housing units and the proportion
of pre-1950 housing stock are also highest in
these two communities. Torrington has 1,777
subsidized units and Winchester has 593 units.
In Winchester 50% of the housing stock is pre-
1950; in Torrington this is 39%. www.cerc.com

Since 2007, Connecticut has conducted a
statewlide standardized and coordinated
“census” of homelessness, to enumerate
homelessness both in shelters and on the
street. Fach January, the Connecticut Coalition
to End Homelessness coordinates a Point-In-
Time Count, to collect data on the exact
number of persons experiencing homelessness
on a single night in defined geographic areas in

the state. The most recent data specific to
Litchfield County are from 2007, when a total of
136 single adults and 11 families were counted.
According to Point-In-Time Count data for 2011,
the number of homeless individuals in
Connecticut was 4,451, an 8% increase since
2009. The breakdown by type is shown below.

Figure 8

Homeless Persons in Connectiout, Sheltered & Upsheltered

2

B Adufis wihout
Children

Adults with
Children

# Children in
Families

= ngcoompanied
Chitdren

Total Homeless: 4451

Zourpe: OT PIT 2611

The NW CT Collaborative for the Education of
Homeless Children and Youth is a partnership
between the Torrington Public Schools and
EDUCATION CONNECTION, the Regional
Educational Service Center in the county. This
CSDE-funded initiative provides wraparound
academic, social, and emotional support
services to children living in homeless families,
using the McKinney-Vento definition. In 2010-
2011, 129 children in Torrington (pre-K through
grade 12} were identified as homeless.

The CT Coalition to End Homelessness reports
that emergency shelters have been at capacity
for over two years, and as a result, there has
been a 37% increase in the number of

unsheltered homeless statewide,
hitp:/fwww.cceh.org/files/publications/Connecticui Point

in Time Count 2011 Brief FINAL 2012.01.09.ndf.

According to United Way’s 2-1-1 community
services database, homeless shelters in the
county are operated by the New Milford Shelter
Coalition {winter emergency shelters at local
churches), FISH of Torrington (25 beds), and
the Northwest CT YMCA (17 beds).
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Community Safety

The Uniform Crime Reporting Program (URC)
measures the extent, fluctuation, and
distribution of crime in communities across the
United States. Eight offenses were chosen to
form the Crime Index, including the viclent
crimes of murder, rape, robbery, and
aggravated assault and the property crimes of
arson, burglary, larceny-theft, and motor
vehicle theft. The Connecticut Department of
Emergency Services and Public Protection has
all 102 CT police departments participating in
the UCR Program.

As shown in Table 9, Litchfield County’'s overall
2010 crime index compares favorably with the
state total average and the state average for
non-urban {population < 100,000} areas. The
county’s index offense rates for all offenses
other than rape are consistently below the state
total and non-urban area rates.

Table ¢ —Litchfietd County and CT Crime Rates, 2010

Murder

Rape

Robbery

Aggravated
Assault

Burglary

Larceny

Motor
Vehicle Theft

Arson

Crime Index

Total

Rates are per 100,000 residents.
Source: http.//www.dpsdata.ct.gov/dpsiucr/data/2010

In examining crime index rates by municipality
in 2010, those with rates above the county
average included Torrington, Plymouth,
Winchester, and Thomaston. The lowest total
crime rate was found in Warren, followed by
Roxbury. It should be noted that due to the
small population size of many Litchfield County
municipaiities, rates may vary considerahbly
from one year to the next.

Indicators of community safety from the CT
Health Equity Index {a composite score based
on crimes against persons and crimes against
property) show considerable variation by
community, ranging from a low score of 2 in
Torrington to a high score of 10 in Bridgewater.
Low levels of community safety are also
correlated with certain undesirable health
outcomes such as lower life expectancy, higher
rates of accidents, and mental illness.
Sociceconomic factors such as unemployment
rates, educational attainment, and income
ievels are strongly associated with both the
prevalence and types of crime in communities.

Domestic abuse crosses all socioeconomic levels
and is chronically underreported in crime
statistics. The Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention estimates that one in four women
will be a victim of domestic abuse in their
lifetime. The Connecticut Coalition Against
Domestic Violence reports that from 7/1/10 —
6/30/11 their 18 domestic violence agencies,
including 2 located in Litchfield County,
provided services to 54,178 victims of domestic
violence. Litchfield County agencies include
Women's Support Services in Sharon and the

Susan B. Anthony Center located in Torrington.
http:/fwww.ctcadv.org/Portals/0/Uplogds/Documents/FA
CT-SHT%202010%20-2011%20for%20email%20%20.pdf

As reported in the July 2011 edition of the
Litchfield County Times, the Susan B. Anthony
Project reported nearly a doubling in the need
for services from the previous year, and the
Torrington Police reported that between 2008
and 2010 they responded tc about 2,400
reports of domestic violence, resulting in S60

arrests.
http:/fwww.countvtimes.com/articles/2011/07/06/news/d
0cdel4713e68326011064513. txt Pviewmode=fullstory
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Community Health-Related and Enviro

Community Health -Related Assets

Litchfield County is home to three acute care
hospitals: Charlotte Hungerford Hospital in
Torrington, Western CT Health Systems-New
Milford Hospital in New Milford, and Sharon
Hospital in Sharon. Some key statistics related
to each hospital are provided below:

Sources: http.//www.charlottehungerford. org/wp-
cantent/unloads/2012/03/CHH-Community-Report-11.pdf;
http./fcountyiimes.com/articles/2012/01/30/business/doc4f26 abe
9d88e2184167697. txt viewmode=fulistory: email communication

In addition, there is one federally qualified
health center located within the county, the
Community Health and Wellness Center of
Greater Torrington. Federally qualified health
centers {FQHC) receive federal funding support
to provide preventive, primary, and specialty
care services in medically underserved areas.
Within the county, Torrington is a federally
designated primary care health professional
shortage area. FQHC patients without
insurance pay for care based on their income,
using a sliding fee scale, however no one is
refused care based on inability to pay.

According to data compiled by the Pomperaug
Health District, there are 16 Long Term Care
Facilities in the county, located in Canaan (1),
Kent (1), Litchfield (1), Plymouth (1}, New
Milford {2), Salisbury (1), Sharon (1), Torrington
(5}, Watertown (2), and Winchester (1). The
combined bed capacity of these facilities is
1,562.

Muncipalities within the county are served by 4
full-time health districts, 1 full-time health
department, and 1 part-time health
department. The majority (17 out of 26} of the
county’s muncipalities are served by the
Torrington Area Health District, including

Bethlehem, Canaan, Cornwall, Goshen,
Harwinton, Kent, Litchfield, Morris, Norfolk,
North Canaan, Plymouth, Salisbury, Thomaston, L
Torrington, Warren, Watertown, and .
Winchester. |

Within the county, the Pomperaug Health
District serves Woodbury, the Farmingion
Valley Health District serves Barkhamsted,
Colebrook, and New Hartford, and the
Newtown Health District serves Bridgewater
and Roxbury. The New Milford Health
Department serves the town of New Milford.
The county’s two part-time health departments
are located in Sharon and Washington. Phone,
email, and wehsite contact information for all

health department/districts is available at
hitps:/fwww.han.ct.gov/local_health/localmap.asp?cfilter
=litchfield&bar=1&debug

There are a wide variety of additional health-
related resources within the county. United
Way of CT Infoline 2-1-1 maintains an up-to-
date online searchable community resource
database of health and human service
providers, agencies, and organizations, available
at http://www..?llct.orq/referweb/ﬁearch.uspx . United
Way also publishes an annual report, The 2-1-1-
Barometer - identifying Unmet Needs in CT,
highlighting gaps between service requests and
available resources in the community. This

report can be accessed at:
http /fwww.ctunitedway.orq/Medic/Barometer/iune2011.

pdf

The 2012 County Health Rankings report
indicates that Litchfield County has a ratio of 1
primary care physician to every 1,123 residents,
which ranks second to last among CT counties
and well below both the national benchmark of
1 primary care physician for every 631 persons
and the state average of 1 primary care
physician per 729. Geographic areas with lower
population densities such as Litchfield County
are more likely to have health professional
shortages. http.//www.counivhealthrankings.org
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Environmental Assets

With its sizable land mass and low population
density, the County abounds in open space
areas for recreation. Seven state parks, five
state forests, and one state recreation area lie
within its borders. In addition, the county
offers countless opportunities for year round
outdoor recreation through greenways, trails,
conservation areas, and numerous lakes,
ponds, rivers, and streams. However, access to
many of these resources is limited to residents
with private transportation. In terms of public
transportation, the Houstanic Area Regional
Transit operates a fixed route bus system in
New Milford, Torrington Transit Authority

provides scheduled service in Torrington, and
Dial-A-Ride services are available in the
remainder of the county through the
Northwestern CT Transit District. According to
the Census 2006-2010 ACS, only 1.3% of
Litchfield County residents use public
transportation to commute to work.

Due to the rural character of many of the
county’s town centers and roadways, there is
limited existing infrastructure such as
sidewalks, street lights, or bike lanes to
promote walking or biking as a transportation
mode within and among county communities.

Specic

Vulnerable groups include county residents
experiencing financial hardships, language and
cuitural barriers, and difficulty accessing health
care; perinatal women; the very young and
very old; persons with disabilities; and persons
residing in group quarters. As shown in Figure
1, there has been considerable growth in the
county population ages 85 and over, increasing
needs for supported living environments and
health care services.

Persons in group quarters are in a group living
arrangement, that is owned or managed by an
independent entity. Group quarters include
such places as college residence halls,
residential treatment centers, skilled nursing
facilities, group homes, military barracks, and
correctional facilities. Census 2010 reports a
total of 2,804 persons living in group guarters in
the county, including 1,566 individuals {503
males and 1,063 females) in institutions. The
remaining 1,238 individuais (682 males and 556
females) reside in non-institutional settings.

Recent Census data on the extent and type of
disabilities in county residents of all ages was
not yet available at the time of publication.
Disability information for school- age children as
reported by CSDE indicate that in 2010-2011,
overall 11.7% of CT K-12 students had one or
more disabilities. The most common types of

disabilities reported were learning disabilities,
followed by speech/language impairments,
other health impairments, autism, and
emotional disurbances. Data for individual
schools in Litchfield County for 2010 - 2011
show a wide variation in the proportion of K-12
students with disabilties by school, ranging from

a low of 5.4% to a high of 25%.
http://sdeportal. ct.gov/Cedar/WEB/ct report/Specialbdur
ationDT.aspx

Related to maternal, infant, and child health,
the DPH Maternal, Infant, and Early Chifdhood
Home Visiting Needs Assessment examined
existing services and compared data to relevant
risk factors of families of young families.
http/fwww. ct.gov/dph/lib/dph/needs assessment compl
gte 091510.0df Torrington and Winchester were
found to have a very high need for services and
Plymouth was found to be in moderate need.
EDUCATION CONNECTION’s Early Head Start and
Head Start Program 2012 Community
Assessment details the significant health and
social service needs of the families it serves in
New Milford, Torrington, and Winchester. In
addition, The Torrington Early Childhood
Collaborative’s Birth through 8 Community Plan,
a Graustein Discovery Community initiative,
presents a community-designed plan to assure
“All of Torrington’s children from birth through
age 8 are healthy and successful learners”.

21[ pa ge



A number of indicators are used to describe the
health status of residents in a specific
geographic area. These include the presence or
absence of health promoting behaviors; access
to and utilization of health screenings, primary
care and specialized health care services; the
incidence and prevalence of chronic and
communicable diseases; and the leading causes
of premature death and disability.

State and County Health Rankings

According to the United Health Foundation, in
2011 Connecticut ranked third highest in health
status in the nation, a continued positive trend
from a rank of seventh in 2009 and fourth in
2010. Specific strengths cited include low rates
of smoking, a lower prevalence of obesity when
compared to other states in the nation, a low
percentage of children in poverty, a low rate of
uninsured population, high immunization
coverage, and relatively high proportion of
primary care physicians. Areas where
improvements are needed include a high rate of
binge drinking and moderate levels of air
pollution. The report indicates that CT has
demonstrated success in reducing deaths from
cardiovascular disease and cancer and, in the
past ten years, smoking prevalence has

decreased dramatically. Source:
http://www.americashealthrankings.org/CT/2011

The 2012 County Health Rankings, a
collaboration of the University of Wisconsin’s
Population Heatth Institute and the Robert
Wood Johnson Foundation, ranks CT counties
based on health outcomes and heatth factors.
Counties receive a Health Outcome rank based
on mortality and morbidity and a Health Factor
rank based on health hehaviors, clinical care,
social-economic factors, and the physical
environment. Figure 9 shows the weighting
structure used to calculate the rankings. This
quantifies the interconnectedness of personai
health behaviors, clinical care, social and
economic factors and the physical environment
in which we live.

Figure @

ity Hedts Sk o TP

Within CT, counties are ranked from 1to 8 on
health factors and outcomes, with a rank of one
being the “healthiest”. Health cutcomes
represent the overall health of the county;
health factors represent what influences the
health of the county.

Health outcomes are based on an equal
weighting of mortality {how long people live)
and morbidity {how healthy people feel)
factors. Litchfield County ranked 4" out of the
eight CT counties for health outcomes. Health
tactors rankings are based on the weighted
average for the four different types of factors
{% used for weighting are shown in parentheses
in Figure 9). Litchfield County ranked 3™ out of
the eight counties for health factors.

Wirndham.

Selected findings specific to Litchfield County,

with CT and U.S. compariscns follow.
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Table 10 — Litchfield County Health Indicators, 2012

Premature death 5,285? 4,908-5,662 5,466?

i Poor physicat health

_ 30 2734 26 29
! days : : ]

: Adult smoking 18%  16-20% 14% . 16%:

17-22% 23%

. Physical inactivity

Preventable hospital

: 63
: stays

50 47-52 43

' Mammegraphy

! A% 6977% 74%,  71%
screening - H H .

Limited access to
heaithy foods

0% : 0% 5%

* 90th percentile, i.e., only 10% are better
Note: Blank values reflect unreliable or missing data
Source; http://countyheaithrankings.org

As noted in Table 10, Litchfield County meets
National Benchmarks and compares favorably
to the state on a number of indicators including:
premature death, residents reporting poor or
fair health, prevalence of adult obesity and
physical inactivity, mammography screening,
access to healthy foods, and percentage of fast
food restaurants. The county alsc compares
favorably to the state for preventable hospital
stays and has comparable rates for excessive
drinking and diabetic screening. County
indicators that do not meet National
Benchmarks include poor physical and mental

health days, adult smoking, excessive drinking
{(county rate is more than double the National
Benchmark), and preventable hospital stays.

Lifestyle Behaviors and Risk Factors

As stated in Healthy People 2010, individual
behaviors and social-environmental factors
account for about 70% of premature deaths in
the U.S. Health promoting lifestyle behaviors
such as avoiding tobacco, illicit drug, and
excessive alcohol use; healthy eating; regular
physical activity; and managing stress are key to
reducing the burden of chronic disease and
premature death in county residents.

The CT DPH report, Healthy Connecticut 2010,
compares outcomes in U.S. and CT residents for
selected behavioral health objectives related to
Healthy People 2010 leading health indicators -
physical activity, overweight/obesity, tobacco
use, substance abuse, sexual behaviors, mental
health, injury and violence, environmental
quality, immunization, and access to health
care. Key findings are presented in Figure 10.
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In general, CT residents had a lower prevalence
of most behavioral risk factors than the average
LS. resident and were more likely to be
physically active, not be obese, and not smoke.
In contrast, there was a higher prevalence of
alcohol use in both teens and adults, and
overweight and binge drinking in adults.

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
(CDC) Community Transformation and the
national Million Hearts™ initiatives both target
reduction of major risk factors for heart disease
and stroke, which are leading causes of death
and disability in the nation, state, and county.
These risk factors include tobacco use, poor
diet, physical inactivity, and unhealthy weight.
In addition, control of high blood pressure and
high cholesterol are imperative for maintaining
cardiovascular health.

Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance

The CDC Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance
System (BRFSS) is an ongoing random telephone
survey of adults ages 18 and over conducted in
alt 50 states. The BRFSS originally collected

data on health behaviors related to the leading
causes of death, but has since expanded to
include survey questions reiated to health care
access, utilization of preventive health services,
and emerging health issues.

Comparative BRFSS data for Litchfield County
and the state for the years 2007-2010 are
presented in Figure 11. In general, Litchfield
County residents had similar rates (identical or
within 1 point) to the state related to social
support, physical activity, fruit and vegetable
consumption, prevalence of high blood
pressure and diabetes, having routine medical
check-ups, cholesterol testing and
mammography.

County residents reported more frequent
attempts to stop smoking than state residents
as a whole {with co-existing higher smoking
rates), and more frequent participation in
routine dental care, pap smears and colorectal
cancer screening.

County residents were more likely to be obese
or current smokers than CT residents overall,
and were less likely to participate in routine eye
exams, influenza vaccination, and PSA testing
(in men). None of the differences were
statistically significant.
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Tobacco Use

Smoking is the single most avoidable cause of
chronic disease and death. Smoking increases
the risk of lung, bronchus, trachea, and
esophageal cancer as well as many other types
of cancers, heart disease, stroke, and chronic
lung diseases. As reported in Healthy
Connecticut 2010, over 5,000 CT adults die each
year due to smoking and from exposure to
secondhand smoke, As reported in the 2011

United Health Foundation’s Health Rankings,
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Connecticut has one of the lowest rates of
current smoking in adults, and in 2011, ranked
3rd lowest among U.S. states (13.2% compared
to 17.3% nationally).

Smoking among Connecticut adults has declined
by 40% over the past 20 years, with the greatest
decrease occurring during the last decade. As
shown in Figure 12, smoking prevalence has
decreased for all adult groups other than Black

non-Hispanics since 1999. source :
http:/fwww.ct.gov/dph/lib/dph/state _health planning/healthy b
eople/het2010 final rep jun2010.pdf.

FIGURE 12
CLERENT CIARETTE SROIGHNG
AR TS IREVEARS OF M BYRICE A ETHRICHY
CONNEGTYT, Tostauns

In spite of these positive trends, continued
efforts to avoid tobacco use are imperative to
future reductions in morbidity and mortality
from cancer, respiratory, and cardiovascular
diseases. In CT adults, smoking prevalence is
highest in males, persons ages 18-24, those
with less than a high school education, and
those with incomes below 525,000 {26.4%).
Based on BRFSS age-adjusted rates, Litchfteld
County ranked third highest in smoking
prevalence among CT counties in 2007-2009.

Healthy Connecticut 2010 reports smoking rates
in adolescents have atso shown a dramatic
decline from 2000-2009 (66% among middle
school and 40% among high school students).

In middie school, Hispanic or Latino students
had the highest smoking rates, while in high
school, white non-Hispanics had the highest
smoking rates.

FIGURE 43
CURRENT CIFARETTE BMOKING
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Physical Activity, Healthy Eating, and Healthy
Weight

Regular or vigorous physical activity is
important to overall health and weight
management. Regular activity reduces the risk
of obesity, heart disease and stroke, colorectal
and breast cancers, type 2 diabetes and
metabolic syndrome, high cholesterol, high
blood pressure, and osteoporosis. Activity also
improves mental health and mood and lowers
the overall risk of premature death. As shown
in Figure 14, physical activity among CT adulis
increased from 2001-2009, with the greatest
gains in Hispanic residents. There was
significant disparity in the reported level of
activity for Black and White non-Hispanics.

Based on 2007-2009 BRFSS data, adults more
likely to meet physical activity
recommendations were male, white non-
Hispanic, ages 18-24, and those with higher
education and income levels. Based on age-
adjusted data, Litchfield County ranked third
highest among CT counties in the percentage of
adults not meeting recommended requirements
{(moderate physical activity for 30 minutes or
more 5 times per week or vigorous physical
activity for 20 minutes or more 3 times a week}.
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FIGURE 14
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Accerding to the National Survey of Children’s
Health, in 2007 CT children were more likely
than their counterparts nationwide to be
physically active for at least four days per week
(36.2% versus 34.4%}, and less likely to spend
one hour or more a day in front of a television

or computer screen {42.7% versus 50.1%). source:
http://chifdheaithdota.org/decs/nsch-docs/connecticut-pdf. pdf

The CT DPH 2009 CT School Health Survey -
Youth Behavior Component report indicates
that the percentage of adolescents who are
physically inactive increases by grade from
11.2% in grade 9 to 19.9% in grade 12; female
and Black or Hispanic students are much more
likely to be inactive.

Another measure of the level of physical fitness
in youth is the percentage of students in local
school districts passing all four components of
state physical fitness tests. These standardized
tests include four areas of fitness: aerobic
endurance, flexibility, muscular strength and
endurance.

The results for K-12 students enrolled in school
districts within the county are presented in
Table 11. In general, less affluent districts in the
county scored lowest. There is also a trend
towards lower percentages in regional middle
schools and high schools when compared with
their elementary school “home town” districts.

Table 11 — Percentage of K-12 Students Passing All
Four Phy5|cal Fitness Test Components, 2010-2011

Corawall School District
‘Regional:School District 12
1:(Br|dgewater, Roxbury, Washlngton]'_.

Regional School District & {Goshen,

Morns, Wa rren)
“Kent: School O!Strlf.’t

Canaan School District

“Sallsbuiry School District

Litchfield School District

- Plymouth School District

Sharon 5chool District

Thormaston school DistAct

Colebrook School District

wh-School, D|st

Reglonal School District 14

{Bethlehem, Woodbury)
_New Mitford School District 6

New Hartford School District 45.9

j}{Canaan, Comwali Kent _North
“Canaan, Salisbury; Sharo

Winchester School District 34.7

' Norfolk School District -

The Gilbert School

:§:Torr|ngtnn5chool pist:

North Canaan School District 28.7

Note: Data for Explorations unavailable. Source: CSDE
http:/fsdeportal.ct. gov/Cedor/WEB/ct report/PhysicalFitnessDT

Viewer.asnx

Available county level BRFSS survey data (2007-
2010} on healthy eating are limited to fruit and
vegetable consumption. Survey findings
indicate that only 28% of adults consume the
recommended 5 or more servings of fruits and
vegetables per day. Eating the recommended
amount of fruits and vegetables is more
common in females, White non-Hispanics,
persons ages 65 and over, and those with
higher education and income levels. Based on
age-adjusted data, Litchfield ranks fourth
among CT counties in the percentage of persons
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consuming less than the recommended
quantity of fruits and vegetables. Related to
healthy eating by youth, the CT Schoofl Health
Survey - Youth Behavior Component (2009)
reports that overalt only 21% of CT high school
students consume 5 or more servings of fruits
and vegetables, and male students are more
likely than female students to consume the
recommended amounts (at statistically

significant levels). source:
http.//www.ct.gov/dph/lib/dph/hisr/pdf/cshs 2009 ybcre
port.ndf

Obesity and overweight in children,
adolescents, and adults have reached epidemic
proportions in the U.S. According to CDC, the
prevalence of childhood and adolescent obesity
has more than tripled in the past 30 years. The
percentage of children aged 6-11 years in the
nation who were obese increased from 7% in
1980 to nearly 20% in 2008. Over this same
time period, the percentage of adolescents
aged 12-19 years who were obese increased
from 5% to 18%.

The long-term health conseguences of
childhood and adolescent obesity are serious.
Youth who are obese are more likely to
experience social and psychological problems
due to poor self-esteem. They are more likely to
be overweight adults, and consequently at a
greater risk for developing heart disease,
hypertension, type 2 diabetes, stroke,

osteoarthritis, and certain types of cancer.
Source: CDC, Adolescent and School Health,
http:/fwww.cdc.qov/healthyyouth/obesity/facts.htm.

According to the National Survey of Children’s
Health, in 2007 approximately 95,000
Connecticut children ages 10-17 years (25.7%)
were considered overweight or obese according
to Body Mass Index (BMI) for age standards.
Hispanic/Latino (40.4%) and Black/African
American (38.1%]) children in Connecticut are
almost two times more likely than White
children {21.8%) to be overweight or obese.

Healthy Connecticut 2010 reports racial and
ethnic disparities in overweight and obesity in
adolescents and adults, as shown in Figures 15
and 16. In high school students, obesity is more

prevalent in males and in Hispanic students
followed by Black non-Hispanic students. In
adults, obesity is more prevalent in these same
groups, with rapid rise in obesity in Hispanic
adults from 2007-2009.
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Based on 2007-2010 BRFSS data, 23% of adults
in the county are obese. Obesity is also more
common in adults with lower educational and
income levels. Litchfield County ranked third
highest among CT counties in the age-adjusted
rate of obesity in adults.
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The Burden of Chronic Disease

According to the Centers for Disease Control
and Prevention (CDC), 7 out of 10 deaths among
Americans each year are the result of chronic
diseases, and almost 1 out of every 2 adults has
at least one chronic iilness. Chronic diseases
are also estimated to be responsible for 75% of
health care costs in the U.S.

The burden of chronic disease is not shared
equally among population subgroups in our
nation, state or county — significant disparities
exist. Healthy People 2020 defines a health
disparity as “a particular type of health
difference that is closely linked with social,
economic, and/or environmental disadvantage.
Health disparities adversely affect groups of
people who have systematically experienced
greater obstacles to health based on their racial
or ethnic group; religion; sociceconomic status;
gender; age; mental health; cognitive, sensory,
or physical disability; sexual orientation or
gender identity; geographic location; or other
characteristics historically linked to
discrimination or exclusion.” Powerful, complex
refationships exist between health and biology,
genetics, and individual behavior, and between
health and health services, socioeconomic
status, the physical environment,
discrimination, racism, literacy levels, and
legislative policies. These factors, which
influence an individual’s or population’s health,
are known as determinants of health.

The burden of chronic disease in county
residents is assessed in several ways —through
examination of disease surveillance data, health
care utilization data (such as emergency
department visit and hospitalization rates by
type of diagnosis), and mortality data.

The most prevalent category of chronic diseases
in the U.S. is cardiovascular diseases {CVD).
Major cardiovascular diseases include coronary
heart disease {CHD), cerebrovascular disease
(stroke}, and heart failure. CVD is the leading
cause of death in Connecticut, accounting for
about one-third of all resident deaths. More
than half {55%) of these deaths are among

females. Risk factors for CVD may be
modifiable or non-modifiable. Modifiable risk
factors include high blood pressure, high blood
cholesterol, smoking, diabetes, obesity, and
physical inactivity. Non-modifiable risk factors
include increasing age and family history of
heart disease and stroke. The age-adjusted
mortality rates for CVD have declined
significantly for CT residents over the past
decade. However, there are considerable
disparities in mortality rates from CVD, with
Black or African American residents having the
highest rates. Source: CTDPH, the Burden of
Cardiovascular Disease in Connecticut, 2010 Surveillance
Report, http://www.ct.gov/dph/iib/dph/
hisr/pdf/2010cvd_burdendoc_final.pdf.

High blood pressure and elevated cholesterol
levels are both major risk factors for CVD. Data
from the 2007-2010 BRFSS show that more than
one in four (27%) CT adults have been told they
have high blood pressure by a health
professional. High blood pressure is more
common in males, Black non-Hispanic adults,
persons ages 65 and over, and In persons with
lower education and income levels. Based on
age-adjusted rates, Litchfield County ranks third
lowest among CT counties in the prevalence of
high blood pressure in adult residents {23.4%)]).

Data from the 2007-2010 BRFSS show that the
majority of CT and county adults (22%) had
their cholesterol checked in the past 5 years.
BRFSS data from 2007-2009 indicate that adults
most likely to have their cholesterol checked
were female, white non-Hispanic, ages 65 and
over, (95% vs. 40% in persons ages 18-24), and
adults with higher education and income levels.
Adults most frequently reporting they had
never had their cholesterol checked were
Hispanic or Latino (31%}, and persons with less
than a high school education and annual
incomes below $25,000. Based on age-adjusted
rates, Litchfield County ranked second to last in
the percentage of adults who reported never
having their cholesterol checked {20.8%).

Data on the prevalence of elevated cholesterol
in adults compiled from the 2007-2009 BRFSS
show that 37.8% of CT adulis have been told by
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a health professional that their blood
cholesterol is high. High blood cholesterof is
more common in males, White non-Hispanic
residents, persons ages 65 and over, and
persons with less education and income. Based
on age-adjusted rates, Litchfield County
residents have the lowest prevalence of high
cholesterol among CT counties {29.3%).

The second most frequent type of chronic

. disease in CT is malignant neoplasms or cancer.
The incidence rate of new cancer cases and
mortality rates have been steadily decreasing.
This is the result of increased primary
prevention efforts, earlier detection and

improved treatment options. Source; CTDPH,
Connecticut Cornprehensive Cancer Control Program,
Connecticut Cancer Plan 2009-2013,
http:/fwww.ct.gov/dph/lib/dph/
comp_cancer/pdf_files/ctcancerplan_2008_2013_cdversio

r.pdf. In 2008, the age-adjusted cancer

incidence rate in Connecticut was estimated at
499.8 per 100,000 people, a decrease from the
2007 rate of 502.5 per 100,000 people. Source:

http.//statecancerprofiles. cancer.gov.

in Connecticut (2007-2009 BRFSS data), an
estimated 6.9% or approximately 186,000
adults aged 18 and older reported being
diagnosed with diabetes. An additional 93,000
adults are estimated to have undiagnosed
diabetes. The prevalence of type 2 diabetes in
CT and in the nation has increased significantly.
Type 2 diabetes typically develops later in life
and is strongly associated with overweight and

obesity. Source: CTDPH, The Burden of Diabetes in
Connecticut, 2010 Surveillance Report, hitp://ct.gov/dph/
{ib/dph/hisr/pdf/2010diabetesburden_final pdf.

As reported in the 2007-2009 BRFSS, diabetes is
twice as prevalent in Black non-Hispanic adults
as in White non-Hispanic adults, and prevalence
increases with age. Diabetes alsc occurs most
frequently in adults with less education and
lower incomes, who also experience
disproportionately higher rates of obesity. The
age-adjusted prevalence of diabetes in county
adults ranks fifth among CT counties (6.7%).

Utilization of health care services, including
emergency department {ED) visit and
hospitalization rates are important measures of
the burden of chronic disease. Frequent use of
ED services for primary care conditions also
indicates that a community may have an
insufficient quantity of primary care providers
or health providers serving the uninsured.

Table 12 depicts ED visit rates for CT and for
Litchfield County. These rates represent ED
visits by residents to any hospital within CT
{visits to hospitals outside CT are excluded).
Overall, ED visit rates for county residents are
comparable to those for CT residents, however
there are notable differences by race/ethnicity
and diagnostic group. The ED visit rates for
White and Black-non Hispanic residents are well
abhove the state average, and those for
Hispanics fall well below the state average.
Lower ED visit rates for Hispanic residents may
be explained in part due to underreporting of
this ethnicity on ED intake records.

By diagnostic group, county residents overall
had similar ED visit rates for cancer {all sites and
lung/bronchus) and for liver disease, including
cirrhosis. County residents had higher ED visit
rates for major CVD, coronary heart disease,
acute myocardial infarction (M1}, congestive
heart failure, and stroke. Black non-Hispanics
had disproportionately high rates for diabetes,
aicohol & drug abuse, major CVD, and
congestive heart failure. County residents
overall had lower ED visit rates for diabetes,
drug and alcohoi abuse, chronic obstructive
lung disease and asthma, however again the
rate for Black non-Hispanics was well above the
state and county average. ED visits for most
chronic conditions increased with advancing
age, with the exception of asthma which is
highest in children four years of age and under.
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Hispanic

“Diagnostic ‘Black

Group* N/H

Cancer,

‘Alcohol &

0773 | Drug Abuse

Alcohof & 775.9 4208 1,140.1 560.0 10182 1 7328 489.3 966.2 709.8 961.0 308.5
Drug ABUSe e e . . D

37.1 23.3 53.0 29.6 9.7 405 | CHD 68.9 439 96.3 63.8 63.6 a

CoPD 984.2 1,085.2 877.1 549.1 1,602.5 2,094.0 | COPD 786.1 865.6 69L1 7515 2,068.3 613.0

Cirhasis 5.2 2.7 7.8 35 40 127 | Girhosis 5.3 2.4 8.1 5.3 - -
Notes: CVD = Cardiovascular Disease; CHD= Coronary Heart Disease; Mi = Myocardial inforction (Heart Attack); CHF = Congestive Heart Failure; COPD = Chronic
Obstructive Pulmonary Disease; LD =Liver Disegse. a= data suppressed due to confidentiality. A dash (-} represents the number zere. Source: Connecticut Departinent of

Fublic Health. 2012. Connecticut Hospital information Management Exchange (CHIME} Emergency Department Dato Set, 2005-2009.

Table 13 shows hospitalization rates for the state and county for the same diagnostic categories. County rates are below
the state rates for the majority of diagnostic categories, including all diagnostic groups, cancer (all sites and
lung/bronchus), diabetes, major CVD, CHD, acute MI, CHF, stroke, COPD, asthma, and liver disease and cirrhosis.

Table 13 - State and County Age-Adjusted Hospitalization Rates per 100,000 Residents by Gender and Race/Ethnicity, 2005-2009
3 ‘Connecticy CooB 0 ikchfield:County il :

Diagnostic Total Female Male White Black Hispanic Diagnostic Total Female Male White Black Hisparic
NiH NH Latino Group N/H NIH Latino

3021 ;?:ftig 351.0 3295 88.3 346.4 292.1 115.9

Cancer,
_all sites

‘Bronchus

:Alcohol & Alcohol &
Dr}_'g Abuse 3 Drug Abuse 165.5 57.8 235.7 1733 2333 37.0 .

Major GYD

CHF

1" Stroke

COPD

| Asthma

LD & Cirrhosis 27.4 18.1 376 24.2 28.5 633 LP & . 21.1 14.3 283 217 a 17.0
Cirrhosis

Source: Connecticut Department af Public Heaith. 2012. Connecticut Hospital Information Management Exchange (CRIME} Hospital Discharge Data Set, 2005-2009.
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The rates provided in Table 13 represent
admissions to any CT hospital. Hospitalization
rates for county residents are higher than state
rates for oral cavity/pharynx cancers and for
alcohol and drug abuse. Within county
hospitalization rates are higher for males for
most diagnoses, and for Black non-Hispanic
residents than other racial/ethnic groups. The
low hospitalization rates for Hispanic county
residents may in part reflect underreporting of
Hispanic ethnicity on hospital records. As
expected, hospitalization rates for chronic
diseases generally rise with advancing age and
are highest in persons ages 65 and over. The
notable exception is again asthma, with the
highest rates in children ages birth to four.

Mortality and Leading Causes of Death

Mortality data is highly useful in providing
insight about priority health issues in a
community by identifying the underlying causes

of disease and monitoring changes in the
leading causes of death over time. The leading
causes of death in the county, state, and nation
are closely linked to personal health behaviors,
environmental and social factors, and the
availability, accessibility, and utilization of
guality preventive, primary, and specialty health
care services.

Figure 17 presents the leading causes of death
in the United States and Connecticut for 2008,
based on crude rates. Although the 10 causes
of death are not in the same exact rank order,
the underlying causes remain chronic
conditions which are related to hehavioral risk
factors. This is especially true of physical
activity; healthy eating; aveiding tebacco use,
alcohol abuse, and drugs; managing stress; and
other preventive lifestyle behaviors.

Heart Disease

Cancer

Chronic Lower Respiratory Diseases
Stroke

Unintential Injuries

Alzheimer's Disease

Influenza and Pneumonia

Diabetes

Kidney Disease

Septicemia

Figure 17: Leading Causes of Death in Connecticut and the U.S., 2008

202.9

# Cénnecticut

# United States

60
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Crude Mortality Rate per 100,000 population

Source: Centers for Disease Controf and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics http.//www.cdc. gov/nchs/data/dvs/LCWKS 2008, pdf.
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It is noteworthy that there are differences in
the rank order of the leading causes of death in
CT by gender and race/ethnicity. For example,
in 2009 the leading cause of death for males of
all races/ethnicities was cancer and for females
it was heart disease. For both White males and
females, the leading cause of death was heart
disease, followed by cancer. For Black or
African American and Hispanic or Latino
residents, the leading cause of death was
cancer for both genders, foliowed by heart
disease. Source: National Center for Injury
Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Controf
and Prevention, WISQARS Leading Causes of Death
Reports, 1999-2009, http.//ebappa.cde.aov/cai-
bin/broker.exe.

Figure 17 reflects crude mortality rates, which
have not been age-adjusted. Crude mortality
rates are useful in assessing the magnitude of
the absolute number of deaths in a population,
however they do not account for differences in
rates that are attributable to differences in the
age composition of the resident population.

Municipalities in Litchfield County with a higher
proportion of older residents, such as Salisbury,
would be expected to have higher crude
mortality rates from chronic diseases, as the
incidence and prevalence of these diseases
increase with age. Age-adjusted mortality rates
{AAMR) correct for differences in age
distribution of communities, and therefore give
a more accurate representation of excess
disease mortality.

Significant disparities in health status, inciuding
mortality rates from the leading causes of death
and premature death, measured as Years of
Potential Life Lost {YPLL) exist in the U.S,, CT,
and the county. A major goal of Healthy People
2020 is to achieve health equity, eliminate
disparities, and improve the heatth of all
population groups.

AAMR and YPLL data for Litchfield Courty for
the five year period 2005-2009, with state and
county comparisons, foliow in Tables 14 and 15.

Table 14 - State and County Age-Adjusted Mortality Rates per 100,000 Residents by Gender and Race/Ethnicity, 2005-2009

Connecticut
Mg e

WMajor CVD
b

345 389 319 350 244
Nephiitis, nephrotic

syndrome, 13.3 17.8 10.7 123 269
nephrosis

“CLRD 403 459 378 410 376 11.2

Litchfield County

Nephrifis, nephrofic
syndrome, 12.4 158 10.5 12.6 227 0.0
nephrosis

Source: Connecticut Deportment of Public Health. 2012. Vital Records Mortality Files, 2005-2003.
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Age-adjusted all-cause mortaiity rates for the
county and state are comparable, including
rates for males and females. County all-cause
mortality rates for White non-Hispanics {both
genders) are higher, and rates for Black non-
Hispanics and Hispanics are considerably lower
than the state rates.

County rates are lower than state rates for
many causes of death including malignant
neoplasms (cancer), diabetes mellitus,
Alzheimer’s disease and kidney diseases, and
comparable to the state for chronic liver disease
and cirrhosis. County mortality rates are above
the state for major CVD, pneumonia and
influenza, chronic lower respiratory disease
(CLRD}, accidents, and alcohol and drug-induced
deaths.

Within county AAMR comparisons by gender
and race/ethnicity indicate higher mortality

rates for males for all causes of death, and for
White non-Hispanics (both genders) for all
causes, malignant neoplasms, major CVD,
pneumonia & influenza, chronic lower
respiratory disease, accidents, and alcoho! and
drug-induced deaths. These same trends are
evident statewide. Within the county, Black
non-Hispanic residents have higher mortality
rates from diabetes, Alzheimer’s disease and
kidney disease. Hispanic or Latino residents
have higher mortality rates from diabetes.

Table 15 represents the years of potential life
lost to age 75, or premature death, based on
the leading causes of death in the state and
county. By cause of death, the largest impact in
the state and county is manifested by malignant
neoplasms, followed by accidents, major CVD,
and drug-induced deaths. Males and Hispanic
or Latino residents have the highest rate of
premature death in the county overall.

Table 15 - State and County Age-Adjusted Years of Potential Life Lost to Age 75,
Rates per 100,000 Residents by Gender and Race/Ethnicity, 2005-2009

Connecticut
Female

Mg

Neaplasfis:
Diabstes

Mellitus

103.9

nephrotic
syndrome,
nephrosis

53.7 66.4 41.9 38.5 170.0

94.9

Litchfield County
Fo .

102.2 67.3 97.8 4.4

1,208.0

nephrotic
syndrome,

43.4 65.5 31.9 452 84.2 0.0
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Examination of mortality data over time and by
municipality offers additional insight as to
improvements in health status and emerging
health issues. Reliable AAMR data is, however,
unavailable for most towns in the county due to
their small population size, and the
corresponding low numbers of deaths, which
causes the rates to be very unstable.

Five-year average AAMR data for 2000-2004
and 2005-2009 for the 5 most populated
municipalities in Litchfield County, the ‘rest of
county’ {excluding these municipalities) and the
county and state as a whole for the 10 leading
causes of death (with the addition of trachea,
bronchus & lung cancer) are provided in Tables

16a and 16h. In order to permit rate
comparisons across municipalities with the
county and state, Census 2000 was used as the
reference population base in calculating the
state and county rates, to be cansistent with
the methodology used for municipai rates. This
artificially inflates the rates for 2005-2009, as
the Census 2000 population base is less than
the 2005-2009 ACS population base used to
calculate the state and county AAMR rates
found in Table 14. Even with these limitations,
review of this data does provide some useful
comparisons across geographic areas within the
county, and trends over time.

Torrington

New Milford 201
Plymouth -
Watertown 14.2
Winchester 224
Rest of

County 118
Litchfield

County ia.1
Connecticut 13.7

Torrington

New Milford 20.8
Plymouth -
Wateriown 241
Winchester -
Rest of

County 14.1
Litchfield

County : 5 149
Connecticut | 745.4°{ 1849 |S1814 47.6 36.8 3 18.8 18.0 501 151

those published on the CTDPH website.

Source: Connecticut Department of Public Health, 2012 Age-Adjusted Morfality Rafes, 2005-2009. Nofe: To permit comparisons at the municipal
and rest of county’ level, all rates were age-adjusied fo Census 2000 population, to be consistent with the reference population used to calculate
townt AAMR rates, Use of the Census 2000 reference popufation inflates the CT mortality rates for 2005-2009 above those shown in Table 14 and
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In reviewing municipal level data for 2000-2004
and 2005-2009, all-cause AAMR rates for the
‘rest of county’, which consists of more rural
towns, are lower than those for the countiy as a
whole and with one exception for the 5 most
populated municipalities as well. Forthe
county overall, a favorable decline in AAMR is
evident from 2000-2004 to 2005-20089 for
diseases of the heart, cancer (all sites and
trachea, bronchus & lung), stroke, CLRD, and
influenza and pneumonia.

Among county municipalities, both Torrington
and Winchester show a decline in all-cause
AAMR, and most of the five most populated
municipalities show a reduction in AAMR for
diseases of the heart, stroke, and influenza &
pneumaonia in 2005-2009 when compared with
2000-2004. It should be noted that additional
AAMR reductions may have occurred but are
masked by the rate calculation methodology
used.

Stroke AAMR
£82005-2009 & 2000-2004

Connecticut

Litchfield County

Rest of County

Winchester

Watertown

Plymouth

New Milford

Torrington

Influenza & Pneumonia AAMR
#12005-2009 & 2000-2004

Connecticut

litchfield
County

Rest of County

Winchester

Wateriown

Plymouth

New Milford

Torrington
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Healthy People 2020 Leading Health Indicators

Healthy People 2020 includes 26 Leading Health
Indicators (LHis) which will be tracked,
measured, and reported regularly throughout
the next decade at the national and state level.
Baseline data and targets related to the
Community Transformation Strategic Directions
are provided below for future reference.

The most recent available county and/or state
baseline data indicate that the following
Healthy People 2020 LHI targets have been met;
1) persons with a primary care provider, 2}

adult colorectal screening, 3) children exposed
to secondhand smoke (proxy measure), 4}
adults meeting current physical activity
guidelines, 5) adult obesity, 6) adolescent
obesity, 7} high school graduation rates, 8) adult
binge drinking, and 9) adolescents smoking
cigarettes in the past 30 days. Data indicate the
following targets have not yet been achieved: 1)
persons with medical insurance, 2) adolescents
using alcohol or any illicit drugs during the past
30 days, and 3) current adult cigarette smokers.

- Access to Health Services:
Persons with medical insurance {AHS-1.1)

Persons with a usual primary care provider {AHS-3)

. Environmental Quality:
: Children aged 3 to 11 years exposed to secondhand smoke (TU-11.1)

: Social Determinants:
Students who graduate with a regular diploma 4 years after starting 9th grade {AH-5.1)

100.0 g3.2 90.8/91.2°
83.9 76.3: 87.5 (CT) Adults:

47.0 52.2 37.1 (CT) MS students

82.4: 74.9 92.1(CT):

Tobacco:
. Aduits who are current cigarette smokers (TU-1.1}

Adolescents who smoked cigarettes in the past 30 days (T1)-2.2)

12.0 06! 18.0/16.0
160 195  15.3 (CT)H5 Students

2009 CT Youth Behavior and Tobacce Components; 2012 County Health Rankings. MS= Middle School; HS=High School.



Litchfield County

Social Health

Determinants Qutcomes

In spite of the overall favorable health status
in the county, health disparities and inequities
are apparent, as they are in municipalities
throughout CT. As noted in the previous
sections of this report, health-related lifestyle
behaviors, health status and outcomes are ali
strongly influenced by the social conditions
that exist within a given community.

These conditions, alse known as the social
determinants of health, include such factors
as civic involvement, community safety,
ecohomic security, education, employment,
environmental quality, and housing. The
Health Equity Index {Index) is a web-based
assessment tool developed by the
Connecticut Association of Directors of
Health (CADH) that can be used to identify
the social, economic, political, and
environmental conditions within a
community that are most strongly associated
{or correlated} with specific health
outcomes. Use of the Index findings
facilitates collaboration among public health,
community and civic leaders and residents to
collectively develop and implement
strategies to improve community-level
policies and practices affecting health.

The Index provides data, scores, correlations
and GIS mapping for all 169 communities in
Connecticut. The scores for each social
determinant and health outcome are
calculated on a 10-point scale (hased on
decile values) with 1 {red) indicating the
least desirable community social conditions
or health outcomes, and 10 (green)
indicating the most desirable. A score of 5 is
the median value for the state.

For Litchfield County, the overall average
social determinant score is 7, well above the
state average. Of the 26 municipalities in the
county, only Plymouth and Winchester score
below the state average. A detailed
narrative of community social conditions was
previously presented in the Population and
Demographics Overview section of this
report, including education, economic
stability, employment, housing, demographic
trends, health insurance coverage, and
community safety. Health cutcome scores
within the county vary widely, however the
county average for all health outcome
indicators is 5, equivalent to the state
median.

For this report, the Health Equity [ndex was
used to provide additional insight on the
health outcomes most closely related to the
five CTG health-related strategic directions:
tobacco free living; active living & healthy
eating; guality, high impact clinical and other
preventive services; social & emotional
wellness; and healthy & safe physical
environments. The Index health outcomes
include: Accidents & Violence, Cancer,
Cardiovascular Disease, Diabetes, Health
Care Access, Life Expectancy, Liver Disease,
Mental Hezalth, Renal Disease, and
Respiratory IlIness.
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Accidents and Violence

. .
The composite Index health outcome score for
Accidents and Violence in a community include
statistical data on: Age-Adjusted Mortality
Rates (AAMR) and Years of Potential Life Lost
(YPLL) for intentional and unintentional injuries,
and for homicides and legal interventions.
While most Litchfield County municipalities
score either close to the state average (score of
5) or above, those for Plymouth, Torrington,
and Winchester are lower (score of 3).

The prevalence of injuries and violence in a
community are correlated with a number of
social determinants. While these correlations
do not imply a cause and effect relationship, a
strong correlation indicates an association

Cancer

between a specific health outcome and a
specific social determinant. Spearman’s Rank
Correlation Coefficient (R;) values above 0.3
(either positive or negative} are considered
statistically significant and could warrant
further exploration of contributing factors.

Social Determinants Related to Accidents and
Violence in Litchfield County

nant

Clvic Invoivernent 0.57
Fdleation o e 055
Economic Security 0.53
“Community Safety:: D48
Environmental Quality 0.42
CHousing 090
Empioyment 0.37

Interpretation of Index scores becomes even
more meaningful when Census tracts or block
groups within a specific municipality are
examined. Scores can be compared at the sub-
town level to determine higher risk geographic
areas and population groups.

index Accident & Violence Data Sources: CTDPH, Office of Vital

Records - Death Certificates (2005-2008). Population estimates -
Nielsen Claritas Population Focts Demographic Report for 2007

The overall Index score for cancer is a
composite of the incidence, age-adjusted
mortality (AAMR), and premature death rates
{YPLL) for a number of types of cancer,
including: cervical, uterine, or ovarian;
colorectal; female breast; lung; non-Hodgkins
Lymphoma, pancreatic; prostate and skin

cancer. Index scores within the county vary by
community, however all fall within the average
range of 4-7. According to the National Cancer
Institute, personal lifestyle behaviors that
contribute to cancer risk include: tobacco use
and exposure to secondhand smoke, exposure
to UV radiation, excessive alcohol use, risky
sexual practices, poor diet, lack of physical
activity, and overweight/obesity. The Litchfield
County Community Transformation Coalition
goals of tobacco-free living, active living and
healthy eating, and quality clinical and other
preventive services aim to reduce risk for
prevalent chronic diseases, such as cancer and
cardiovascular disease,

Index Cancer Data Sources: CTDPH, Office of Vital Records - Death

Certificates {2005-2008) and Nielsen Clarites Population Facts
Demographic Report for 2007.
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Cardiovascular Disease

Plymouth and Colebrook score lower than the
state as a whole for this health outcome (town
scores of 2 and 3 respectively vs. state score of
5). The rates of cardiovascular disease in county
municipalities are correlated with a number of
social determinants, with education and
economic security being the strongest.

Social Determinants Related to Cardiovascular

Disease in Litchfield County

Index scores for cardiovascular disease are Civh;_:i.r‘lvolvement
calculated using mortality (AAMR) and EnvironmentalQuality
premature death rates (YPLL). Of the Community Safety ]'
communities in Litchfield County, only

Index Cardiovascular Disease Data Sources: CTDPH Office of Vital
Records - Death Certificates (2005-2008} and Nielsen Claritas
Population Facts Demographic Report for 2007

Diabetes

Social Determinants Related to Diabetes in
Litchfield County

Education

CECONOMIC SECUrty

Community Safety
Ervronmant Gt

Index Diubetes Data Sources: CTDRPH Office of Vital Records -
Death Certificates (2005-2008) and Nielsen Claritas Populfation
Facts Demographic Report for 2007.

The Diabetes Index score for each municipality
represents the age-adjusted mortality and
premature death rates for the disease.
Bridgewater has the least favorable health
outcome score in the county at 2, with
Colebrook, Roxbury, Winchester and Torrington
all having scores that are less desirable than the
state. Diabetes is correlated to a number of
community conditions, with education levels
having the strongest correlation.
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Health Care Access

Indicators of health care access in the Index
include; the number of emergency denartment
visits without insurance, the number of
emergency department visits for primary

Life Expectancy

care services, and the number of births that
have had delayed or non-adequate prenatal
care. The vast majority of Litchfield County
municipalities score favorably in this category,
exceeding the state average. The town with the
lowest Index score for health care access is
Norfolk, at 4. A number of community
conditions strongly correlate to a lack of health
care access in the county.

Social Determinants Related to Health Care Access
in Litchfield County
Deteérminan ’

Index Health Care Access Data Source: Connecticut Hospital
Association, CHIME Hospital Discharge Dato, FY 2005-2010.

For most of Litchfield County, life expectancy is
greater than or equal to the state average. The
community with the lowest life expectancy
score in the county is Plymouth, followed by
Torrington, Thomaston, and Winchester.

The highest life expectancy scores are found in
Bridgewater, Cornwall, Norfolk, and Warren.

Life expectancy is correlated to all 7 of the
social determinants included in the Index, with
education and economic security having the
strongest associations.

Social Determinants Related to Life Expectancy in
Litchfield County

Education 0.64

Ftonomic Security -

Civic Involvement

“Commupity:Safety

Employment

“Environmental Quality e T

Housing 0.3%

index Life Expectancy Data Sources: CTDPH Office of Vitel Records
- Degth Certificotes (2005-2008) and Wielsen Claritos Population
Focts Demographic Report for 2007,
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Liver Disease

Mental Health

Low Index scores due to AAMR and premature
deaths from chronic liver disease and cirrhosis
are concerns for a number of communities in
Litchfield County, with Salisbury having the
least favorable Index score of any municipality
in the area at 2. Social determinants associated
with liver disease include those listed below:

Social Determinants Related to Liver Disease in
Litchfield County

Civic Involvement
Environmental Quality.
Community Safety

Index Liver Disease Data Sources: CTOPH Gffice of Vital Records -
Death Certificates (2005-2008) and Nielsen Claritas Population
Facts Demographic Report for 2007.

Mental health scores are determined by the
emergency department visit and hospitalization
rates for mental iliness as well as alcohol and
drug induced deaths. In Litchfield County, both
Torrington and Winchester score below the
state average for mental health (score of 2 vs.
state average of 5). Both community safety and
econormic security are strongly associated with
mental health, however numerous other
community social conditions also play a role.

Social Determinants Refated to Mental Health in
Litchfield County

Community Safety 0.55
Econanic Secu : 49,
Environmental Quality

‘Givic Involvement,
Education

index Mental Health Data Sources: Connecticut Hospital
Assaciation, CHIME Haspital Discharge Data, FY2005-2010.
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Renal Disease

Scores for renal disease are calculated from the
mortality and premature death rates for
nephritis, nephrotic syndrome, and nephrosis.
index health outcome scores for renal disease
in Litchfield County are least favorable in
Bridgewater, Plymouth and Torrington. Renal
disease is most strongly associated with
community safety and environmental quality.

Respiratory lllness

Social Determinants Relaied to Renal Disease in
Litchfield County

Community Safety
“Envirordental Quality:
Education
Housing
Civic Involvemen
“Economic Secarity o

Index Renal Disease Dota Sources: CTDPH Office of Vite! Records -
Death Certificates (2005-2008) and Nielsen Claritas Population
Facts Demographic Report for 2007.

Index scores for death rates and YPLL from
chronic lower respiratory disease are slightly
below the state average for a large portion of
Litchfield County, with the lowest score (2)
being found in Goshen, and the highest score
found in Warren (8). The community conditions
that more strongly correlate with respiratory
iliness are economic security and education.

Sacial Determinants Related to Respiratory lliness
in Litchfield County

Economic Security

SEd)

Civic Involvement 0.31

index Respiratory Hiness Dota Sources: CTDPH Office of Vital
Records - Death Certificates (2005-2008) and Nielsen Claritas
Population Facts Demographic Report for 2007.
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As previously noted, Connecticut lacks a county
governance structure, therefore health-related
programs and services are provided at the
municipal, regional, or state level. This includes
a diversity of pubiic health programs and
services provided by health departments and
districts serving Litchfield County (districts serve
two or more municipalities). The majority of
the county’'s communities are served by the
Torrington Area Health District, including
Bethlehem, Canaan, Cornwall, Goshen,
Harwinton, Kent, Litchfield, Morris, Norfolk,
North Canaan, Plymouth, Salisbury, Thomaston,
Torrington, Warren, Watertown, and
Winchester. Within the county, the Pomperaug
Health District serves Woodbury; the
Farmington Valley Health District serves
Barkhamsted, Colebrook, and New Hartford;
and the Newtown Health District serves
Bridgewater and Roxbury. The New Milford
Health Department serves the town of New
Milford. Two part-time health departments are
located in Sharon and Washington.

Local health departments and districts provide
essential public health services at the municipal
level throughout Connecticut. These
governmental entities are separate from the CT
Department of Public Health (CTDPH), however
they are linked by state statute in several
important ways: approval of appointments of
local directors of health by the Commissioner of
Public Health; mandates to carry out critical
public health functions in the areas of infectious
disease control, environmental health, etc.;
legal authority to levy fines and penalties for
public heaith code violations and to grant and
rescind license permits {such as for food
services establishments or septic systems); as
well as funding for prevention and education
programs and services to promote and improve
the health of residents in their communities.

Core services provided by all local health
departments and districts serving county
residents {either directly or by contract)
include: immunization services; childhood lead

poisoning prevention and control;
comrnunicable disease prevention and control
{TB , STD, etc¢.); licensing and inspections for
food service establishments and vendors; public
health emergency planning including mass
dispensing/vaccination; enforcement of public
health codes and regulations, inciuding
inspections for compliance with health
standards; and health information, education,
and screening services. '

There is a wide variety of additional health-
related programs and services provided by
other agencies and organizations within the
county. As previously mentioned, United Way
of CT Infoline 2-1-1 maintains an online
searchable community resource database of
health and human service providers, agencies,
and organizations. This database contains
information for over 4,600 health and human
service providers and 48,000 service sites in CT.
Infoline 2-1-1 is the most comprehensive
database available and is updated regularty. The
system is, however, dependent on service
providers supplying comprehensive and up-te-
date information. As part of the Litchfieid
County CTG Coalition assessment activities, the
Steering Committee collaborated with United
Way Infoline’s 2-1-1 research and evaluation
team to design a framework for asset mapping
aligned with the 5 CTG Strategic Directions:

= TJobacco Free Living

= Active Living and Healthy Eating

= High Impact Quality Clinical and Other

Preventive Services
® Social & Emotional Wellness
= Healthy & Safe Physical Environment

Infoline produced an electronic database of
programs and services aligned with each
strategic direction, and an accompanying series
of GIS maps which integrate information on
population density and transportation services.
In addition, analysis of the most frequent calls
by municipality related to unmet needs and top
service requests by jurisdiction was conducted.
Highlights by Strategic Direction follow:

43[Page.



Tobacco Free Living

Tobacco Free Living programs and services
listed with Infoline 2-1-1 are limited to three
tobacco cessation programs in the county. The
attached GiS asset maps include the service
locations, which are concentrated in the
northern part of the county. Although these
services are available to residents countywide,
personal transportation is required, and two of
the three charge fees. Tobacco cessation
services are provided at Charlotte Hungerford
and Sharon Hospitals and at an addiction
treatment center. In addition, there are school-
based tobacco prevention efforts underway at
selected schools in Torrington and Winchester
as an outgrowth of the Healthy & Tobacco Free
Schools grant initiative previously funded by
CTDPH. School nurses and health/PE teachers
in each district have been trained as cessation
counselors, and the libraries/media resource
centers have tobacco prevention resource
centers for students.

Phone and online resources for smoking
cessation are also available to county residents
through the CT Quittine {1-800-QUIT-NOW), the
American Lung Association in CT

Active Living and Healthy Eating

http://www.lung org/stop-smoking/, and American

Cancer Society
http://www.cancer.org/Healthy/StavAwavfromTobacco/in
dex.

Regarding tobacco use prevention, on a
countywide level, tobacco free public and
private school campuses are required pursuant
to CGS Sec. 1%9a-342. In addition, The Child
Nutrition and WIC Reauthorization Act of 2004
and Public Law 108-265 Section 204 - Local i
Wellness Policy mandate schools establish a |
school wellness committee and policies focused
on a comprehensive approach to school health,
which include tobacco free living.

Furthermore, in accordance with Indoor Clean
Air Act provisions, CT statutes also prohibit
tobacco use in all municipal facilities, health
care facilities, child care centers, group day care
facilities, public coliege dormitories, theaters,
buses and trains, restaurants and bars, and
businesses employing 5 or more employees.
Additional information on policies relating to all
five Strategic Directions, including tobacco free
living, will be included in the Policy Scan section
of this report once completed.

Active Living and Healthy Eating programs and
services included in the Infoline 2-1-1 database
include obesity prevention programs and
services, nutrition education programs for all
ages, exercise and fitness programs, and eating
disorder programs. As noted in the
accompanying GIS asset maps (see Appendix A),
service providers are primarily municipal parks
and recreation departments, YMCAS, nature
centers, municipal community centers and
Police Athletic Leagues, hospital-sponsored
community health promotion programs, private
non-profit eating disorder treatment programs
and recreation programs for persons with
disabilities. Services span the county, and many
are town-based. Additional resources for
physical activity not noted on the maps are
school district recreational facilities, often open
for public use when not in use for school sports

events. Joint use agreements, which promote
use of existing school facilities such as outdoor
tracks and playing fields, tennis courts, and
indoor gymnasiums by community residents of
all ages, are discussed in the Policy Scan section
of this report.

As previously noted, there are abundant
opportunities for outdoor physical activities in
the county’s seven state parks, five state
forests, and one state recreation area. There
are countless apportunities for year round
outdoor recreation through greenways, walking
and biking trails, and conservation areas.
However, access to many of these resources is
limited to residents with private transportation.

Importantly, local health departments and
districts, hospitals, community health centers,
voluntary health agencies, and visiting nurse
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associations actively participate in health
outreach and education events and provide
information and guidance related to obesity
prevention, healthy eating and physical activity
at sites throughout the county. Fit Togetheris
a multi-sector community-driven healthy eating

and active lifestyles intitiative in Torrington and
Winchester focused on health improvement in
5 target groups: pre-school children, school age
children, workplaces, older adults, and the
community-at-large. This initiative is further
described in the CTG Coaliticn Overview and
Activity section of this report.

High Impact Quality Clinical and Other Preventive Services

Quaality clinical and other preventive services
included in the Infoline 2-1-1 database include
screening and detection services, as weil as
diagnostic, treatment and rehabilitation
services for prevalent chronic diseases (private
provider listings are not included). Health
screening and chronic disease detection
services are provided primarily by the 3 acute
care hospitals in the county, 7 public health
departments/districts described previously, 8
visiting nurse associations/services (Farmington
Valley VNA, Foothills Visiting Nurse &
Homecare, VNS of CT, VNA of Northwest CT,
New Milford VNA, Salisbury VNA, VNA Health at
Home, and Western CT Home Care), and one
community health center (Community Health &

Social & Emotional Wellness

Wellness Center of Greater Torrington). Oral
health preventive services are provided by the
Community Health & Wellness Center and the
Brooker Memorial Children’s Dental Centers.
The most frequently listed screening and
detection services include cancer screenings
{mammography, cervical, colorectal cancer
screening, etc.}, and HIV testing. Chronic
disease outpatient services most closely related
to the strategic directions include those for
cardiac, stroke, and pulmonary diseases. The
accompanying asset map shows the service
sites by type of chronic disease, and by type of
service. Of note is the concentration of clinical
and preventive services in New Milford,
Torrington, and Sharon, the sites of the three
acute care hospitals in the county.

Programs and services related to this Strategic
Direction include Infoline 2-1-1 database listings
for mental health and substance
abuse/addiction prevention, screening,
counseling and treatment; youth
enrichment/leadership programs; family
support services, as well as community support
and support groups targeted to a variety of
needs (youth, religious, GLBT, aging/seniors,
women, families, health-related, persons with
disabilities, and mental-health related). The
most frequently listed types of support services
available within the county include:
Information/Referral Services for Older Adults,
Child Abuse Prevention and Counseling,
Latchkey/Home Alone Safety Programs,
Parenting Education/Support, Caregiver
Support, Bereavement Support, and Adoption
and Foster/Kinship Support. Major providers of
services include: Municipal Senior
Centers/Offices for the Aging, Youth Service

Bureaus and Social Service Departments,
Hospitals, Substance Abuse Treatment Facilities,
Family Resource Centers, Resident State
Troopers, Non-profit Agencies, Regional
Educational Service Centers, Visiting Nurse
Associations/Services, and YMCAs. The
accompanying GIS asset maps focus on health
and mental health-related programs and
services. Health-related support groups include
hospitai-based cancer, stroke, and diabetes
programs. Mental health-related support
groups include those for child and
spouse/partner bereavement, child abuse, and
sexual assault; these services are concentrated
in New Milford, Torrington, and Sharon.,
Mapping of Mental Health and Substance
Abuse/Addiction programs and services shows
both a wider geographic availability and
diversity of providers, i.e., hospitals, visiting
nurse and non-profit mental health and
substance abuse agency providers.
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Healthy & Safe Physical Environment

Information related to this Strategic Direction
will be captured in large part in the pending
Policy Scan Section of this report, which will be
informed by data, focus group, and key
informant interview information collected and
analyzed via the CDC CHANGE Tool. This will
include such data as community design features
such as the “complete streets” model that make
streets safe for all users {vehicular traffic, public
transit, biking, and pedestrian for people of all
ages and abilities); presence and use of modes
of transportation that require physical activity
{walking and biking); existing or planned
community development which promotes
healthy and active lifestyles (green beits/trails,
walking/biking paths, locally accessible and safe
parks and recreation areas); joint use
agreements for school recreation and athletic
facilities; reduction in the number of alcohol
and fast food retail outlets; and outreach and
education programs to promote healthy homes,
free of radon, asthma triggers, and lead.

In reviewing the Infoline 2-1-1 database, the
following were determined to be aligned with
this Strategic Direction: availability of food
pantries, soup kitchens, and farmer’'s markets;
home delivered meals; summer food service
programs; disabled, medical, and senior
transportation services; existence of
emergency, supportive, and elder/disabled
housing; and domestic violence victim suppori
services and shelters. Major providers of
services include: municipal senior centers and
social services, regional transportation services,
local public housing authorities, non-profit
community service agencies, youth service
bureaus, school districts, and Regional
Educational Service Centers.

Related to Food-Related Basic Needs, there are
17 food pantries identified in the 2-1-1
database, serving 13 different communities.
Communities without focd pantries in general
were more affluent. It should be noted that
additional smaller faith-based pantries may
exist, but not be captured in the database. In
addition to food pantries, there are two soup
kitchens in Torrington. There are eight
congregate meal/home delivered meal
programs in the county, operated primarily by
municipalities. Summer school meal programs
exist in two high need communities - Torrington
and Winchester. Litchfield County has a
number of local farms; there are 11 farmer’s
markets identified in the database.

tn terms of Transpartation-Related Basic Needs,
disability and medical transportation services
are provided by 14 municipal and non-profit
providers in 12 communities, leaving many
communities in the county inadequately
covered for these services.

The availability of Housing for vulnerable
population groups, including the elderly, the
disabled, and residents in need of emergency or
supportive housing is a growing concern in the
county. GI5S maps demonstrate a lack of parity
in access to these services, with a number of
municipalities having no available resources for
residents located within their borders. The
most common housing service providers include
municipal housing authorities, and non-profit
housing and mental health agencies. There are
four homeless shelters in the county, and two
additional shelters that serve runaway youth.
As previously noted, there are two shelters for
victims of domestic violence in the county,
located in Sharon and Torrington.
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Infoline 2-1-1 Top Requests and Unmet Needs for Services

Although not as closely aligned with the
strategic directions, examination of FY 2012
Infoline 2-1-1 data related to the most frequent
call requests and unmet needs (calls to Infoline
2-1-1 for which no services are listed in the
database) shed additional insight on prevalent

United Way 2-1-1 Top 20 Requests for Services in Litchfield County

community needs, both health-related and
other. It should be noted that the high volume
of disaster service calls stems from the
weather-related emergencies experienced by
county residents in the summer- fall of 2011.

T e

Ut]iitiés/l—[éat 1,763
Disaster Services 1,221
Pubiic Assistance Programs 1,132
Financial Assistance 1,096
Outpatient Mental Health Care 1,085
Housing/Shelter 959
Information Services 899
Substance Abuse Services 666
Legal Services 601
Health Supportive Services 531
Holiday Assistance 449
Foed 431
Individual and Family Support Services 305
Tax Organizations and Services 278
Transportation 267
Employment and Training Programs 262
Personal/Household Goods 205
Community Services 128
Consumer Complaints 120
Social Insurance Programs 105




Examining community-specific requests for
services show that the call volume is not
proportionate to the population size in all cases,
with Canaan, Plymouth, Torrington, and
Winchester showing a higher than “expected”
number of calls, based on the county average.
This may indicate a higher need for services
and/or better awareness of Infoline 2-1-1 as a
resource by residents in these communities.

The most common health-related requests
received by 2-1-1 include outpatient mental
health care, substance abuse services, food
assistance, and health supportive services such

United Way 2-1-1 Unmet Needs Report for Litchfield County — FY12

as insurance information and referrals.
Requests for outpatient mental health care
services ranked first or second in call volume
from residents of Goshen, Harwinton, Morris,
New Milford, Plymouth, Torrington, and
Woodbury.

The most common unmet needs for service
requests by county residents are provided
below; examination by municipality shows over
50% of the unmet need calls originate in
Torrington and Winchester.

Rental Deposit Assistance 102 S8 96% 81 17 0 0
Rent Payment Assistance 207 93 45% 44 49 0 0
Utility Assistance 1,289 88 7% 65 23 0 0
Disaster Food Stamps 254 20 31% 70 10 0 0
Temporary Financial Assistance 547 63 12% 28 35 0 0
Pisaster Claims Information 497 a7 9% 10 37 0 0
Holiday Gifis/Toys 125 35 28% 35 o] 0 0
Christmas Baskets 142 35 25% 33 0 0
Thanksgiving Baskets 136 25 13% 22 3 0 4]
Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers 68 10 15% 10 0 0 0
Food Stamps/SNAP 435 10 2% 0 10 0 0
Specialized Information and Referral 136 9 7% 3 6 0 0
Household Goods 27 8 30% 8 0 0 0
Transportation Expense Assistance 6 & 100% 5 i 0 0
Diapers 21 6 29% 6 0] 0 0
General Assistance/SAGA 33 6 18% 0 6 0 0]
General Clothing Provision 86 6 7% 6 0 0 o
Homeless Shelter 248 4 2% 1} 1 1 4
Fans/Air Conditioners 5 3 60% 3 0 0 0
Food Cooperatives 10 3 30% 2 0 1 0
Total {All requests for services) . 12,490 753 6% e 517 227 4 10
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The Litchfield County CTG Coalition was created
in the fall of 2011 to collaboratively assess and
prioritize health needs in our community and to
collectively develop a community action plan
and mobilize resources to improve the health of
county residents. As the lead and fiduciary
agent for the Litchfield County grant CDC CTG
initiative, Torrington Area Health District
(TAHD) convened leadership from the United
Way of Northwest CT, Northwest CT YMCA,
Charlotte Hungerford Hospital and the local
health departments/districts serving the county
to form the initial Steering Committee. TAHD
subsequently signed a Memorandum of
Understanding with Charlotte Hungerford
Hospital, Northwest CT YMCA, and the United
Way of Northwest CT to leverage one another’s
resources for contracted professional services
from the Center for Healthy Schools and
Communities at EDUCATION CONNECTION to
design and prepare this Community Health
Needs Assessment.

Representatives from these four organizations
became the foundation of the Steering
Committee, which, to date, has expanded to
include representatives from Western CT Health
Care Network, Sharon Hospital, the CT Office of
Rural Health, and EDUCATION CONNECTION, the
Regional Educational Service Center in western
CT. The Coalition membership continues to
evolve over time, with the goal of involvement
by all major community sectors, especially
those serving underrepresented groups in the
county.

The CTG Coalition start-up has benefited greatly
from the prior work of Charlotte Hungerford
Hospital, which led the organization of a core
group of health, social and educational agencies
in the greater Torrington area to inventory
existing and planned community programming
efforts, identify gaps, and leverage knowledge
and resources.

In early 2011, the Northwest CT YMCA received
a grant from Pioneering Healthier Communities
to address policy and system barriers to healthy

living in its service area. Northwest CT YMCA is
one of 118 communities nationwide to receive
such funding.

Recognizing the parallelism of their efforts, the
groups combined to form Fit Together, co-led
by Stephanie Barksdale, Executive Director,
United Way of Northwest Connecticut, and
Greg Brisco, Chief Executive Officer, Northwest
CT YMCA. Also on the Steering Committee of
Fit Together are Leslie Polito, Assistant Director,
TAHD, and Brian Mattiello, Vice President of
Organizational Development, Charlotte
Hungerford Hospital. These same individuals
serve on the CTG Coalition Steering Committee,
fostering coordination and communication in
community assessment, planning,
implementation, and evaluation activities.

The mission of Fit Together is to build the
healthiest kids, famiiies and communities in
Torrington and Winchester through sustainable
strategies that foster healthy eating and active
living. Although concentrated in these two
communities, the CTG Coalition benefits greatly
from the forward-thinking and innovative
approaches undertaken by this existing
coalition. The Fit Together community action
plan is well aligned with CTG objectives and
strategic directions, and centers on policy,
systems, and environmental changes to:

» jncrease opportunities for healthy eating;

»  ncrease opportunities for physical activity
as o part of everyday fife;

= jmprove community coliaboration and
gssessment capacity; and

" mprove community-wide communication to
advance healthy eating and active living.

Key accomplishments to date that advance CTG
Coalition community assessment and action
plan development include:

s Completed health surveys at Torrington &
Winchester Senior Centers;
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¢ {(ollaborated with Torrington School District
to write a comprehensive school wellness
policy;

¢ Completed community-wide, pre-school,
school, afterschool, childcare, and worksite
Community Healthy Living Index {CHLI)
assessments;

= Coordinated a two-day Healthy Community
Design Summit (October 16-17, 2012} in
~ Torrington and Winchester featuring
nationally-acclaimed community planning
expert Mark Fenton. This initiative focused
on creating healthier and more livable and
walkable communities.

In addition, Pomperaug Health District, whose
Health Director Neal Lustig serves on the CTG
Steering Committee, is an ACHIEVE grantee.
Although the specific ACHIEVE community
reached by the Health District is not located
within Litchfield County, (Southbury), the CTG
Coalition benefits greatly from the best
practices and lessons learned from this
initiative, which is well-aligned with the CTG
strategic directions. In addition, ACHIEVE uses
CDC’'s CHANGE Tool for Community Health
improvement Action Planning.

Key ACHIEVE current and planned activities that
advance CTG Coalition and action plan
development include:

®  The creation of Southbury's first-ever
community garden. The Garden group
strategically partnered with a variety of
local organizations, including: Girl and Boy
Scouts; Roots and Shoots; Garden Club;
Master Gardeners Association; and an
existing community garden group in
Southbury's Heritage Village. The Southbury
Community Garden is in full bloom with a
variety of crops, some of which will be
donated weekly to the Southbury Food
Bank.

»  Target projects for year two of the
Southbury ACHIEVE Initiative include;
1) assessing the regional school district’s
school lunch program(s) and making
recommendations for better nutrition;

2) creating a comprehensive map and
facilities guide for the Southbury Parks and
Recreation Department, outlining the vast
rescurces offered to residents, and
encouraging increased exercise; and 3}
addressing Southbury's lack of bike trails,
and explering potential funding sources to
address the need for designated
trails/lanes.

The CTG Coalition Steering Committee meets
maonthly and serves as the Litchfield County CTG
grant management team. Project activities,
accomplishments, and challenges are reviewed
at these meetings for Committee input and
resolution. In addition, mentors from DPH and
other CT CTG Coalitions provide education and
training at these meetings on such topics as
Coalition Building and use of the CHANGE Tool.
Coalition meetings are organized and facilitated
by Sharon McCoy, CTG Project Director.
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Achieving major improvement in the health of
county residents involves reducing the
incidence and prevalence of chronic disease,
which account for 7 of the 10 leading causes of
death. CDC estimates that nearly 50% of

Americans are living with at least one chronic v

disease.
The solution to this challenge is multi-

dimensional, as chronic diseases result from a
number of interconnected factors. Harmful

individual lifestyle behaviors such as smoking, v

overeating, poor nutrition, lack of physical
activity, tobacco use, and substance abuse
greatly increase risk for developing chronic
disease. Lack of health insurance, limited
English proficiency, transportation and cultural

factors present barriers to access and utilization v

of quality preventive health and screening
services which delay or prevent the onset of
disease. Social determinants of health such as
income, employment status, educational

poverty rates than the state average,
however income levels have recently
declined in many communities and
disparities are evident by municipality and
household type.

Most school districts in the county have
recently experienced an increase in
minority student enrollment and in
students eligible for free/reduced price
meals.

The county has become more racially and
ethnically diverse, and the growth in the
Hispanic or Latino population from 2000-
2010 was twice the state rate. Torrington,
New Milford, and Watertown show the
greatest gains in diversity.

Overall community safety data compare
favorably to the state; within the county,
Plymouth, Thomaston, Torringten, and
Winchester have higher crime rates.

attainment, housing, environmental quality, Behavioral and Lifestyle Factors
and community safety strongly impact access to v Rates of obesity and current smoking in
care and health outcomes. county residents exceed the state average.
Developing a community action plan for health v" County residents have more frequent
improvement involves collective action and smoking cessation attempts (with higher
leveraging of expertise and resources across smoking rates}, and are more likely to
agencies and organizations from many different participate in routine dental care, and
sectors. The planning process involves cervical and colon cancer screening.
identification of priority health needs and County residents are fess fikely to
opportunities for action by all stakeholders. To participate in routine eye exams, influenza
assist this process, a summary of key findings vaccination, and PSA screening.
from previous sections of this report follows. v" County rates are similar to the state for:
Demographics social support, activity, fruit & vegetable
Lemographics
intake, prevalence of hypertension {high
¥v" The county has the highest proportion of P .yp .( €
. . ) biood pressure} and diabetes, routine
residents ages 50+ in CT and the median . .
. o ) medical check-ups, cholesterol testing &
age of county residents is rising. This
N T mammography.
carries significant implications for health, i ) '
v'  Disparities in perscnal lifestyle behaviors

housing, and human service planning.

¥ The overall population size of the county
continues to increase at a rate similar to
the state as a whole.

v County residents overall have higher
education and income levels and lower

are apparent across the state. Residents
with lower education and income levels
are less likely to access health screenings
and practice healthy lifestyle choices.
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Overweight and obesity are most common
in Hispanic or Lating, followed by Black or
African American children and adults.

Smoking prevalence in CT adults has

declined 40% over the past 20 years, across

all groups except Black non-Hispanics.
Prevalence is higher in males and persons
with lower education and income levels.

in CT adolescents, smoking has declined
66% among middle school students and
40% among high school students.

Students in nearly half of the school
districts serving the county scored below
the state average in standardized physical
fitness tests.

County residents did not meet national
benchmarks for poor physical and mental
health days, adult smoking, excessive
drinking, and preventable hospital stays.

Burden of Chronic Disease

v

Cardiovascular disease {CVD} accounts for
one-third of CT resident deaths; over 50%
of these are in women. Hypertension and

elevated cholesterol are major risk factors
for CVD.

Nearly one in four county residents has
hypertension. This condition is more
commaon in males, Black non-Hispanic
adults, persons ages 65 and over and those
with lower socioeconomic status (SES).

Nearly 40% of county residents have been
told by a health professional that their
cholesterol is high. Elevated cholesterol is

more common in males, white non-Hispanic

adults, persons ages 65+ and those with

lower SES. Blood pressure screening is Jeast

common in Hispanic/Latinos (nearly one-
third have never been screened), and in
persons with low SES.

Diabetes is twice as prevalent in Black non-
Hispanics than whites, and in persons with
tow SES. Obesity is a major risk factor for
Type Il Diabetes.

Primary Care, ED Visits & Hospitalizations

v

v

The county has a ratio of 1 primary care
physician to every 1,123 residents, which
falls well below both state and national
benchmarks.

Overall, county residents had higher ED visit
rates than the CT average for major CVD,
coronary heart disease, myocardial
infarction (heart attack), congestive heart
failure, and stroke.

County residents had lower £D visit rates
for diabetes, alcohol & drug abuse, chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease, and asthma.

ED visit rates for Black non-Hispanic
residents were well above the state and
county averages across most diagnostic
categories.

Hospitalization rates for county residents
were below the state average for the
majority of diagnostic categories, but above
the state average for oral cavity/pharynx
cancers and for alcohol and drug abuse.

Mortality Data

Age-adjusted all-cause mortality rates for
the county and state are comparable.
County all-cause mortality rates for White
non-Hispanics {(both genders) are higher,
and rates for Black non-Hispanics and
Hispanics are considerably fower than the
state rates.

County AAMRs are lower than state rates
for many causes of death including
malignant neoplasms, diabetes mellitus,
Alzheimer’s disease and kidney diseases.
County mortality rates are above the state
for major CVD, pneumonia and influenza,
CLRD, accidents, and afcohol & drug-
induced deaths.

Mortality rates from diabetes are highest in
Hispanic or Latino residents, and above the
state rate.

The largest contributor to premature death
in the state and county is malignant
neopfasms (cancer}, followed by accidents,
major CVD, and drug-induced deaths.
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v" Males and Hispanic or Latino residents have
the highest rate of premature death in the
county overall,

Health Disparities & Inequities

v"  Compared with the state, municipalities in
the county rank favorably overall for social
determinants of health and are comparable
for health outcomes.

v~ Qverall, municipalities in the county rank
most favorably for health care access and
life expectancy health outcomes.

¥ Health outcomes with more frequent low
scores were diabetes, liver disease, mental
health & respiratory illness.

v" There is a wide variation in health outcome
scores among municipalities. Those most
frequently scoring low for health outcomes
are: Plymouth, Torrington, Colebrook, and
Winchester.

v" The most consistent correlations between
health outcomes and social determinants
are found for: education, economic
security, community safety, and civic
involvement.

Health-Related Programs & Services

¥" Tobacco cessation programs in the county
are extremely limited, and the Infoline 2-1-1
database lists no currently available tobacco
use prevention programs.

v"  Opportunities for physical activity appear to
he available in most communities; however
limited accessibility due to transportation
may be a factor for many residents.

¥ According to Infoline 2-1-1 data, there are
no healthy eating/nutrition education
programs presently available in the county.

v Clinical and preventive health services are
concentrated in the three communities with
acute care hospitals (New Milford,
Torrington & Sharon); access to these
services may be a factor for many residents.

¥" The geographic availability of health
screening services in the county is limited as
is the type.

v Health and mental health-related support
groups are again concentrated in the three
communities with acute care hospitals.

v" The availability of mass transportation
services in general, as well as medical
transportation services and services for
disabled perscns is limited in many
communities.

v" Housing for vulnerable population groups,
including the elderly, disabled, and
residents in need of emergency or
supportive housing is limited and non-
existent in many communities.

In spite of the favorable heaith status enjoyed
by most Litchfield County residents, health
disparities exist and are concentrated in the
uninsured and low income population groups.
Families and individuals whao live in poverty or
are uninsured are more likely to have poor
health status. Poverty underlies many of the
social factors that contribute to poor health.
Differences for many health status indicators
are also apparent by gender, race/ethnicity,
age, and place of residence. This information
should be used to determine subgroups in the
community in need of further assessment, as
well as to guide the development of programs
and services to meet identified health needs.

Developing a community action plan for
improving health requires coordinated and
systemic efforts among all stakeholders: health
care providers; state, regional, and local health
and human service agencies; community and
faith-based organizations and groups; policy
makers; schools; businesses and the residents
they serve., All stakeholders need to consider
policy, environmental, and systems changes to
make the healthy choice the easy choice in
their communities. As noted in the 2012
County Health Rankings report, social and
economic factors and the physical environment
are estimated to account for 50% of health
status.
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With this in mind, in Year 2 of the Community
Transformation Grant {October 2012 -
September 2013), the Litchfield County CTG
Steering Committee will coordinate a strategic
health planning process to guide the
development of a Community Health
improvement Plan. This process will include
environmental, systems, and policy scans to
better define priority health needs, and
opportunities for action for health
improvement.

The CDC’s Community Health Assessment aNd
Group Evaluation {CHANGE) tool will be used to
facilitate this process. CHANGE is a data
collection tool and strategic planning resource
which enables local stakeholders and
community team members to survey and
identify community strengths and areas for
improvement regarding current policy, systems,
and environmental change strategies. Five
different community sectors are assessed:
Community-At-targe, Community
Institutions/Organizations, Health Care,
Schools, and Work Sites.

The CHANGE tool assists communities to:

1) define improvement areas to guide the
community toward implementing and
sustaining policy, systems, and environmental
changes around healthy living strategies (e.g.,
increased physical activity, improved nutrition,
reduced tobacco use and exposure, and chronic
disease management); 2) prioritize community
needs and consider appropriate allocation of
available resources; and 3) focus and mobilize
cohesive action in the health priority areas
selected to improve health and reduce health
disparities.

CHANGE will be used to facilitate community
health planning by all five sectors. Findings
from the CHANGE Strategic Planning process
will be appended to this report in CTG Project
Year 2.
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The folowing GIS Asset Maps of Health-Related
Programs & Services located within the county
were compited by the United Way of CT Infoline
2-1-1 Research & Evaluation Unit. Population
density and transportation routes are included
on each map. Each map aligns with a specific
CTG Strategic Direction, and has an
accompanying Rescurce Listing. The Resource
Listings include the types of services provided,
provider agency or organization names, and
addresses. More detailed information on the
programs and services included is available at
www.infoline.org of by calling Infoline at 2-1-1.

Infoline is the most comprehensive online
searchable database of health and human

service providers, agencies, and organizations
available in CT. This database contains
information for over 4,600 health and human
service providers and 48,000 service sites in CT.

It should be noted that private, for-profit
service providers are not included in the
database. In addition, although United Way
Infoline 2-1-1 makes concerted efforts to assure
the database is as complete and up-to-date as
possible, service providers must supply the
required information. Any omissions of
programs or services in the following maps are
unintentional, and may be the result of a
particular provider not being registered with
Infoline.
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Litchfield County, Connecticut
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction One: Tobacco Free Living
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction One: Tobacco Free Living
Map 1 of 13 — Resource Listing

Smoking Addiction Suppert Groups
MOUNTAINSIDE TREATMENT CENTER
187 South Canaan Road, Route 7
North Canaan, CT 06018

Nicotine Anonymous

Smoking Cessation

SHARON HOSPITAL - GOOD NEIGHBORS -

THE COMMUNITY HEALTH PROMOTION PROGRAM
One Low Road

Sharon, CT 06069

Smoking Cessation Program

Smoking Cessation

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL - PULMONARY EDUCATION
780 Litchfield Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Freedom from Smoking
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Community Transformation Grant
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Two: Active Living and Healthy Eating
Map 2 of 13 — Resource Listing

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

Recreational Activities/Sports 9. Recreational Activities/Sports
BARKHAMSTED PARKS AND RECREATION HARWINTON RECREATION

67 Ripley Hill Road 100 Bentley Drive

Barkhamsted, CT 06063 Harwinton, CT

Recreational Activities/Sports 10. Recreational Activities/Sports
BETHLEHEM RECREATION KENT PARK AND RECREATION

36 Main Street South 41 Kent Green Boulevard

Bethlehem, CT 06751 Kent, CT 06757

Recreational Activities/ 11. Neighborhood Centers, Personal Enrichment,
Sports Recreational Activities/Sports, Rec./Leisure/Arts
BRIDGEWATER RECREATION COMMISSION LITCHFIELD COMMUNITY CENTER

PO Box 216 421 Bantam Road

Bridgewater, CT 06752 Litchfield, CT 06759

Recreational Activities/Sports, Swimming/Swim Lessons 12.  Nature Centers/Walks

NORTHWEST CT YMCA/ CANAAN FAMILY YMCA WHITE MEMORIAL CONSERVATION CENTER
77 South Canaan Road 80 Whitehall Road

Canaan, CT 06018 Litchfield, CT 06759

Recreational Activities/Sports 13. Recreational Activities/Sports
COLEBROOK, TOWN OF MORRIS BEACH AND RECREATION

562 Colebrook Road Route 183 3 East Street

Colebrook, CT Morris, CT

Recreational/Leisure/Aris Instruction 14. Recreational Activities/Sports
COLEBROOK SENIOR/COMMUNITY CENTER NEW HARTFORD RECREATION

2 School House Road 580 Main Street

Colebrook, CT 06021 New Hartford, CT 06057

Recreational Activities/ 15. Recreational Activities/Sports,

Sports Swimming/Swim Lessons

CORNWALL PARKS AND RECREATION NEW MILFORD PARKS AND RECREATION
PO Box 205 47 Bridge Street

Comwall, CT 06753 New Milford, CT 06776

Recreational Activities/Sports 16. Recreational Activities/Sports * Youth

GOSHEN RECREATION
42A North Street
Goshen, CT 06756

NEW MILFORD YOUTH AGENCY
50 East Street
New Milford, CT 06776
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Two: Active Living and Healthy Eating
Map 2 of 13 — Resource Listing

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY (Cont.)

17.

18,

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

Nature Centers/Walks, Recreational Activities/Sports
PRATT NATURE CENTER, THE

163 Papermill Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Recreational Activities/Sports
NQORFOLK, TOWN OF

19 Maple Avenue

Norfolk, CT 06058

Recreational Activities/Sports
NORTH CANAAN, TOWN OF
100 Pease Street, #1

North Canaan, CT 06018

Recreational Activities/Sports
SALISBURY RECREATION

PO Box 548

Salisbury, CT 06039

Nature Centers/Walks

AUDUBON CT - AUDUBON SHARON
325 Cornwali Bridge Road

Sharon, CT 06069

Recreational Activities/Sports

SHARON YOUTH AND RECREATION CENTER
99 North Main Street

Sharon, CT 06069

Personal Enrichment

SHARON HOSPITAL - GOOD NEIGHBCORS

THE COMMUNITY HEALTH PROMOTION PROGRAM
One Low Road

Sharon, CT 06062

Recreational Activities/Sports
THOMASTON PARK AND RECREATION
158 Main Street

Thomaston, CT

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

Rec Activities/Sports * Disabilities/ Health Conditions
LARC

314 Main Street

Torrington, CT 06750

Physical Fitness

NORTHWEST CT YMCA - TORRINGTON BRANCH
259 Prospect Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Recreational Activities/Sports * Youth
TORRINGTON POLICE ATHLETIC LEAGUE
576 Main Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Rec Activities/Sports, Playgrounds, Swim Lessons
TORRINGTON, CITY OF - PARKS AND RECREATION
153 South Main Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Recreational Activities /Sports
WARREN, TOWN OF

50 Cemetery Road

Warren, CT 06754

Rec. Activities/Sports * Disabilities/Health Conditions
FAMILY OPTIONS

76 Westbury Park Road Suite 200E

Watertown, CT 06795

Recreational Activities/Sports, Swim Lessons
WATERTOWN PARKS

AND RECREATION

51 Depot Street Suite 108

Watertown, CT 06795

Recreational Activities/Sports, Swim |Lessons
NORTHWEST CT YMCA - WINSTED BRANCH
480 Main Street

Winchester, CT 06098
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Two: Active Living and Healthy Eating
Map 2 of 13 — Resource Listing

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY {Cont.)

33.

34,

Nature Center/Walks

FLANDERS NATURE CENTER AND LAND TRUST
5 Church Hill Road

Woodbury, CT 06798

Recreational Activities/Sports, Swimming/Swim Lessons
WQOODBURY PARK AND RECREATION

7 Mountain Road

Woodbury, CT 06758

PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

35.

Specialized Treatment * Eating Disorders
WELLSPRING

21 Arch Bridge Road

Bethlehem, CT 06751

C6llPage



Litchfield County, Connecticut
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Three: High Impact Quality Clinical and Other Preventive Services -
Leading Causes: Cancer
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Three: High Impact Quality Clinical and Other Preventive
Services — Leading Causes
Map 3 of 13 — Resource Listing

CANCER — PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

1. Specialized Treatment * Cancer 3. Specialized Treatment * Cancer
NEW MILFORD HOSPITAL CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
REGIONAL CANCER CENTER CENTER FOR CANCER CARE
21 Elm Street 200 Kennedy Drive
New Milford, CT 06776 Torrington, CT 06790

2. Breast Cancer, Specialized Treatment
SHARON HOSPITAL
CANCER CARE
50 Hospital Hill Road
Sharon, CT 06069

CANCER — SCREENING

Cancer Detection * Colorectat Cancer
COMMEUNITY HEALTH AND WELLNESS CENTER OF GREATER
TORRINGTON - COLORECTAL CANCER CONTROL PROGRAM

4. Cancer Detection 8.
NEW MILFORD HOSPITAL
REGIONAL CANCER CENTER

21 Elm Street
New Milford, CT 06776

459 Migeon Avenue
Torrington, CT 06790

. Cancer Detection, Breast Cancer 9. Cancer Detection * Breast Cancer
SHARCN HOSPITAL CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL - HUNGERFORD
CANCER CARE EMERGENCY AND MEDICAL SERVICES
50 Hospital Hill Road 115 Spencer Street
Sharon, CT 06069 Winchester, CT 06098
Cancer Detection * Breast Cancer, Cervical Cancer 10. Skin Cancer Screening

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL - BREAST AND
CERVICAL CANCER EARLY DETECTION PROGRAM
540 Litchfield Street

Torrington, CT 06790

. Cancer Detection * Breast Cancer

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
MAMMOGRAPHY CENTER

220 Kennedy Drive

Forrington, CT 06750

POMPERAUG HEALTH
DISTRICT

275 Main South St.
Woodbury, CT 06798
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Three: High Impact Quality Clinical and Other Preventive
Services — Leading Causes - Cardiovascular
Map 4 of 13 — Resource Listing

CARDIOVASCULAR —~ PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

PREVENTION

CPR Instruction 2.

AMERICAN RED CROSS - CT CHAPTER
40 Main Street
New Milford, CT 06776

PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

Cardiac Rehab, Specialized Treatment * Heart Disease 7.
NEW MILFORD HOSPITAL - REGIONAL HEART
CENTER/CARDIAC REHABILITATION

21 Elm Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Cardiac Rehabilitation 8.
SHARON HOSPITAL CARDIOLOGY

50 Hospital Hill Road

Sharon, CT 06069

Stroke Rehabilitation 9.
ACCESS REHAB CENTERS - THOMASTON SITE

131 Main Street Suite 105B

Thomaston, CT 06787

Cardiac Rehabilitation

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
CARDIAC REHABILITATION

780 Litchfield Street

Torrington, CT 06790

SCREENING

10.

Cardiovascular 11.

Health Screening/Diagnostic Services
MORRIS SENIOR CENTER

109-21 East Street

Morris, CT 06763

CPR Instruction

AMERICAN RED CROSS - CT CHAPTER
21 Prospect Street Suite B
Torrington, CT 06790

Pulmonary Rehabilitation
CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD
PULMONARY EDUCATION
780 Litchfield Street
Torrington, CT 0679C

Cardiac and Pulmonary Rehabilitation

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD EMEERGENCY & MEDICAL SVCS.,
115 Spencer Street

Winchester, CT 06098

Chronic Disease Self-Management
POMPERAUG HEALTH DISTRICT
275 Main South St.

Woodbury, CT 067538

Cardiovascular

Health Screening/Diagnostic Services
POMPERAUG HEALTH DISTRICT

275 Main South St.

Woodbury, CT 06798
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titchfield County, Connectiput
Cormmunity Transformation Grant
Strategic DirectionThree: High impact Quality Clinical and Other Preventive Services -
Leading Causes: Diabetes
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Three: High Impact Quality Clinical and Other Preventive
Services — Leading Causes - Diabetes
Map 5 of 13 — Resource Listing

DIABETES — PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

1. Specialized Treatment * Diabetes 3. Chronic Disease Self-Management Program
NEW MILFORD HOSPITAL - DIABETES EDUCATION POMPERAUG HEALTH DISTRICT
21 Elm Street 275 Main South 5t.
New Milford, CT 06776 Woodbury, CT 06798

2. Specialized Treatment * Diabetes
CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
DIABETES CENTER
780 Litchfield Street
Torrington, CT 06790

DIABETES — SCREENING

4.  Diabetes Control and Screening Programs
POMPERAUG HEALTH DISTRICT
275 Main South St.
Woodbury, CT 06798
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Four: Social and Emotional Wellness
Community Support and Support Groups — Health and Mental Health-Related
Map 6 of 13 — Resource Listing

HEALTH RELATED

Health/Disability Related Support Groups 5.
* Cancer

NEW MILFORD HOSPITAL -

CARES SUPPORT GROUP

21 Elm Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Health/Disability Related Support Groups 6.
*Visual impairments

NEW MILFORD RICHMOND CITIZEN CENTER

40 Main Street

New Miiford, CT 06776

Caregiver/Care Receiver Support Groups 7.
SHARON HOSPITAL - CAREGIVER SUPPORT GROUP
50 Hospital Hill Road

_Sharon, CY 060693

Health/Disability Support Groups Stroke, Cancer
SHARON HQSPITAL

1 Low Road

Sharon, CT 06069

MENTAL BEALTH RELATED

10.

Bereaved Child Support Groups, 11.

General Bereavement Support Groups
NEW MILFORD VISITING NURSE ASS0C.
68 Park Lane Road, Route 202

New Milford, CT 06776

Planning/Coordinating/Advisory Groups 12.

UNITED WAY OF NORTHWEST CT
16 Bird Street Suite 1
Torrington, CT 06790

General Bereavement Suppori Groups 13.

FOOTHILLS VISITING NURSE AND HOME CARE
32 Union Street
Winchester, CT 06098

Health/Disability Related Support Groups * Breast Cancer,
Prostate Cancer

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD -

CANCER SUPPORT GROUPS

540 Litchfield Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Health/Disability Related Support Groups

* Cancer

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD CENTER FOR CANCER CARE
200 Kennedy Drive

Torrington, CT 06790

Health/Disability Related Support Group * Diabetes
CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL - DIABETES CENTER
780 Litchfield Street

Torrington, CT 06790

General Bereavement
Support Groups

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL - BEHAVIORAL HEALTH

540 Litchfield Street
Torrington, CT 06730

Bereaved Child Support Groups

VISITING NURSE SERVICES OF CT - TORRINGTON OFFICE
65 Commercial Boulevard

Torrington, CT 06790

Bereaved Parent, General Bereaverment Support Groups
SHARON HOSPITAL

50 Haspital Hill Road

Sharon, CT 06069
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Four: Social and Emotional Wellness
Family Support Services
Map 7 of 13 - Resource Listing

FAMILY SUPPORT SERVICES

Latchkey/Home Alone

Safety Programs

BARKHAMSTED RESIDENT STATE TROOPER
67 Ripley Hill Road

~ Barkhamsted, CT 06063

Latchkey/Home Alone

Safety Programs

BETHLEHEM RESIDENT STATE TROOPER
36 Main Street South

Bethlehem, CT 06751

Foster Homes for Dependent Children
BRIDGE FAMILY CENTER,

THE - HARWINTON SHELTER

25 Plymouth Road

Harwinton, CT 06791-2418

Latchkey/Home Alone Safety Programs
BRIDGEWATER RESIDENT STATE TROOPER
132 Hut Hill Road

Bridgewater, CT 06752

Adoption Counseling and Support/Placement,
Co-Parenting Workshops

CATHOLIC CHARITIES - ARCHDIQCESE OF HARTFORD
TORRINGTON

132 Grove Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Child Abuse Counseling, Children's
Protective Services

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
CENTER FOR YOUTH AND FAMILIES
1061 East Main Street

Torrington, CT 06730

Parenting Education * Parents of Infants/Toddlers
CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
NURTURING CONNECTIONS

540 Litchfield Street

Torrington, CT 06790

10

11

12,

13.

14.

Adoption and Foster Parents, Children's Protective Services,
Foster Homes,, Home Based Parenting Ed * Child Abuse [ssues
DEPT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

62 Commercial Boulevard

Torrington, CT 06750

Children's Rights Groups, Guardians ad Litem, Individual
Advocacy * Child Abuse, Juvenile Delinguency Prevention
CHILDREN IN PLACEMENT - TORRINGTON

410 Winsted Road

Torrington, CT 06730

Co-Parenting, Family Preservation, Home Based Parenting Ed
COMMUNITY MENTAL HEALTH AFFILIATES —

NORTHWEST CENTER FOR FAMILY SERVICE

100 Commerciat Boulevard

Torrington, CT 06790

Case/Care Management * At Risk Families
NEW MILFORD VISITING NURSE ASSOCIATION
68 Park Lane Road, Route 202

New Milford, CT 06776

Co-Parenting

Workshops

COMMUNITY MENTAL HEALTH
PARK LANE BEHAVIORAL

120 Park Lane Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Kinship Caregivers, Home Based Parenting Education,
Parents of Infants/Toddlers

EDUCATION CONNECTION

TORRINGTON SITE

57 Forest Court

Torrington, CT 06790

Adoption and Foster/Kinship Care Support Groups
EDUCATION CONNECTION

TORRINGTON SITE

57 Forest Court

Torrington, CT 06790
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Four: Social and Emotional Weliness
Family Support Services
Map 7 of 13 — Resource Listing

FAMILY SUPPORT SERVICES {Cont.)

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21,

Child Abuse Counseling

FAMILY AND CHILDREN'S AID NEW MILFORD SITE
325 Danbury Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Case Management * At Risk Families, Teen Parents,
Parenting Ed, Fathers, Home Based Parenting Ed
FAMILY STRIDES

350 Main Street Suite D

Torrington, CT 06790

Latchkey/Home Alone

Safety Programs

HARWINTON RESIDENT STATE TROOPER
100 Bentley Drive

Harwinton, CT 06791-2231

Home Based Parenting Education
* At Risk Families

MCCALL FOUNDATION

58 High Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Latchkey/Home Alone

Safety Programs

NEW HARTFORD, RESIDENT STATE TROOPER
530 Main Street

New Hartford, CT 06057-0316

Case Management, At Risk Families, Teen Parents
/Fathers, Home Based Parenting Ed

NEW MILFORD VISITING NURSE ASSOCIATION

©8 Park Lane Road, Route 202

New Miiford, CT 06776

Latchkey/Home Alone Safety Programs
NEW MILFGRD POLICE

49 Poplar Street

New Milford, CT 06776

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

Juvenile Diversion, Parenting Education .
NEW MILFORD YOUTH AGENCY

50 East Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Latchkey/Home Alone

Safety Programs

NORFOLK RESIDENT STATE TROOPER
14 Shepard Road

Norfolk, CT 06058

Child Care Referrals, Family Support Centers, Home Based
Parenting £d, Parenting Ed/Infants/Toddlers

PLYMOUTH FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER

107 North Street

Plymouth, CT 06782

Latchkey/Home Alone

Safety Programs

ROXBURY RESIDENT STATE TROOPER
27 North Street

Roxbury, CT 06783

Latchkey/Home Alone

Safety Programs

SALISBURY RESIDENT STATE TROOPER
27 Main Street

Salisbury, CT 06068-0365

Parenting Education

Parents of Infants/Toddlers

SHARON HOSPITAL - NURTURING CONNECTIONS
50 Hospital Hill Road

Sharon, CT 06069

Juvenile Delinquency Programs
SUPERIOR COURT, CT - JUVENILE MATTERS AT TORRINGTON

410 Winsted Road
Torrington, CT 06750
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Four: Social and Emotional Wellness
Family Support Services
Map 7 of 13 — Resource Listing

FAMILY SUPPORT SERVICES (Cont.)

29.

30.

31.

Latchkey/Home Alone
Safety Programs
THOMASTON POLICE

158 Main Street
Thomaston, CT 06787-1720

Juvenile Diversion

TORRINGTON AREA YOUTH SERVICE BUREAU {TAYSB)
8 Church Street

Torrington, CT 06750

Latchkey/Home Alone Safety Programs
TORRINGTON, CITY OF - POLICE

576 Main Street

Torrington, CT 06790

32.

33.

34,

35.

Home Based Parenting Ed, Parenting Ed, Family Support

Centers/Outreach, Child Care Provider Referrals
VOGEL-WETMORE FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER
68 Church Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Latchkey/Home Alone Safety Programs
WATERTOWN POLICE

195 French Street

Watertown, CT 06795

Home Based Parenting Education, Parenting Ed
WINCHESTER YOUTH SERVICE BUREAU (WYSB)
480 Main Street

Winchester, CT 06098

Latchkey/Home Alone

Safety Programs

WOODBURY RESIDENT STATE TROOPER
271 Main Street South

Woodbury, CT 06798-0369
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Four: Social and Emotional Weliness
Mental Health Resources
Map 8 of 13 — Resource Listing

MENTAL HEALTH

General Counseling Services
WELLSPRING

21 Arch Bridge Road
Bethlehem CT 06751

Therapy Referrals

GREENWOQODS COUNSELING REFERRALS
25 South Street

Litchfield CT

Adolescent/Youth Counseling,

General Counseling Services

COMMUNITY MENTAL HEALTH AFFILIATES - PARK L ANE
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH

120 Park Lane Road

New Miilford, CT 06776

Adolescent/Youth Counseling, Child Guidance, Mental
Health Evaluation, Psychiatric Disorder Counseling
FAMILY AND CHILDREN'S AID - NEW MILFORD SITE
325 Danbury Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Adolescent/Youth Counseling General Counseling
NEW MILFORD HOSPITAL

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES

23 Poplar Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Psychiatric Emergency

Room Care

NEW MILFORD HOSPITAL EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT
21 Elm Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Psychiatric Home Nursing

NEW MILFORD VISITING NURSE ASSOCIATION
68 Park Lane Road, Route 202

New Milford, CT 06776

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Adolescent/Youth Counseling,
NEW MILFORD YOUTH AGENCY
50 East Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Psychiatric Home Nursing

SALISBURY VISITING NURSE ASSOCIATION
30A Salmon Kill Road

Salisbury, CT 06068

Adult Psychiatric Inpatient Units, Mental Health
Evaluation, Psychiatric Emergency Room Care
SHARON HOSPITAL

SENIOR BEHAVIORAL HEALTH

50 Hospital Hill Road

Sharen, CT 06069

Therapeutic

Group Homes

NAFt CT - THOMASTON GROUP HOME
273 Prospect Street

Thomaston, CT 06787

Psychiatric Home Nursing

ALL ABOUT YOU HOME CARE SERVICES
TORRINGTON OFFICE

507 East Main Street Suite 305
Torrington, CT 06790

Adolescent/Youth Counseling, General Counseling
Services, Mental Health Evaluation

CATHOLIC CHARITIES - ARCHDIOCESE OF HARTFORD -
132 Grove Street

Torrington, CT 06750

Adult Psychiatric Inpatient Units

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSP. BEHAVIORAL HEALTH
540 Litchfield Street

Torrington, CT 06790

C 75|Page



Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Four: Social and Emotional Wellness
Mental Health Resources
Map 8 of 13 — Resource Listing

MENTAL HEALTH (CONT.}

15.

16.

17

18.

19.

20.

21,

Psychiatric Day Treatment * Youth

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL - BRIDGES CHILD
EXTENDED DAY TREATMENT PROGRAM

241 Kennedy Drive

Torrington, CT 06790

Adolescent/Youth Counseling, Child Guidance,
CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD

CENTER FOR YOUTH AND FAMILIES

1061 East Main Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Case/Care Management

* Youth Emotional Disturbance

CT DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES
62 Commercial Boulevard

Terrington, CT 06790

Adolescent/Youth Counseling, Case/Care Management
COMMUNITY MENTAL HEALTH AFFILIATES -
NORTHWEST CENTER FOR FAMILY SERVICE

100 Commercial Boulevard

Torrington, CT 06790

Individual Advocacy * Chronic/Severe Mental lliness
CT LEGAL RIGHTS PROJECT — TORRINGTON SATELLITE
810 Main Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Therapy Referrals

LITCHFIELD COUNTY MEDICAL
ASSOCIATION (LCMA)

PO Box 416

Terrington, CT 06790

Pastoral Counseling

SALVATION ARMY - TORRINGTON CORPS COMMUNITY
CENTER

234 Oak Avenue

Torrington, CT 06790

22,

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

Adolescent/Youth Counseling,
TORRINGTON AREA YOUTH SERVICE
BUREAU (TAYSB})

8 Church Street, Lower Level
Torrington, CT 06790

Psychiatric Home Nursing
VISITING NURSE SERVICES OF CT
TORRINGTON OFFICE

65 Commercial Boulevard
Tarrington, CT 06790

Case/Care Management * Children and Youth with
Emotional Disturbance, Home Based Mental Health
WELLMORE BEHAVIORAL HEALTH

30 Peck Road Suite 2203

Torrington, CT 06790

Case/Care Management * Chronic/Severe Mental Hiness,
WESTERN CT MENTAL HEALTH NETWORK —
TORRINGTON AREA

249 Winsted Road

Torrington, CT 06790

Therapeutic Group Homes

CT JUNIOR REPUBLIC - THERAFPEUTIC GROQUP HOME
131 Ashleigh Road

Winchester, CT 06098

Adolescent/Youth Counseling, Qutreach Programs * Youth
WINCHESTER YOUTH SERVICE BUREAU

(WYSB)

480 Main Street

Winchester, CT 06098
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Four: Social and Emotional Wellness
Substance Abuse and Addiction
Map 9 of 13 — Resource Listing

PREVENTION

Substance Abuse Counseling, Substance Abuse
Intervention Programs, DUI Offender Programs
MCCA - NEW MILFORD SATELLITE OFFICE

17 East Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Substance Abuse Education/Prevention
NEW MILFORD YOUTH AGENCY

50 East Street

New Milford, CT 06776

PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

Children's/Adolescent Residential Treatment Facilities
WELLSPRING

21 Arch Bridge Road

Bethlehem CT 06751

Residential Substance Abuse Treatment Facilities
MOUNTAINSIDE TREATMENT CENTER

187 South Canaan Road Route 7

Canaan, CT 06018

Recovery Homes/Halfway Houses
HIGH WATCH RECOVERY CENTER
62 Carter Road
Kent, CT 06757

Children's/Adolescent Residential Treatment Facilities
NAFI CT — TOUCHSTONE

11 Country Place

Litchfield, CT 06759

Alcohol Dependency Support Groups, Brug Dependency

Support Groups
RECOVERY GROUP
441 Torrington Road
Litchfield, CT 06750

10.

11.

12.

1s.

Substance Abuse Education/

Prevention

WINCHESTER YOUTH SERVICE BUREAU (WYSB)
480 Main Street

Winchester, CT 060598

DUt Offender Programs * Court Ordered Individuals
MCCA - NEW MILFORD SATELLITE QFFICE

17 East Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Residential Substance Abuse Treatment Facilities
MCCA - TRINITY GLEN

149 West Cornwall Road

Sharon, CT 06069

Inpatient Alcchol Detox

CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL EMERGENCY
540 Litchfield Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Case/Care Management * Substance Abusers * Youth
DEPT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES - TORRINGTON

62 Commercial Boulevard

Torrington, CT 06790

Home Based Mental Health Services * Children and
Youth with Emotional Disturbance

CT SUNIOR REPUBLIC - TORRINGTON AREA

168 South Main Street

Torrington, CT 06790
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Four: Social and Emotional Wellness
Substance Abuse and Addiction
Map 9 of 13 — Resource Listing

PROGRAMS AND SERVICES {CONT.)

14. Recovery Homes/Halfway Houses 16.
MCCALL FOUNDATION - MCCALL HOUSE
127 Migeon Avenue
Torrington, CT 06790

15. Case/Care Management * Substance Abusers * Youth 17.
WELLMORE BEHAVIORAL HEALTH FOR CHILDREN &
FAMILIES - TORRINGTON CLINiCAL SERVICES
30 Peck Road Suite 2203
Torrington, CT 06790

SCREENING

18. General Assessment for Substance Abuse, General
Assessment for Substance Abuse * Court Ordered
Individuals, Substance Abuse Counseling
CATHOLIC CHARITIES - ARCHDIOCESE OF HARTFORD
132 Grove Street
Torrington, CT 06790

19. General Assessment for Substance Abuse, Inpatient Alcohol
Detox, * Pregnant Women, Sub. Abuse Counseling
CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL —
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES
540 Litchfield Street
Torrington, CF 06790

20. Case/Care Management * Substance Abusers, Central

Intake/Assessment for Substance Abuse * Older Adults,
Families/Friends of Alcoholics Support Groups, General
Assessment for Substance Abuse, Residential Substance
Abuse Treatment Facilities, Substance Abuse Counseling,
Substance Abuse Day Treatment, Substance Abuse Day
Treatment * Dual Diagnosis, Substance Abuse Day
Treatment * Youth, Substance Abuse Education/Prevention
MCCALL FOUNDATION

58 High Street

Torrington, CT 06750

Children's/Adolescent Residential Treatment Facilities
GLENHOLME SCHOOL, THE

81 Sabbaday Lane

Washington, CT 06793

Substance Abuse Counseling
MCCALL FOUNDATION
WINSTED SATELLITE OFFICE
231 North Main Street
Winchester, CT 06098
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Four: Social and Emotional Wellness
Youth Development
Map 10 of 13 — Resource Listing

Leadership Development * Youth, Youth Enrichment
NORTHWEST CT YMCA

CANAAN FAMILY YMCA

77 South Canaan Road

Canaan, CT 06018

Youth Enrichment

NEW MILFORD SOCIAL SERVICES
40 Main Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Youth Enrichment

NEW MILFORD YOUTH AGENCY
50 East Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Youth Enrichment
FAMILY STRIDES

350 Main Street Suite D
Torrington, CT 06790

Leadership Development * Youth, Youth Enrichment
GIRL SCOUTS OF CT - TORRINGTON SERVICE CENTER
663 East Main Street
Torrington, CT 06790

Youth Enrichment
MCCALL FOUNDATION
58 High Street
Torrington, CT 06790

Leadership Development * Youth, Youth Enrichment
NORTHWEST CT YMCA - TORRINGTON BRANCH

259 Prospect Street

Torrington, CT 06790

10.

11.

12.

13.

Youth Enrichment

SALVATION ARMY - TORRINGTON CORPS COMMUNITY
CENTER

234 Oak Avenue

Torrington, CT 06790

Youth Enrichment

TORRINGTON AREA YOUTH SERVICE BUREAU (TAYSB}
8 Church Street Lower Level

Torrington, CT 06790

Youth Enrichment

TORRINGTON POLICE ATHLETIC LEAGUE
576 Main Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Youth Enrichment

UCONN COOPERATIVE EXTENSION - LITCHFELD COUNTY
843 University Drive '
Torrington, CT 06790

Leadership Development * Youth, Youth Enrichment
NORTHWEST CT YMCA - WINSTED BRANCH

480 Main Street

Winchester, CT 06098

Youth Enrichment

WINCHESTER YOUTH SERVICE BUREAU (WYSB)
480 Main Street

Winchester, CT 06098
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Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Five: Healthy and Safe Physical Environment
Basic Needs — Food and Transportation
Map 11 of 13 — Resource Listing

Congregate Meals/Nutrition Sites
BARKHAMSTED, TOWN OF - SENIOR CENTER
109 West River Road

Barkhamsted, CT 06063

Food Pantries
COMMUNITY FOOD BANK
BARKHAMSTED/NEW HTFD
93 River Road
Barkhamsted, CT 06063

Food Pantries
BETHLEHEM, TOWN OF
36 Main Street South
Bethlehem, CT 06751

Farmers Markets

CONNECTICUT FARMERS' MARKETS - CORNWALL
413 Sharon Goshen Turnpike

Cornwall, CT 06753

Food Pantries

CORNWALL, TOWN OF - SOCIAL SERVICES
26 Pine Street

Cornwall, CT 06753-0097

Congregate Meals/Nutrition Sites
HARWINTON, TOWN OF - SENIOR CENTER
209 Weingart Road

Harwinton, CT 06791

Farmers Markets

CONNECTICUT FARMERS' MARKETS — KENT
Kent Green

Kent, CT 06757

Congregate Meals/Nutrition Sites, Food Pantries
KENT, TOWN OF - PARK AND RECREATION

41 Kent Green Boulevard

Kent, CT 06757

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Farmers Markets

CT FARMERS' MARKETS - LITCHHELD/LITCHFIELD HILLS
125 West Street

Litchfield, CT 06759

Summer Food Service Programs
SUMMER FOOD SERVICE
LITCHFIFLD/TORRINGTON

355 Goshen Road

Litchfield, CT 06759-0909

Farmers Markets

CONNECTICUT FARMERS' MARKETS - MORRIS
31 East Street

Morris, CT 06763

Food Pantries
MORRIS, TOWN CF

3 East Street

Morris, CT 06763-0066

Congregate Meals/Nutrition Sites
MORRIS, TOWN OF - SENICR CENTER
109-21 East Street

Morris, CT 06763

Farmers Markets

CONNECTICUT FARMERS' MARKETS - NEW HARTFORD
17 Church Saint No 1

New Hartford, CT 06057

Food Pantries

CHRISTIAN LIFE FELLOWSHIP - FOOD PANTRY
48 Anderson Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Farmers Markets

CONNECTICUT FARMERS' MARKETS - NEW MILFORD
1209 Main Street

New Milford, CT 06776
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FOOD (CONT.)

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22,

23.

24,

Food Pantries
NEW MILFORD UNITED METHODIST

~OUR DAILY BREAD FOOD PANTRY

68 Danbury Road
New Milford, CT 06776

Congregate Meals/Nutrition Sites

NEW MILFORD RICHMOND CITIZEN CENTER
40 Main Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Food Pantries

NEW MILFORD, TOWN OF - SOCIAL SERVICES
40 Main Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Farmers Markets

CT FARMERS' MARKETS - NORFOLK
19 Maple Avenue

Norfolk, CT 06058

Food Pantries

FISHES & LOAVES FOOD PANTRY - NORTH CANAAN
30 Granite Avenue

North Canaan, CT 06024

Home Delivered Meals

COOK WILLOW HEALTH CENTER
81 Hillside Avenue

Ptymouth, CT 06782

Food Pantries/Vouchers

SALISBURY, TOWN OF - FAMILY SERVICES
30A Salmon Kill Road

Salisbury, CT 06068

Food Pantries

SHARON SOCIAL SERVICES
63 Main Street

Sharon, CT 06069

25,

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32

Farmers Markets

CT FARMERS' MARKETS
THOMASTON

South Main Street
Thomaston, CT 06787

Food Pantrigs

THOMASTON FOOD PANTRY
158 Main Street
Thomaston, CT 06787-1720

Congregate Meals/Nutrition Sites

THOMASTON HOUSING AUTHORITY - GREEN MANOR

63 Green Manor
Thomaston, CT 06787

Soup Kitchens

COMMUNITY SOUP KITCHEN - TORRINGTON
220 Prospect Street

Torrington, CT 06750

Farmers Markets

CT FARMERS' MARKETS - TORRINGTON
12 Paycoeton Place

Torrington, CT 06750

WIC

FAMILY STRIDES

350 Main Street
Torrington, CT 06790

Food Pantries

FISH OF TORRINGTON
332 South Main Street
Torrington, CT 06790

Food Pantries

FRIENDLY HANDS FOOD BANK — TORRINGTON
50 King Street

Torringten, CT 06790
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33.

34,

35.

36.

37.

Congregate Meals/Nutrition Sites, Home Delivered
LITCHFIELD HILLS/NORTHWEST ELDERLY NUTRITION
88 East Albert Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Soup Kitchens

SAINT MARON'S CHURCH HOT DINNER PROGRAM
613 Main Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Food Pantries

SALVATION ARMY - TORRINGTON CORPS
234 Oak Avenue

Torrington, CT 06790

Community Gardening

TORRINGTON COMMUNITY GARDENS
¢/o Trinity Episcopal Church
Torrington, CT 06790

Farmers Markets

CT FARMERS' MARKETS - WATERTOWN
470 Main Street

Watertown, CT 06795

38.

39.

40.

41.

42,

Food Pantries

WATERTOWN, TOWN OF - SOCIAL SERVICES
51 Depot Street

Watertown, CT 06795

Summer Food Service Programs

SUMMER FOOD SERVICE PROGRAM WINCHESTER
30 Efm Street

Winchester, CT 06098

Food Pantries

COMMUNITY SERVICES COUNCIL OF WOCDBURY
PO Box 585

Woodbury, CT 06798

Farmers Markets

CT FARMERS' MARKETS - WOODBURY
43 Hollow Road

Woodbury, CT 06798

Congregate Meals/Nutrition Sites, Home Delivered Meals
WOODBURY, TOWN OF - SENIOR CENTER

265 Main Street South

Woodbury, CT 06798
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TRANSPORTATION

43,

44,

45,

46.

47.

48.

49,

Medical Transportation, Senior Ride Programs
BETHLEHEM MUNICIPAL AGENT FOR THE ELDERLY
32 Main Street South

Bethlehem, CT 06751

Disability Related/Medical Transportation, Senior Rides
BRIDGEWATER HILLTOP FARM SENIOR CENTER

132 Hut Hill Road

Bridgewater, CT 06752

Disability Related/Medical Transportation,
Senior Rides

GEER NURSING-REHABILITATION CENTER
83 South Canaan Road

Canaan, CT 06018

Escort Programs

COMPANIONS & HOMEMAKERS
LITCHFIELD OFFICE

82 West Street

Litchfield, CT 06759

Senior Ride Programs

NEW HARTFORD SENIOR CTR/
Elderly MUNICIPAL AGENT
530 Main Street

New Hartford, CT 06057

Disability Related/Medical Transportation, Senior Rides
NEW MILFORD - RICHMOND CITIZEN CENTER

40 Main Street

New Milford, CT 06776

Medical Transportation

COOK WILLOW HEALTH CENTER - COOK'S
81 Hillside Avenue

Plymouth, CT 06786

50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

Medical Transportation, Senior Ride Programs
ROXBURY ELDERLY SERVICES/ MUNICIPAL AGENT
7 South Street

Roxbury, CT 06783

Disability Related/Medical Transportation, Senior Rides
THOMASTON - SOCIAL SERVICES/ MUNICIPAL AGENT
158 Main Street

Thomaston, CT 06787-1720

Disability/Medical Transportation, General
Paratransit/Community Ride Programs, Senior Rides
NW CT TRANSIT DISTRICT

957 East Main Street

Torrington, CT 06730

Disability/ Medical Transportation
TORRINGTON SERVICES FOR THE ELDERLY
/SULLIVAN SENIOR CENTER

88 East Albert Street

Torrington, CT 06750

Disability Related/Medical Transportation, Senior Rides
WCODBURY

SENIOR CENTER

265 Main Street South

Woodbury, CT 06798

Medical Transportation —_—
FISH OF WOODBURY

PO Box 216

Woodbury, CT 06798

—— NO STREET

Medical Transportation ADDRESS

FISH OF KENT

PO Box 852 —J

Kent, CT 06757

86| Page




Litchfield County, Connecticut
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Five: Healthy and Safe Physical Environment-
Domestic Viclence
Map 12 of 13.

L0 = S ey

Health SistricisDegariineiits

Betiries Popukytion Dehelly
@ Crérnestic Vinlerce fPopulation / Sduars 8}

e Fie] Bus Bivutes

b At Service Areat

s STHTICARY with Disebilfdey.

s R s ssei for

AP 3 =¥
: < cordcn s
g e S 8 b et o vt o o sl of sath Toest e, Yo N T Frana TR privadss sevice for Unckdiald Ton o,
s dogd SRR kit daugtie sl m snlie taibor g 1 ey e B repne o L AR W, Tagton,
e s Winsded, sod Dial-AeRide snrvice Tor (6 towns in N O7
. SRR (TS S BT, T e

cgertHEA o thrtien gad s Bae H Ry o reebad i de Silaw. T pw gt iy malsand
ot it st

128

e Habli T &

o I Wby o Chmomi:

- 87lrage



Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Five: Healthy and Safe Physical Environment
Domestic Violence
Map 12 of 13 — Resource Listing

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

1. DV Shelter, Crime Victim Support, DV Hotlines/Dating Viclence, DV Support Groups * Families/Friends of Battered
Women/Men/ Battered Women, Spouse/Domestic Parther Abuse Counseling/Prevention
WOMEN'S SUPPORT SERVICES
158 Gay Street
Sharon, CT 06069

2. DV Shelter, Crime Victim Support, DV Hotlines/Dating Violence, DV Supgport Groups * Families/Friends of Battered
Women/Men Spouse/Domestic Parther Abuse Counseling/Prevention
SUSAN B. ANTHONY PROUECT - DV SERVICE
178 Water Street
Torrington, CT 06790
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ELDER/DISABLED

1.

Low Inc./Sub. Rental Housing * Dis./Health, Older Adults
ELDERLY HOUSING MANAGEMENT - NORTH PURCHASE
11 Jackson Lane

Bethlehem, CT 06751

Low Inc./Subsidized Private Rental Housing * Older Adults
ELDERLY HOUSING MANAGEMENT - BECKLEY HOUSE

85 South Canaan Road

Canaan, CT 06018

Public Housing * Dis, & Health Conditions® Older Adults
NORTH CANAAN HOUSING AUTHORITY —- WANGUM VILLAGE
132 Quinn Street

Canaan, CT 06018

Low Inc./Subsidized Private Rental Housing * Disabilities &
Health Conditions * Older Adults

ELDERLY HOUSING MANAGEMENT - WINTERGREEN

21 Wintergreen Circle

Harwinton, CT 06791

Llow Inc./Subsidized Private Rental Housing * Disabilities &
Health Conditions* Older Adults

HARWINTON WINTERGREEN ELDERLY HOUSING

21 Wintergreen Circle/Litchfield Road

Harwinton, CT 06791

Low Inc./Subsidized Private Rental Housing * Disabilities &
Health Conditions* Older Adults

ELDERLY HOUSING MNGMT TEMPLETON FARM APTS

16 Swifts Lane

Kent, CT 06757

Group Residences for Adults with Disabilities, Supported
Living Services for Adults with Disabilities

EDUCATION CONNECTION

355 Goshen Road

Litchfield, CT 06759-0909

10.

11.

12.

13.

14,

Public Housing, Disabilities/Health Conditions * Older Adults
LITCHFIELD HOUSING AUTHORITY - BANTAM FALLS

Poyle Road

Litchfield, CT 06759

Public Housing, Disabilities/Health Conditions, QOlder Adults
MORRIS HOUSING AUTHORITY

109 East Street

Morris, CT 06763

Low Inc./Sub. Private Rental Housing Older Adults
DEMARCO MANAGEMENT - BUTTER BROOK HILL APTS
105 Butter Brook Hill

New Milford, CT 06776

Low Inc./Subsidized Private Rental Housing
Older Adufts

ELDERLY HOUSING MANAGEMENT - GLEN AYRE
One Glen Ayre Drive

New Milford, CT 06776

Home Barrier Evaluation

/Removal Services

REBUILDING TOGETHER - LITCHFIELD COUNTY
122 Stilson Hill Road

New Milford, CT 06776

Low Inc./Subsidized Private Rental Housing * Disabilities &
Health Conditions * Qlder Adults

NORFOLK SENIOR HOUSING CORPORATION

9 Shepard Road

Norfolk, CT 06058

Low Inc./Subsidized Private Rental Housing
* Older Adufts

EL.DERLY HOUSING BERNHARDT MEADOW
19 Bernhardt Meadow Lane

Roxbury, CT 06783

HiPage



Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Five: Healthy and Safe Physical Environment

Housing

Map 13 of 13 — Resource Listing

ELDER/DISABLED (CONT.}

15,

16.

17.

18.

19,

20,

21.

Public Housing * Disabilities

& Health Cenditions, Older Adults
SHARON HOUSING AUTHORITY
12E Sharon Ridge Road

Sharon, CT 06069

Public Housing

Older Adults

THOMASTON HOUSING AUTHORITY - GREEN MANCR
63 Green Manor

Thomaston, CT 06787

Public Housing, Disabilities/ Health Conditions

Olider Adults

THOMASTON HOUSING AUTHORITY - GROVE MANOR
11 Grove Street '
Thomaston, CT 06787

Supported Living Adults with Disabiiities * Dual Diagnosis
CENTER FOR HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

51 Commercial Boulevard

Torrington, CT 06790

Supported Living Services/Group Residences for Adults
with Disabilities * Chronic/Severe Mental lliness
CENTRAL NAUGATUCK VALLEY HELP - WYNNEWOOD
44 Cook Street

Torrington, CT 06750

Supported Living Services / Group Residences
Adults/Disabilities * Chronic/Severe Mental lliness
COMMUNITY SYSTEMS

295 Alvord Park Road

Torrington, CT 06790

Low inc./Subsidized Private Rental Housing * Older Adults
GEQORGETOWN GARDENS

109 Sunny Lane

Torrington, CT 06790

22,

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

Supported Living

Group Residences Disabilities
LARC

314 Main Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Supported Living Services for Adults with Disabilities *
Chronic/Severe Mental lliness

MENTAL HEALTH ASSOC. OF CT TORRINGTON

30 Peck Road

Torrington, CT 06790

Low [nc./Subsidized Private Rental Housing * Disabilities &
Health Conditions * Older Adults

TORRINGFORD WEST APARTMENTS

356 Torringford West Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Public Housing/Disabilities/Health Conditions * Older Adults
TORRINGTON HOUSING AUTHORITY - LAUREL ACRES

523 Torringford West Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Public Housing/Disabilities/Health Conditions

Older Adults

TCOGRRINGTON HOUSING AUTHQORITY MICHAEE KOURY
Tucker Drive

Torrington, CT 06790

Public Housing/Disabilities/Health Conditions

Older Adults _
TORRINGTON HOUSING AUTHORITY - THOMPSON HEIGHTS
301 Litchfield Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Public Housing/Disabilities/Health Conditions * Older Adults
TORRINGTON HOUSING AUTHORITY - TORRINGTON TOWERS
52 Summer Street

Torrington, CT 06730

 Olfrage



Litchfield County, CT
Community Transformation Grant
Strategic Direction Five: Healthy and Safe Physical Environment

Housing

Map 13 of 13 — Resource Listing

ELDER/DISABLED (CONT.)

29,  Public Housing/Disabilities/Health Conditions * Older Adults
TORRINGTON HOUSING AUTHORITY WILLOW GARDENS
52 Willow Street
Torrington, CT 06790

30. Group Residences for Adults with Disabilities
FAMILY OPTIONS
76 Westbury Park Road
Watertown, CT 06795

31. Supported Living Services for Adults with Disabilities *
Developmental Disabilities
INSTITUTE OF PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE- WATERTOWN
680 Main Street
Watertown, CT 06795

32. Public Housing/Disabilities/Health Conditions * Older Adults
WATERTOWN HOUSING AUTHORITY - BUCKINGHAM
935 Buckingham Street
Watertown, CT 06795

EER

34.

35.

36.

Pubtic Housing/Disabilities/Health Conditions * Older Adults
WATERTCWN HOUSING AUTHORITY - COUNTRY RIDGE
1091 Buckingham Street

Watertown, CT 06795

Public Housing/Disabilities/Heaith Conditions * Older Aduhts
WATERTOWN HOUSING AUTHORITY - TRUMAN TERRACE
100 Steele Brook Road
Watertown, CT 06795

Low Income/Subsidized Private Rental Housing
* Older Adults

MILLENIUM REAL ESTATE SERVICES - THE GLEN
Maple & Willow Streets

Winchester, CT 06098

Public Housing/Disabilities/Health Conditions * Older Adults
WINCHESTER HOUSING AUTHORITY GREENWOODS GARDEN
Gay Street

Winchester, CT 06098

Subsidized Private Rental Housing/Disabilities/Older Adults
STATION PLACE APARTMENTS
Whitford Court

Canaan, CT 06018

NO STREET
NUMBER
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EMERGENCY HOUSING

37.

38.

39,

Runaway/Youth Shelters a0.

BRIDGE FAMILY CENTER, THE - HARWINTON SHELTER
25 Plymouth Road
Harwinton, CT 06791-2418

Homeless Shelter 41,

FISH OF TORRINGTON
332 South Main Street
Torrington, CT 06750

Homeless Shelter

STATE DEPT OF SOCIAL SERVICES - TORRINGTON
62 Commercial Boulevard

Torrington, CF 06790

SUPPORTIVE HOUSING

42.

Homeless Permanent Supportive Housing 43.

CENTER FOR HUMAN DEVELOPMENT
51 Commercial Boulevard
Torrington, CT 06790

Transitional Housing/Shelter

SUSAN B. ANTHONY PROJECT - DV SERVICE
179 Water Street

Torrington, CT 06790

Homeless Shelter, Runaway/Youth Shelters

NW CTYMCA - WINCHESTER EMERGENCY SHELTER
480 Main Street

Winchester, CT 06098

Homeless Shelter

NEW MILFORD SHELTER COALITION
PO Box 1016

New Milford, CT 06776

NO STREET
ADDRESS

Case/Care Management * Homeless People
FISH OF TORRINGTON

332 South Main Street

Torrington, CT 06790
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Age-Adjusted Mortality Rate

ACS American Community Survey

BRFSS Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System
CADH Connecticut Association of Directors of Health
CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CHANGE Community Health Assessment aNd Group Evaluation
CHD Coronary Heart Disease

CHF Congestive Heart Failure

CHLI Community Healthy Living Index

CHNA Community Health Needs Assessment

CLRD Chronic Lower Respiratory Disease

CLD Chronic Liver Disease

COPD Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

CSDE Connecticut State Department of Education
CTBPH Connecticut Department of Public Health

CTG Community Transformation Grant

Cvb Cardiovascular Diseases

DECD Department of Economic and Community Development
DPH Department of Public Health

ED Emergency Department

FQHC Federally Qualified Health Center

Index Health Equity Index

LD Liver Disease

LHI Leading Health Indicators

M| Myocardial Infarction

RPO Regional Planning Organization

TAHD Torrington Area Health District

URC Uniform Crime Reporting Program

YPLL Years of Potential Life Lost
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Community Health Needs Assessment For Northwest CT 2015 Update provides an overview of the social,
economic, physical, and behavioral health of our region’s population. Assessment of the current health status of
community residents, and the diverse factors that influence health, provides an important foundation for community
stakeholders to identify: priorities for health improvement planning, existing community strengths and assets upon
which to build, and areas for further collaboration and collective action. This Assessment is an update to the first-ever
Community Health Needs Assessment conducted in Northwest CT (NW CT), the 2012 Litchfield County Community
Health Needs Assessment {CHNA). The 2012 county-wide assessment was funded by a CDC Community
Transformation Grant through the CT State Department of Public Health (DPH)}, Torrington Area Health District
(TAHD), Charlotte Hungerford Hospital (CHH), United Way of Northwest CT, and the Northwest CT YMCA.

This Community Health Needs Assessment For Northwest €T 2015 Update concentrates, to the extent possible, on the
primary service area of Charlotte Hungerford Hospital, which includes the following 13 communities and zip codes
shaded on the map below: Barkhamsted {06063}, Bethlehem {06751}, Colebrook (06021}, Cornwall (06753},

; _— Goshen {06756), Harwinton (06791), New Hartford {06057),
Norfolk {(06058), Litchfield (06759}, Morris (06763), Thomaston
{06778), Torrington {06790}, and Winchester {06098). When
service area data was not available, or unreliable due to the small
number of health-related events, we have used county-wide data
as in the 2012 CHNA.

i

This CHNA is also informed by and aligned with the focus areas and
key health indicators included in the most recent statewide health
assessment, Healthy Connecticut 2020, and in the State Health
improvement Plan. The State Health Assessment and State Health
Improvement Plan provide opportunities for organizations and
agencies across Connecticut to focus and align dialogue around a
common framework for improving health. These documents can
be accessed and downloaded frem the CT Department of Public

Health (DPH) website at:
http://www,ct.gov/dph/cwp/view.asp?a=313080Q=542346&FM=1.

Summary of Findings

Northwest CT as a region meets most national targets for health and has better health outcomes compared to many
other states, for many indicators, such as obesity prevalence, teen birth rates, and health insurance coverage.
Although health statistics indicate an overall healthy profile for the region and the state, disparities are apparent by
age, sex, race, ethnicity, geography, and socioeconomics, highlighting areas and populations in need. A summary of
findings for Key Health indicators by Focus Area follows:

Maternal, Infant, and Child Health
= During the past decade, the state and region have both experienced improvements in maternal, infant, and
child health, including significant declines in births to teen mothers. However, recent data for several NW
CT towns reveal rates of smoking during pregnancy and preterm births above the state average, and a
higher infant mortality rate in the county than the state overall (influenced by a higher proportion of
multiple-birth pregnancies).

= There were disparities among popuiation groups for births to teen mothers, preterm births, low
hirthweight births, and non-adequate prenatal care. In CT, preterm birth, low birthweight, and infant
mortality remain highest among infants born to Black non-Hispanic women relative to White non-Hispanic
and Hispanic women.
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Chronic Diseases and Their Risk Factors

Similar to the rest of the state and nation, in NW CT, chronic conditions such as heart disease, cancer, stroke,
and chronic lower respiratory disease rank among the leading causes of death. Some diseases and risk factors,
such as asthma, diabetes, high blood pressure, and high cholesterol, are more prevalent among persons with
lower educational attainment or lower incomes. Furthermore, there is greater mortality among Black non-
Hispanics relative to other racial and ethnic groups for cancer and major cardiovascular diseases.

The prevalence of overweight and obesity has increased in NW CT and the state during the past decade, and
is most prevalent among adult and adolescent males and persons with lower educational attainment.

There is much room for improvement in risk factors associated with chronic diseases, such as unhealthy eating,
lack of physical activity, and smcking. Health behaviors associated with chronic diseases are shaped by
socioeconomic status - persons with lower educational attainment or lower income are more likely to smoke, be
less physically active, and less likely to consume a healthy diet.

There are important disparities in cancer incidence and mortality. In CT, Black non-Hispanics experience higher

breast cancer mortality, prostate cancer incidence and mortality, and colorectal cancer incidence and mortality.
Hispanics have higher cervical cancer incidence; and White non-Hispanics have higher incidence rates of breast
cancer, lung cancer, and melanoma.

Chronic diseases are among the leading causes of death in the region and state, and they encompass many
conditions that can be prevented or minimized. in the past decade, there has been a significant decline in
certain risk factors, such as smoking in adolescents and adults, and increases in preventive screenings among
adults. At the same time, there were increases in the prevalence of obesity, overweight, high blood pressure,
high cholesterol, diabetes, and asthma among adults.

Infectious Diseases

Consistent with the state and nation, the region has experienced significant improvements in the treatment,
survival, and quality of life of persons with HIV, as evidenced by a decline in the number of new HIV cases and
deaths among persons with HIV. Disparities remain, however, with males and Black non-Hispanics more likely
than others to be diagnosed with HIV.

Substantial reductions in the incidence of infectious disease have been achieved largely through vaccine
development and delivery and advances in medication therapy, which have contributed to decreases in
infectious disease deaths and increased life expectancy.

Mental Health, Alcohol, and Substance Use Disorders

Connecticut and the Northwest region have experienced an increase in emergency department visits for alcohol
and other substance use disorders. Specifically, deaths due to overdoses of prescription pain killers and heroin
have increased in the state and region.

Mental health and substance use disorders affect individuals, families, and communities in complex and
challenging ways. In addition to premature mortality, mental health and substance use disorders
contribute to substantial social and economic costs to families and communities.

There are disparities by age, sex, race, ethnicity, and educational attainment in the prevalence of diagnosed
depression and poor mental health days, emergency department visits due to mental health, alcohol and
substance use disorders. Additionally, over the past decade, the region and state have experienced an
increase in binge drinking among adults and adolescents. Prescription drug misuse and overdose are an
emerging public health challenge and a leading cause of injury death.
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Injuries and Violence

Unintenticnal injuries are a major contributor to disability and premature death in the region. Falls, accidental
poisonings, and motor vehicle accidents are the top three types of unintentional injuries.

Unintentional injury is a leading cause of visits to emergency rooms in the state and region. Most causes of
injury, disability, and injury-related death are preventable. In Connecticut, disparities by sex, age, race,
ethnicity, or geography exist for death and premature death rates due to unintentional injury, and for traumatic
brain injury, homicide, suicide, and sexual assault.

Local Health Care Environment

Racial, ethnic, and geographic disparities exist in health insurance coverage and health care access and
utilization. Hispanics are less likely than other racial or ethnic groups to have a usual source of care.
Medically underserved and health professional shortage areas are apparent in the region.

Equitable access to guality health care is important for eliminating health inequities, reducing health care
costs, and improving quality of life. Furthermore, strengthening the public health infrastructure is an
important factor for ensuring prevention related initiatives.

Data Availability Limitations

There are limitations in the availability of data needed to assess the health of Northwest CT residents. Local and
county-level health indicators are less readily available than statewide indicators. There is a significant time lag
in the availability of morbidity and mortality data to inform community health needs assessments, and currently
no centralized public access community health assessment database exists to query and download data. This
limited access to timely local and regional health data presents challenges to monitoring of progress in achieving
health improvement objectives.
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Introduction

Understanding the current health status of NW CT
residents and the multitude of factors that influence
health enables the identification of pricrities for public
health planning, existing community strengths and
assets upon which to build, and areas for further
coliaboration and cocrdination.

This Community Health Needs Assessment for
Northwest CT 2015 Update is intended to help program
planners, policy makers, and other community
stakeholders to develop a shared understanding of
current and emerging health issues, and to provide
access to the most recent measures of the health of
area residents.

What is a Community Health Needs Assessment?

A Cor_ﬁmunity Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) is a
systematic examination of the health status of the
population in a given geographic region and of the
factors that influence health, using a set of key
indicators that can be tracked over time, Conducting a
CHNA is the critical first step in developing a community
health improvement plan,

The CHNA describes the health of the community, by
presenting relevant information on socioeconomic and
demographic factors affecting health, personal health-
related lifestyle practices, health status indicators,
community health resources, and studies of current
locat health issues.

The CHNA identifies population groups that may bhe at
increased risk for poor heatth outcomes, assesses the
larger community environment and how it impacts
health, and identifies areas where additional or better
information is needed. The assessment process is highly
collaborative, involving a broad spectrum of community
stakeholders.

Focus on Prevention and Health Equity

The leading health issues in Northwest CT, as in the
state and the nation, result from many undertying
factors which can be controlled or modified. Harmful
lifestyle behaviors such as smoking, overeating, poor
nutrition, lack of physical activity, and substance abuse
have major impacts on individual health. Economic,
language, and cultural factors present barriers to
access and utilization of medical care and preventive
health services. Income, employment status,
educational attainment, housing, and other social
factors impact health or limit access to care.

Uncontrollable factors, including inherited health
conditions or increased susceptibility to disease, also
significantly influence health. '

Poverty underlies many of the social factors that
contribute to poor health. Differences for many health
indicators are also apparent by gender, race, ethnicity,
age, and geographic area of residence.

Recent trends in health indicators for NW CT residents
show improvement in overall mortality rates for many
leading causes of death. There are indications of
improvement in personal health behaviors such as
smoking and activity rates and accessing screening
services for early detection of certain diseases.
However, disparities in health care access and health
status in certain populations persist. Coordinated
planning of programs and services among community
partners can reduce health disparities and improve the
health of all county residents.

Policy, systems, and environmentat changes that
éupport efforts to promote making the healthy choice
the easy choice will help to improve the health of all
residents and reduce heaith disparities, whether social,
economic, demographic, or geographic.

Collaborators

Development of the Community Health Needs
Assessment For Northwest CT 2015 Updateis a
collaborative and inclusive process that has engaged
organizations, agencies, and residents from across the
region. The following section provides an overview of
this process.

Partner Engagement

A comprehensive health assessment engages a wide
range of partners. Charlotte Hungerford Hospital (CHH}
commissioned The Center for Healthy Schools &
Communities @ EDUCATION CONNECTION to prepare
the CHNA 2015 Update. Mary Bevan, M.P.H., was the
project director and primary author for this update and
the previous 2012 Litchfield County CHNA. The CHH
Community Relations Committee (CRC) was engaged as
the CHNA Advisory Council. The Advisory Council
provided feedback on the selection of CHNA Focus
Areas and Key indicators and reviewed and provided
feedback on assessment sections as they were
developed. A listing of CRC members is provided in
Appendix A.
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Guiding Documents and Initiatives

The CHNA was guided by and aligns with the Nationa/
Prevention Strategy, Healthy People 2020, and the CT
statewide health assessment, Healthy CT 2020.

Focus Areas and Key Indicators

The CRC CHNA Advisory Council identified seven Focus
Areas and related key health indicators for inclusion in
the Community Health Needs Assessment for
Northwest CT 2015 Update:

1. Maternal and Infant Health
Child and Adolescent Health
Chronic Disease Prevention and Control
Infectious Disease Prevention and Control
Injury and Violence Prevention
Mental Health, Alcohol and Substance Use

7. Local Health Care Environment
The list of indicators and data sources for the CHNA
were compiled through a collaborative, iterative
process involving experts and stakeholders within the
region, representing a multitude of sectors. The
following is a brief description of the sources of
information used in the Assessment.

o vk WM

Key Informant Interviews

To gain insight and perspective on preliminary
assessment findings and emerging community health
needs, 13 semi-structured interviews were conducted
by the Center for Program Research and Evaluation @
EDUCATION CONNECTION with key informants--public
and private sector stakeholders--from around the
region. Interviews were held with chief elected officials,
public health officials, community health center
directors, early childhood and K-12 leaders, behavioral
health service providers, and community and civic
leaders. These interviews explored stakeholder views
on emerging health issues in the region, the current
state of resident health, and important issues to
consider in the Assessment.

Focus Groups

The Center for Program Research & Evaluation @
EDUCATION CONNECTION also conducted focus groups
with two vulnerable population groups — low income
families with young children who receive services
through the Torrington Family Resource Center, and
older adults receiving Senior Services - t¢ gain consumer
perspectives on the accessibility and quality of health-
related services and unmet needs for services.

Sources of Data Used

Data for the CHNA for NW CT 2015 Update were

obtained from a variety of secondary sources.

= Sociodemographic indicators are from the U.S.
Census, American Community Surveys, CT Economic
Resource and Data Center, CT State Data Center,
and the CT State Department of Education.

+ Data on births, deaths, hospitalizations, emergency
department visits, chronic and infectious diseases
originate from DPH and CT Hospital Association
{CHA) databases, analyzed by DPH and CHA, and
from published surveillance and statistical reports.

= Indicators of self-reported chronic disease
and health behaviors such as smoking, dietary
practices, and physical activity are from the CT
Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (for
adults 18 years of age and older) and from the CT
School Health Survey (includes the Youth Risk
Behavior Surveillance System and CT Youth Tobacco
Survey) for middle and high school students. Data
from these surveys were analyzed by DPH.

« (ther sources of health data include, but are not
limited to: The Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention {CDC), Centers of Medicare/Medicaid
Services, Charlotte Hungerford Hospital, County
Health Rankings, Kaiser Foundation, National Cancer
Institute, and the Substance Abuse and Mental Health
Services Administration {SAMHSA).

When made available by secondary sources,

statistically significant results {p <0.05} for indicators

are so noted.

Limitations of Health Indicator Data

As with most health assessments, the indicators
presented have several limitations. One is the time lag
hetween data coilection, analysis, and availability for
public reporting. This Assessment includes data for the
most recently available years at the time the Assessment
was performed. Some data are not available for specific
populations of interest, such as town populations and
racial and ethnic subgroups. This is often due to the
small number of events or population sizes. Finally, some
data, particularly those obtained through certain
surveys, are based on self-reporting, and may over- or
under-estimate the prevalence of the heaith issue or
health behavior.

Despite these limitations, the key health indicators
included in the CHNA provide important insight into
health issues affecting NW (T residents to guide and
inform the health improvement planning process.
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POPULATION SIZE, GROWTH PROJECTIONS, AND
DEMOGRAPHIC HIGHLIGHTS

Table 1: Service Area Town Population, 2013

Demographic Indicator Service Area

Category Total
Population

Age Less than 18 Years Old 18,667 21%

Race and Fthnicity White 80,595 0%

Hispanic 4,795 5%

Source: Charloffe Hungerford Hospital (CHH) Community Health Profile November
2015 (2009-2013 ACS Census Data compiled by the CT Hospital Association).

Table 2: Census Population and Projections, 2015-2025

, 0
Barkhamsted 3798 | 3,883 3935 | 3988
Bethighem 3607 | 3,679 3,711 3,721
Colebrook 1485 | 1482 1467 | 1,445
Comwall 1420 | =383 1329 | 1,263
Goshen 2076 | 2092 | 3475 | 3240
Harwinton 5642 | 5740 5779 | 5789
Litchfield 8266 | 8464 | 6409 | 8203
Moris 2386 | 2434 2460 | 2475
New Hartford 6,970 | 7.296 7586 | s
Norfolk 1,709 1,711 1,698 1,675
Thomasfon 7887 | 8029 8112 | 8162
Torrington 36383 | 36937 | 37304 | 37685
Winchester 11,242 11,503 11,694 11,813
Litchfield County | 189927 | 192,189 | 103114 | 193,113
Connecticut | 3,574,007 | 3,644,546 | 3,702,472 | 3,746,184

Sources: hitp/factfinder.census.gov and CT Slate Data Cenler, University of
Connecticut

Figure 1: Age Distribution of SAT and Litchfield
County Population, 2012
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Source: hitp.Awww. cere. comAdownprofiles/county. asn ?county=Lifchield

Why Population Characteristics are Important

Improving and promoting the health of all NW CT residents
reguires an understanding of the influence of social and
economic factors on health. Social determinants of health
such as income levels, employmient status, educational
attainment, housing quality, environmental quality, and
community safety strongly impact access to care and health
outcomes,

The demographic characteristics of the region’s residents and
changes in population over time are important to consider in
examining the distribution of health issues across the region
and disparities among subpopulations. Population statistics
are reported for Litchfield County as a whole as well as for
the 13 service area towns (SATs) for Charlotte Hungerford
Hospital, which include: Barkhamsted, Bethlehem, Colebrook,
Cornwall, Goshen, Harwinton, Litchfield, Morris, New
Hartford, Norfolk, Thomaston, Torrington, and Winchester.

Findings in Northwest CT

As noted in the 2012 Litchfield County CHNA, the county’s
population increased by about 4% between 2000 and 2010,
which was below the state average of 5%. The region is
becoming increasingly diverse by race and ethnicity. During
the tast decade, the number of White residents increased at a
much slower rate (2%) compared with a 28% increase in the
number of Biack or African American residents, 36% increase
in number of Asian residents, and 119% increase in the
number of Hispanic or Latino residents.

The vast majority of county residents speak English {91%);
9% have a primary language other than English, and 3%
speak English less than “very well”. School district data for
K-12 students in the service area towns (SATs) show
between 0-7% of the student population is not fluent in
English.

As shown in Table 1, the total population in SATs in 2013 was
nearly 90,000. Population projections compiled by the CT
State Data Center (Table 2) show a slower future rate of
growth over the next ten years (from 2015-2025) of 0.5%
compared with a state average of nearly 3%. However,
population growth of 2% or greater is projected for the
communities of Barkhamsted, Goshen, New Hartford,
Torrington, and Winchester.

Based on 2014 CERC town profiles (reporting 2012 data), on
average the county had a fower percentage of persons under
age 18 and a higher percentage of persons ages 65 and over
than in the state. In the county, 22% of residents were
under 18 years of age, compared with 23% for the state, and
16% were ages 65 and over compared with 14% for the state.
There are considerable differences by service area town (SAT)
as seen in Figures 2 and 3, with Barkhamsted, Cornwall, and
Litchfield having the highest percentages of persons under
the age of 18 (23% each}, and Norfolk having the highest
percentage of persons ages 65 and over {23%}.
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Figure 2 Litchfield County Top 10 SATs with Highest % of Population
Under Age 18, 2012
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Figure 3: Litchfield County Top Ten SATs with Highest % of Population
Age 65 and Qver, 2012
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Figure 2 & 3 Source: hitp/www.cerc. comAownprofiles/county. asp?county=Lilchiield, 2(114

e

Figure 4 compares the Litchfield County population by age
from the 2010 Census te the most recent (2013) county
populzation estimates. As can be seen, the population over
age 55 has increased considerably, most notably persons
ages 65-74 due to the “baby boomer” generation advancing
to this age range. Also noteworthy is the reduction in the
population ages 0-9, due to declining birth rates over the last
decade, which is consistent with statewide trends.

Figure 4: Population of Litchfield County 2010 vs. 2013 by Age Group
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hitn.feww, ct. gov/dphrowp/view. asp?a=3132&0=489040
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SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS

Table 3: Litchfield County & SAT Economic Characteristics, 2010
and 2012

Barkhamsied 80,359 84,861 0.6
Bethlehem 85,096 80,884 44
Colebrook 71,608 71,691 34
Cormwall 77,243 78,021 123
Goshen 78,571 74,333 7.9
Harwinfon 80,943 88,429 4.6
Litchfield 73510 84,063 6.8
Morris £9.438 88,688 5.6
New Hartford 89,458 85,598 3.2
Norfolk 73428 78,214 6.6
Thomaston 62,898 67,426 2.7
Torringion 48514 50,648 11.2
Winchester 53,233 60,994 5.5
Litchfield Co. 70,291 71,345 6.2
CT 65,686 67,276 10.0
us 50,046 51,371 1.7

Source: CERC fown profiles, www. cerc.com: ilfp:/factfinder. censts.gov;
hitp:Awww.pschousing. org/news/Affordability-In-Connecticut-2010

Table 4: Students Eligible for Free Reduced Price Meals, 2011-2012
vs. 2012-2013 School Year

istrict:Name

Barkhamsted, Colebrook,

New Hartford, Norfolk

{Region 7) 8.4 9.3
Bethlehem (Region 1i4) 5.3 58
Comwall {Region 1) 20.3 19.2
Goshen, Morris {Region 6} 14.0 103
Harwinton (Region 10) 5.0 6.6
Litchfield 12.0 9.9
Thomaston 22.3 14.1
Torrington 45.7 48.9
Winchester 349 60.6
Connecticut 35.2 387

Source: hilp/sdeportal ¢t gov/CedarWEB/ResearchandReports/SSPRepors. aspx

Table 5: High School Graduation and Non-Graduation Rates
School Districts in Litchfield County, 2814

'Barkhamste:f, Colebrook, New Hartford, 984 16
Norfolk {(Region 7)

Bethlehem (Region 14} 97.6 1.0
Cornwall {(Region 1) §9.2 5.8
Goshen, Morris {Region 6) 93.5 54
Harwinton {Region 10} 94.8 2.8
Litchfield 955 3.0
Thomaston 93.0 NA
Torrington 875 82
Winchester - Gitbert 1.6 6.0
Winchester - Explorations 66.7 1.1
Connecticut 87.0 i3

Source: hifp:/www.sde.cf qow/sde/owpAview. asp?a=275854=334898
2014 Graduation and *non-graduation rates (not st enrofied)

Why Socioeconomic Status is Important

Socioeconomic status and health are strongly correlated,
with persons of higher socioeconomic status generally
experiencing better health status and access to health care,
Persons with higher socioeconomic status are also more
likely to live in safe neighborhoods, be steadily employed at
higher paying jobs with health benefits, and practice healthy
lifestyle behaviors. Thereis a growing body of research
suggesting that socioeconomic factors underlie many of the
observed racial, ethnic, and gender inequalities in health
status, and that socioeconomic factors are powerful
predictors of health status and health outcomes.

Findings in Northwest Connecticut

Educational Attainment: Based on Census data, from 2000-
2010 there was a favorable upward trend in the percentage
of county residents completing high school and attaining a
bachelor’s degree. The overall county average for high
school completion (96%) exceeded the state average (89%).
Not surprisingly, lower levels of educational attainment are
found in SATs with higher poverty rates and lower median
household incomes - Torrington and Winchester. As shown
in Table 5, gradusation rates for high school students in 2014
were consistently above the state average of 87%, with the
exception of Explorations in Winchester.

Income and Poverty: As shown in Table 3, consistent with
the state and nation, overall median household incomes
increased from 2010 to 2012 in the county, and in all SATs
with the exception of Bethlehem, Goshen, and New
Hartford. The poverty rate in SATs ranged from less than 1%
10 12%. The highest poverty levels were reported in
Torrington {11%) and Cornwall {12%), above the state
average of 10%.

Student eligibility for free or reduced school meals, a timely
indicator of financial hardship in families, decreased in
Litchfield, Thomaston, Region 1, Region 6, and Region 14 in
school years 2011-2012 to 2012-2013. Torrington,
Winchester, Region 7, and Region 10 had increases in the
percentage of students eligible for free or reduced school
meals, with the largest percentage increase in Winchester
compared with the previous school year. The school districts
with the highest % of students eligible for free reduced
meals were Torrington (47%) and Winchester {61%}.

Page | 10



HOUSING, HOMELESSNESS & COMMUNITY
SAFETY

Figure 5: Distribution of Sheltered and Unsheltered Popuiation,
2013

Homeless Persons in Connecticut, Sheltered and
Unsheltered, 2013

& Adits without Chitdren
% Adults wilth Children
s Children in Families

# Unaccompanied
Children

Source: CT PIT 2013

Total Homeless = 4,506

Tabie 6: Unstably Housed Youth {UHY) Reported by Teachers
and Students, 2015

hiool

Hartford (3

schools) 1159 204 17.6% 221 19.1
Bridgeport 492 93 18.9% 104 211
Meriden 681 133 19.5% 118 17.3
New Britain 1187 214 18.5% 221 1841
New Haven 228 47 208% 41 178
Torrington 895 145 16.2% 107 11.9
Waterbury 827 124 148% 118 142
TOTALS 5439 860 18.0% 930 17.2

Source: 2015 Report on Homelessness In Connectictt

hitps:Aeqa.of gowhsg/relaled/20 150507 Reports,%20Briefings%208%20Updates
/Connecticui%20Coalifion%20fo%20End% 20Homelessness %20~
%202015%20Report%20on%20Homelessness%20in%20Connechicut?20.odf

Table 7: Litchfield County and CT Crime Rates, 2014

# Rate # Rate # Rate
Murder 2 1.0 k1 1.3 88 24
Rape 18 9.4 518 176 790 20
Robbery 24 125 1,163 394 3,168 88.2
ggravaled oo | ase | 1963 | see | 4249 | 1239
Assault
Burglary A7 211.8 8,260 2800 | 12,005 334.2
Larceny 1865 | 9705 | 36614 | 1,241.3 | 51,248 | 14267
Motor Vehicie
Theft 103 536 3,087 104.7 6,100 189.8
Arson 10 5.2 185 6.3 299 83
Crime Index Total 2,509 | 13056 | 51,642 | 1,750.8 | 77,846 | 2,167.2
Source:

hitp:Aweanw. dpsdata. of gowdps/ucr/datal2014/Crime% 20in%20Connecticul%2020 14. pdf
(Rates are per 100,000 persons)

Why Housing, Homelessness, and Community Safety
are Important

Having a safe and affordable place to live is paramount to
individual and family physical and emotional health and well-
being. The age, condition, and cost of housing are important,
as is the level of safety found within the community.

Findings in Northwest CT

The U.5. Department of Housing and Urban Development
(HUD) defines cost-burdened renters or homeowners as
those who pay more than 30% of their income for rent or
mortgage payments. According to U.S. Census 2008-2012
American Community Survey data, 48% of renter households
in the county are cost-burdened and 41% of households who
are paying a home mortgage are cost-burdened.

The National Low Income Housing Coalition’s 2015 Out of
Reach Report indicates that Connecticut is the 8th most
expensive state in the nation for housing. In Litchfield
County, the hourly wage needed to afford a two-bedroom
fair market rate apartment is $19.81 per hour, more than
twice the minimum wage <hftp.//niihc.arg/oor/connecticut>.
Each lanuary, the Connecticut Coalition to End Homelessness
{CCEH) coordinates a Point-in-Time Count (PIT), fo collect
data on the exact number of persons experiencing
homelessness on a single night in defined geographic areas.
The breakdown by type for 2013 is shown in Figure 5.
According to PIT data for 2015, the number of homeless
individuals in CT was 4,047, compared with 4,506 in 2013.

The NW CT Collaborative for the Education of Homeless
Children and Youth is a partnership between the Torrington
Public Schools and EDUCATION CONNECTION, the Regional
Educational Service Center in the county. This CSDE-funded
initiative provides wraparound academic, social, and
emotional support services to children living in homeless
families, using the McKinney-Vento definition. In 2013-2014,
129 chitdren in Torrington (pre-K through grade 12) were
identified as homeless. As shown in Table 6, in response to a
2015 survey administered by CCEH, 12% of teacher and
student respondents in the Torrington public schools
reported they were aware of at least 1 unstably housed
youth.

In terms of community safety, the Uniform Crime Reporting
Program (URC) measures the extent, fluctuation, and
distribution of crime in communities across the U.S.

Eight offenses were chosen to form the Crime Index, as
shown in Table 7. All 102 CT police departments participate in
the UCR Program. Litchfield County’s overall 2014 crime
index compares favorably with the state total average and
the state average for non-urban (population < 100,000) areas,
and has favorably declined since 2010.

Page | 11




STATE AND COUNTY HEALTH RANKINGS &
BEHAVIORAL RISK FACTORS
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STATE AND COUNTY HEALTH RANKINGS &
BEHAVIORAL RISK DATA

Figure 6: County Health Rankings Weighting Structure

Mﬁmemm
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Source: 2015 County Health Rankings @ www. counfyhealthrankings.org

Why Health Rankings and Behavioral Risk Data Are
Important

Promoting healthier communities is greatly enhanced by
information on the health status of the population and
information on health behaviors and lifestyle factors that
influence health outcomes. A number of indicators are used
to describe the health status of residents in a specific
geographic area. These include the presence or absence of
health promoting behaviors; access to and utilization of
health screenings, primary care and specialized heatth care
services; the incidence and prevalence of chronic and
communicable diseases; and the leading causes of premature
death and disability. National health initiatives such as County
Health Rankings and the CDC's Community Health Status
Indicators (CHSI) track and report county level health status
data on an annuat basis, to monitor indicators over time. The
County Health Rankings, a collaboration of the University of
Wisconsin’s Population Health Institute and the Robert Wood
Johnson Foundation, compare counties within a given state
to each other, whereas the CHSI compares counties to
reference “peer counties” across the nation. Behavioral Risk
Factor Surveillance Survey (BRFSS) data are collected annually
by DPH, using a standardized random telephone survey for
adults ages 18 and over developed by CDC.

Findings in Northwest CT
County Health Rankings

The 2015 County Health Rankings ranks CT counties based on
health outcomes and health factors. Counties receive a
Heaith Outcome rank based on mortality and morbidity
indicators and a Health Factor rank based on health
behaviors, clinical care, social-economic factors, and the
physical environment. Figure 6 shows the weighting structure
used to calculate the rankings. This quantifies the influence of
personal health behaviors, clinical care, social and economic
factors and the physical environment in which we live and
work.

According to Healthy People 2010, individual behaviors and
social-environmental factors together account for about 70%

of premature deaths in the U.S. Health promoting lifestyle

behaviors such as avoiding tobacco, illicit drug, and excessive S
alcohol use; healthy eating; regular physical activity; and i
managing stress are key to reducing the burden of chronic

disease and premature death in NW CT residents.

Within CT, counties are ranked from 1 to 8 on health
factors and outcomes, with a rank of one being the
“healthiest”. Health outcomes represent the overall health
of the county; health factors represent what influences the
health of the county. Health outcomes are based on an
equal weighting of mortality (how long people live) and
morbidity (how healthy peopte feel) factors. In 2015,
Litchfield County ranked 4th out of the eight CT counties
for both health factors and health outcomes.
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Table 8: Litéhﬁeld County Health Indicators, 2015

Health Qutcomes

Length of Life

Poor physical health days

6.8-7.7%

Low birthweight

Health Factors

Adult obesity

T om | o |

18-22%

Physical inactivity

Excessive drinking

Sexually ransmitied infections

TS R R

Primary care physicians

Mental health providers

0% * 0% 0%

1%

83% 82-64%

Driving alone o work 9%

Sourge; 2015 County Heaith Rankings @ www. Counfyheatthrankings.org

* Not Applicable

As noted in Table 8, Litchfield County meets National
Benchmarks and compares favorably to the state on a
number of health status indicators including: residents
reporting poor or fair health, prevalence of adult obesity and
physical inactivity, healthy food environments, teen births,
sexually transmitted infections, health insurance, and
children in poverty. The county does not meet National
Benchmarks but compares favorably to the state for: low
birthweight, preventable hospital stays, alcohol-impaired
driving deaths, diabetic monitoring and has comparable rates
for poor physical and mental health days, and excessive
drinking.

Other county health status indicators that do not meet
National Benchmarks include premature death; adult
smoking; excessive drinking (county rate is almost double the
National Benchmark); ratio of primary care physicians,
dentists, and mental health providers; mammography
screening; and injury deaths.

Behavioral Risk Factors

The Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) is an
ongeing random telephone survey of adults ages 18 and over
conducted in all 50 states using a standardized questionnaire
developed by CDC. The BRFSS originaily only collected data
on health behaviors related to the leading causes of death,
but has since expanded to include survey questions related to
heaith care access, utilization of preventive health services,
and emerging health issues.

Comparative BRFSS data for communities in the service area
of Torrington Area Health District {TAHD} in NW CT and the
state were collected in 2012 and are presented in Figures 7-9
on the following page. In general, TAHD area residents
reported similar rates (identicat or within 1 point) as the
overall state average related to current hinge drinking,
overweight and obesity, not being able to afford medical
costs, not having a primary care physician, not seeing a
dentist in the past year, and having a heart attack, heart
disease, or stroke.

Area residents more frequently reported the foliowing
negative health behaviors: heavy drinking; current smoking;
not having their blood sugar tested; not having a check-up in
the past year, not having a flu shot, and not having a Pap
smear or PSA screening than state residents on average.
None of these differences were statistically significant.

Looking at responses by gender and income |levels, male
residents more frequently reported: good/excellent health,
current alcohol use, current binge drinking®, current smoking,
overweight/obesity*, no blood sugar testing, not having a
primary care physician, no check-up within the past year*,
not being able to afford medical care, not seeing a dentist
within the past year, not having a flu shot*, and not having
colorectal screening than female residents. Females more
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Table 9: Litchfield County CHSI indicators, 2015

Best (most Moderate (middie Warse {least

favorable quariile) two quartiles} favorable quartile}
i o i

Mortality

Morbidity

Health Care
Access and
Quality

Health
Behaviors

Social Factors

Physical
Environment

- fagithyfood Hotising stress

Source: hffp.Awwwn. cdc. qov'CommunityHealtvprofile/currentorofife/C T/ ifchfield/

Figure 10: Current Smokers Among Adults, by Educational
Attainment, Connecticut, 2000, 2010, 2013

| ! .
College Graduate 2000
#2010
Some College/Tech School 2013
HS degree or G.ED.
Less than HS degree 0
] 10 20 30 40

Percent

The Community Health Status Indicators (CHSI) is an online
web application that produces health status profiles for each
county in the United States. Each county profile contains
indicators of health outcomes {mortality and morbidity);
indicators on factors selected based on evidence that they
potentially have an important influence on population health
status {e.g., health care access and quality, health behaviors,
social factors, physical environment); health outcome
indicators stratified by subpopulations {e.g., race and
ethnicity); important demographic characteristics; and
Healthy People 2020 {HP 2020) targets. A key feature of CHSI
2015 is the ability for users to compare the value of each
indicator with those of demographically similar “peer
counties,” as well as to the U.S. as 2 whole, and to HP 2020
targets.

Litchfield Courity’s rankings compared to “peer counties”
across the U5, based on similar sociodemographic
characteristics are presented in Table 9. Health Indicators of
concern include: Alzheimer's/dementia, asthma and
depression in older adults, and adult binge drinking.

Examination of statewide BRFSS data is also useful, as this
provides additional comparisons by population subgroups not
possible in county fevel data due to the relatively smal!
sampling size. Tobacco use data Is particularly important, as
according to CDC, tobacco use is the feading cause of
preventabie death in the United States. Disparities in the
prevalence of smoking by income and educational attainment
are apparent. As shown In Figure 10, in 2013, CT residents
with less than a high school diploma were more than 3 times
more likely to report they were current smokers than
residents with a college degree. Likewise, high biood
pressure and high blood cholesterol were more frequently
reported by CT residents with lower educational attainment,

Figure 11: Adults Toid by Provider They Had High
Blood Pressure or High Cholesterol, by Educational
Attainment, CT 2011-2013

50 Al
- 39.9 #Less than
5 g 40 H.S. Grad
L% 3t9
a2 309 303
2% 84 ahS
=¥ GradiG.ED
< 9
=
20
i2Some
College
w#College
0 Grad

High Blood Pressure High Cholesterol

Source:  CT Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2000, 2010CT DPH: Stats
and Reports, 2013

hitp:fwww.ct.gov/dph/cwpiview. asp?a=31374&q=388070&dphNav=1&dphNav GID=18
41

Source: Prevalence of High B.P. by Educational Attainment, CT, 2011-2013;
hittp:themaw. of govidplidib/doh/hems/chronic_dis/hearidisease/burden_of cardiovascula
r_diseases_in_connecticul apr2015 web final pof
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LEADING CAUSES OF DEATH AND
HOSPITALIZATION




LEADING CAUSES OF DEATH AND HOSPITALIZATION

Figure 12: Age-Adjusted Mortality Rate for Leading
o0 Causes of Death, Connecticut vs. U.5. Rankings, 2012

Rate per 100,000

Source: hifp:fwww. cdc.gowinchis/pressroom/states/CT 2014, pdf
Figure 13: Ali-Cause Mortality, By Town, Connecticut, 2008-2010
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Source: CT Department of Public Healih, Health Stafistics & Surveillance, Stafistics &
Analysis Reporting, 2006-2010; as cited in Healthy CT 2020
hip:#feww. ot gov/doh/bwpAiew. asp?a=313060=5423464PM=1

Figure 14: Age-Adjusted Premature Mortality

{Years of Potential Life Lost) for Leading Causes of
Death, Connecticut, 2011

Cancer
Heart Disease
Unintentional Injuries
Drug induced deaths §
Suicide

Infectious & Parasitic diseases |

Homicide &

0 500 1000 1500
Years of Potential Life Lost (YPLL) per 100,000 Population

Source: CT Department of Public Health, Age-adiusted YPLL hefore 75 years of age,
2007-2011; htip:Awww. of gov/dph/cwe/view,asp?a=31328q=521462

Why Leading Causes of Death and Hospitalization Are
Important

Examining the leading causes of death (mortality) and illness
{morbidity) provides insight into the major health issues
affecting the population in a geographic area. Fortunately,
improvements in detecting and treating the teading causes
of death, such as heart disease and cancer, have resulted in
a steady decline in mortality rates over the past several
decades. Indicators of the extent of illness in a population
such as hospitalization and emergency department (ED) visit
rates provide useful information about the burden of
chronic and acute health conditions on area residents and
the health care system. Looking at preventable
hospitalizations is especially important, as this provides an
indication of the availability and utilization of primary care
services in the community. Examining disparities in the
distribution of health conditions and diseases is critical to
identifying vulnerable population groups and to targeting
health promotion, screening, diagnostic, and treatment
services for residents in the community.

Findings in the State and NW CT

Heart Disease has historically been the leading cause of death
in the nation, state and in our region, closely followed by
Cancer. As noted in Figure 12, these two causes of death
account for more deaths than the next three leading causes of
death — Chronic Lower Respiratory Disease, Stroke, and
Unintentional injuries {accidents} — combined. Differencesin
age-adjusted mortality rates (AAMR), as shown in Figure 13,
are evident by municipality across the state and in the region.
Age-adjusted mortality rates correct for differences in the age
distribution in a given population, allowing comparisons from
one geographic area to another. The following service area
towns (SAT) had AAMRs in the highest (least desirable)
quartile in the state: Barkhamsted and Morris.

Age-adjusted premature mortality is measured in years of
potential life lost {YPLL), YPLL indicates the burden of
premature deaths in a given population. As shown in Figure
14, for CT residents, Cancer, Heart Disease, and
Unintentional Injuries were the primary causes of
premature mortality, followed by drug-induced deaths.
Within the service area, rates were highest in Barkhamsted,
Bethlehem, Thomaston, Torrington, and Winchester (See
Figure 15 on following page}.
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Figure 15; All-Cause Premature Morality, By Town, CT, 2006-2010

S ) " B 2

Source: CT Department of Public Health, Health Statistics & Surveillance, Statistics &
Analysis Reporting, 2006-2010; as cited ir Healfhy CT 2020

Table 10; AAMR Rates by Cause, Race, and Ethnicity, CT and Litchfield
County, 2008-2012

Cause of Death

Backus K, Muefier L (2015) Age-Adjusted Mortality Rates by Race/Ethnicity for Lifchfield County
and Conneclicuf, 2008-2012. CT Depariment of Public Health.

Nofes: Rates that are hased on < 5 deaths are suppressed and indicafed by a dash (-).
Rates noted with a (%} are based on < 15 deaths and should be inferpreted with caulion,

As shown in Table 10, overall Age-Adjusted Mortality Rates
(AAMR) in 2008-2012 were higher {by one point or more)
than the state rates for county residents for major
cardiovascular diseases (CVD), chronic jower respiratory
diseases (CLRD), chronic liver disease and cirrhosis, accidents,
and alcohol and drug induced causes of death.

By race and ethnicity, deaths from all causes were highest in
Black or African American residents in both the state and
county; however AAMRs for Black residents were
considerably fower in Litchfield County than in the state.
Overall mortality rates in the state and county were lowest
for Hispanic or Latino residents, which is consistent with the
findings from the 2012 Community Health Needs Assessment
(CHNA). This may be due in part to underreporting of
ethnicity on death certificates.

Death rates were lower {by one point or more} for White
residents of Litchfield County compared with the state
average for White residents for malignant neoplasms {(cancer)
and diabetes, and higher (by one point or more) than the
state average for all causes, major CvD, CLRD, chronic liver
disease and cirrhosis, accidents, and alcohol induced deaths.

AAMR rates for many causes of death for Black or African
American and Hispanic or Latino residents in the county are
not indicated in Table 10 due to the small number of events
(<5 deaths in the 5 year period). For rates based on 5 or
more deaths in the 5-year time interval, AAMRs were lower
for Black or African American county residents than the state
average for all-cause mortality, and identical to the state rate
for major CVD. AAMR rates were higher for Black or African
American residents than the state average for malignant
neoplasms.

For Hispanic or Latino county residents, AAMR rates that
could be calculated were lower than the siate rates for all
causes, malignant neoplasms, and accidents. AAMR rates
were higher for Hispanic or Latino county residents than state
residents for major CVD.
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Table 11: Hospitalization Rates by Race and Ethnicity, CT
and Litchfield County, 2008-2012 (Per 100,000 Residents)

Source: CT Department of Public Health, Office of Health Care Access inpatient
Discharge Database System (Data compiled by CT Department of Public Health)

Figure 16: Emergency Department Visit Rates, CT and Litchfield County,
2008-2012 (Per 100,000 Residents}

Emergency Department Visit Rates,Excluding Newborns
& Conditions Related to Pregnancy & Childbirth

Hispanic Lating

Black N/H

White N/H

Litchfield County

Male

Female

Hispanic Latino

Black N/H

White N/H

Connecticut

Male

Female

10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 70,000

Source: CT Hospital Association CHIME Emergency Department Datahase System
(Data compited by CT Department of Public Health, Offce of Health Care Access).

Examination of hospitalization and emergency department
visit rates are indicators of the extent of acute and chronic
illness in the population, and disparities in the frequency of
use of these services by different population subgroups. As
shown in Table 11, females in the state and in the county had
higher overall rates of hospitalization {conditions related to
pregnancy and childbirth were exciuded). Looking at the
frequency of hospitalization by race and ethnicity indicates
higher rates of hospitalization for White county residents
than the state average, and considerably lower rates of
hospitalization for Black or African Americans and Hispanic or
Latino county residents than the overall average for state
residents.

Hospitalization rates by race and ethnicity for conditions
related to pregnancy and childbirth followed the same trends
as hospitalization rates excluding these conditions. Rates
were higher than the state average for White female county
residents and considerably lower for Black or African
American and Hispanic or Latino female county residents.
Rates of hospitalization were lower on average for newborns
in the county {males and females) than in the state overall.
Mirroring pregnancy and childbirth hospitalizations, newborn
hospitalization rates were slightly higher for White newborns
in the county and considerably lower for Black or African
American and Hispanic or Latino newborns.

Emergency department visit rates for conditions other than
pregnancy and childbirth are shown in Figure 16. Overall
emergency room visit rates are lower than the state average
for both male and female county residents. Looking at
differences by race and ethnicity, emergency department
visit rates were lower for Hispanic or Latino county residents
and higher for Whites and Black or African American
residents than the state averages for these same population
subgroups.

As noted in the Department of Pubiic Health’s Office of
Health Care Access Databook Preventable Hospitalizations in
Connecticut, 2008 - 2012, “Preventable hospitalizations” are
instances of inpatient hospital care for Ambulatory Care
Sensitive Conditions {ACSCs). These hospitalizations are
considered “preventable” because timely and effective
primary care and medical management have been clinically
demonstrated to reduce the need for hospitalization. The
Prevention Quality Indicators (PQIs) tool developed by the
Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) helps
assess the quality of and access to health care in the
community. A team of national experts identified ACSCs for
which effective primary care significantly reduces the
incidence of hospitalization. Although these indicators are
based on hospital inpatient data, they provide insight into the
quality of the health care system outside the hospital setting.
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Table 12: Prevention Quality Indicators (PQI} rates for Connecticut and
2 00

et
Overall p

Overall adult PQI rate

Overall pediatric PQ rate ) 83
Adult Quality Indicators {Ages

405. 4 14 :
Qverall adult PQI rate 1,414 430 1,289 1,242

Source: CT DPH Office of Health Care Access Acifa Care Hospital Discharge Database
1Condition-specific rates - Populations are those who had appendicifis and alf births.
These rates are per 100 appendisitis hospitalizations or 100 births. Low birth weight
newhoms are grouped with the adult PQI condifions because low birth weight is relafed fo
the mother's prenatal care.

As noted in the OHCA Databook, although other factors
outside the direct control of the health care system such as
poor environmental conditions or fack of patient adherence
to treatment recommendations can result in hospitalization,
the PQls provide a good starting point for assessing guality of
health services in the community.

Using the AHRQ PQls, the Office of Heaith Care Access
(OHCA} analyzed hospital admissions for ACSCs utilizing acute
care inpatient hospital discharge data for the state and
Litchfield County in 2013. This yielded the data presented in
Table 12 which is helpful in examining the quality of and
access to appropriate primary care within the county as
compared with the state as a whole.

The overall pediatric PQJ rate is considerably lower in the
county when compared with the state average (28 vs. 128 per
100,000 population). This is true for all ACSCs, with the
exception of perforated appendix {county rate is identical to
the state rate).

The overall adult PGl is also lower in the county than the
state average, however the difference is less dramatic. Thisis
true for all conditions with the exception of bacterial
pneumonia, low birth weight newborns (county and state
rate are identical), and perforated appendix.

In relation to differences by race and ethnicity, both pediatric
and adult PQls were consistently lower than state PQls for all
races and ethnicities. Within the county, the overall pediatric
(ages 0-17) PQI was highest for Hispanic children. The overall
adult PQI was highest for Black or African American adults,
followed by Whites, and lowest for Hispanic or Latinos.

Disparities within racial and ethnic subgroups in the county
are apparent, in PQ rates for both children and adults. PQI
rates for asthma and hypertension in Black or African
Americans adults were double the rate or more in White or
Hispanic aduit residents. For children, PQ! rates for diabetes
short-term complications and perforated appendix in
Hispanic children were more than double the rate in White
non-Hispanic children.

Emergency Department visit rates for selected diagnoses
presented in Figure 17 show rates for heart disease and
stroke were higher in Litchfield County than in the state
overall; mental health and alcohol and drug abuse visit rates
were lower than the state rates.

Figure 17: Emergency Department Visit Rates

Domestic Violence 1 2010-?014
Traumatic Brain Injury s
Alooho & Drug Abuse L s S e
Heart Disease & Stroke s . : :
0 500 1000 1500

: Litchfield County @ Connecticit

Sovrce: CT Department of Public Health, Office of Heaith Care Access inpafient
discharge dafabase system and CHA/CHIME Emergency Depariment database
system. Rafe per 100,000 popuiation. Number of dischargesivisits represants events,
nof unigite persons.

Page | 21




Figure 18: Hospital Utilization by Type of Encounter, 2014

Hospital Utilization - Overall

Cutpatient
Observation
T
Newbom -
1%

Figure 13: Most Common Medical Diagnoses in
Hospitalized Patients, 2014

Frequency
Heart Failure
[2Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
Depression
£ Diabetes - Type |l
Ea High Blood Pressure

Figure 20: Most Common Medical Diagnoses in ED
Non-Admissions, 2014

Freguency
EHigh Blood Pressure #ralls
zDiabetes - Type Il M Asthma

£3 Alcohol and Substance Abuse

Figure 18-20 Source: The Connecticut Hospital Association FY 2014 CHIMEData

The Connecticut Hospital Association provides data collection
and reporﬁng services for its acute care hospital members
through the ChimeData program. ChimeData is the most
comprehensive hospital database in the state. ChimeData
collects discharge data from inpatient admissions, hospital-
based outpatient surgery, and emergency department (ED)
non-admissions. Fiscal year (FY} 2014 data were analyzed and
evaluated by CHA for the Charlotte Hungerford Hospital
designated service area. Patient encounter data were
extracted for those zip codes identified as being part of the
hospital service area, including: Barkhamsted (06063),
Bethlehem (06751), Colebrook {06021), Cornwall {06753},
Goshen (06756}, Harwinton (06791}, New Hartford (D6057),
Norfolk (06058), Litchfield (06759), Morris (06763),
Thomaston (06778}, Torrington (06790), and Winchester
(06098).

Hospital utilization data for Fiscal Year 2014 is presented in
Figures 18-20. This data represents patient encounters
across all CHA member hospitals with discharges from the 13
zip codes in CHH's service area. The highest frequency of
hospital-based service utifization was for Emergency
Department (ED} visits thai did not result in an inpatient
hospital stay; two-thirds of encounters in the service area
were ED-based. The next highest areas of utilization were for
outpatient surgical and inpatient services respectively,

As shown in Figure 19, the most prevalent medical diagnoses
for persons hospitalized in the service area were
Hypertension (High Blood Pressure}, followed by Type Il
Diahetes, Depression, Chronic Obsiructive Pulmonary
Disease, and Heart Failure. Hypertension was also the most
common medical diagnosis in persons seen in the emergency
department (ED} who did not reguire hospitalization,
followed by falls, Type I Diabetes, Asthma, and Alcohol and
Substance Abuse. Itisimportant to note that the data
presented in Figures 19-20 does not reflect the primary
reason for the ED visit or hospitalization.

CHH Behavioral Health Services data for primary and
secondary mental health diagnoses (DSM-5) for hospitalized
patients from 2013-2015 are shown in Figure 21 below.
Episodic Mood Disorders, Depressive Disorder, and
Schizophrenia were the top 3 behavioral health diagnoses.

Figure 21: Behavioral Health-Related Hospitalizations
By Diagnosis, CHH, 8/30/13 to 8/3115

Oppositional Defiant Disorder 3
Unspecified Adjustment Reaction
Disturbance of conduct
Alcohol Dependence Syndrome
Nondependent abuse of drugs
Anxiety State Unspecified
Alcohot Withdrawal
Suicidal Ideation
Schizophrenia
Depressive Disorder |
Other §
Episodic Mood Disorders 3

0 5 10 15 20 25
Percent

Source: Charlofte Hungerford Hospital-Behavicral Health Services, 2015
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ASSESSMENT OF KEY HEALTH INDICATORS
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MATERNAL AND INFANT HEALTH

Figure 22: Birth Rate, by Race and Ethnicity,
Connecticut, 2000-2011
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Source: Connecticut Department of Public Health: CT DPH, Vital Statistics,
http:-/waw.ct gov/dph/ewp/view. asp?a=3132&q=394598&dphNav GID=1601; as cifed
in Healthy CT 2020

Figure 23: Birth Rate to Teen Mothers (15-19 Years of Age), By Town,
2007-2011
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Figure 24: Percent of Mothers Who Received Late Prenatal Care, By
Town, Connecticut, 2007-2011
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Figure 23 & 24 Source; Connecticut Dépar%meﬁf of Pubic Heah‘hm, Health Statistics &
Surveiliance, Stafistics & Analysis Reporting, 2007-2011; as cited in Healthy CT 2020

Why Maternal and Infant Health Are important

The health and well-being of mothers and infants are crucial to
the future health of a community, its economic stability, and
overall quality of life. Maternal health during pregnancy is
correlated with both positive birth outcomes and improved
health status in infants. Adequate and timely prenatal care is
important to assuring the best possible birth outcomes. Births
occurring in the early and late stages of a woman’s
repreductive period - prior to age 20 and after age 40 - present
health risks to both the mother and her infant.

Teen pregnancies often carry additional social, emotional and
financial burdens, as teen mothers are more fikely to be single
parents, unemployed or low wage earners, and lack the
support systems to enable them to continue with their
education. Pregnancies in older women are more likely to
include the use of assistive reproductive technologies (ART) to
conceive, which increases the risk of multiple birth
pregnancies, preterm delivery, and low birthweight infanis
(Healthy CT 2020). In addition, necnatal abstinence syndrome,
a condition in which infants are born addicted to prescription
or illicit drugs, is an emerging issue in maternai and infant
health in Connecticut and the nation.

Birth rates are a primary indicator of the population growth in
a given area.

Findings in the State and NW CT

As shown in Figure 22, birth rates have been declining for more
than a decade overall in the state’s major ethnic and racial
groups. This trend includes births to teens in all major racial
and ethnic groups. The overall rate of teen births in T has
declined by nearly 50% over the past decade, with the jowest
decline in Hispanic or Latino teens. The number of births to
teen mothers is too low to calculate reliabie rates in many
SATs; rates in Winchester and Torrington rank in the second
highest quartile compared with the state as a whole.

Regardless of the mother’s age, receiving late or inadequate
prenatal care is a well-established risk factor for poor birth
outcomes such as preterm (premature) and low birthweight
births. For SATs with reliable rates, these were lower (more
favorable) than the state average.

Preterm and low birthweight births are associated with higher
infant mortality rates and heatth problems such as neurological
and respiratory conditions and developmental delays. Risk
factors for preterm and low birthweight births include:
multiple-birth pregnancies, lack of prenatal care, inadequate
weight gain in pregnancy, and smoking or drug use during
pregnancy. In addition, women who are Black or African
American are at disproportionate risk for iow birthweight
births.

Again, the rate for preterm and low birthweight births cannot
be reliably calculated for many SATs due to the small number
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Figure 25: Percent of Low Birthweight Births, By Town, Connecticut,
2007-2011
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Figure 24 & 25 Source: Conneclicul Department of Public Heaith, Healfh Statistics &
Surveillance, Stafistics & Analysis Reporfing, 2007-2011 as cited in Healthy CT 2020.

Figure 27: Percent of Women Who Report That They Smoked Tobacco
During Pregnancy, By Town, Connecticut, 2006-2010
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Source: Connecticut Depariment of Public Health, Heaith Stafistics & Surveiflance,
Statistics & Analysis Reporting, Birth Ceriificates, 2006-2010, a5 oifed in Healthy CT 2020.

of events; for those with sufficient numbers, rates in
Torrington and Winchester are in the second highest quartile
for low birthweight births and highest quartile for preterm
births in the state. Notably, based on birth certificate data,
mothers in these two communities reported the highest levels
of smoking during pregnancy as well.

infant Mortality is a strong indicator of the overali health of a
nation, state, and community. Infant Mortality Rates (IMR)
overall have deciined in the U.S. and in Connecticut due to
advances in prenatal and neonatal care, however significant
disparities persist among racial and ethnic subgroups. As
shown in Figure 28, Infant Mortality Rates in Connecticut are
highest for Black or African American infants, followed by
Hispanic or Latino infants, and lowest for White infants.

Figure 28: Infant Mortality in CT by Race/Ethnicity, 2012 2
15
118

2

E 10
o

E
£
@
a

t

All White Black, non- Hispanic
Races/Ethnicities Hispanic

Source: CT Dept, of Fublic Health, Vital Stafisiics, Registrafion Reports, 2012
hitp:Aweew.cf govidph/cwp/view.asp?a=31328q=394558

In 2010-2012, Infant Mortality Rates in Litchfield County were
nearly twice the state rate as shown in Table 13 below.
According to analyses performed by the CT Department of
Public Health, these differences were statistically significant
{p <.05). This difference is attributed in part to the higher
proportion of multipie-birth pregnancies in Litchfield County
mothers compared with the state, & known risk factor for
poorer birth cutcomes. IMRs for singleton births in the
county are also higher than in the state during this time
period; however these differences were not reperted by DPH
to be statistically significant.

Table 13: Infant Mortality Rates, Litchfieid County and CT, 2010-2012

Infant
Deaths

Births

Source: CT Dept of Public Health, Vital Stefistics, Registrafion Reports, 2010-2312
(Data compifed by CT Department of Public Health)
MR = Deaths in infants less than 1 year of age per 1,600 Live Births

Page | 25



CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH

Figure 29: Percent of Children (5-12 Years) Who Were
Reported to be Obese, Connecticut 2012
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Figure 30: Percent of Overweight and Obese

Students {Grades 8-12), by Sex, CT, 2013
20 = Male

15 143 425 139 14.5 & Female

wBoth
Sexes

Percent

Overweight Obese

Source: Youth Risk Behavior Surveitance - Connecficut 2013;
httpdwww.ct govidph/lib/doh/hisr/pdicshs ybe2(3 repori pdf

Table 14: Percentage of K-12 Students Passing All Four Physical
Fitness Components, 2012-2013

Litchfield )
Harwinton {Region 10 60.2
Bethlehem (Region 14) 56.8

Thomaston 491
Cornwall {Region 1) 438
Barkhamsted, Culebrooi_(, New Hartford, Norfolk 498

(Region 7)

Goshen, Morris (Region 6) 415
Torrington 343
Winchester 228

State 511

Source: hitp:/sdeportal.cf gowCedat/WEB/cf report/CedarHome.aspx

Figure 31; Percentage of Middle and High School Students Currently
Smoking Ciaarettes by Year, School Level, and Sex, 2000-2013
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hitn: e, ot govidph/Aib/dph/hemsAobacco/pdffyouith frends factsheet 2014 pdf

Why Child and Adolescent Health Are Important

There is increasing evidence that poor health statusin
childhood and adolescence - such as overweight and obesity -
increases the risk of developing chronic diseases later in life.
Establishing positive personal health behaviors during
childhood and adolescence - healthy eating; being physically
active; avoiding the use of tobacce, alcohol, and illicit drugs;
and receiving primary care for the early detection and
treatment of physical and/or mental health issues - are
critical to health maintenance.

Findings in the State and NW CT

Obesity and overweight in children, adolescents, and adults
have reached epidemic proportions in the U.S. According to
CDC, childhood obesity has more than doubled in children
and quadrupled in adolescents in the past 30 years; in 2012,
more than one out of every three children and adolescents
were overweight or obese. The long-term health
consequences of childhood and adolescent obesity are
serious. Youth who are obese are more likely to experience
social and psychological problems due to poor self-esteem.
They are more likely to be overweight adults, and
consequently are at greater risk for developing heart disease,
hypertension, Type Il Diabetes, stroke, osteoarthritis, and
certain types of cancer. Source: CDC, Adolescent and School
Health, htip://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/obesity/facts htm.

According to 2012 BRFSS results, one in five T children was
obese according to Body Mass Index {(BMI) for age standards.
For children living in households with incomes below
$35,000, this increased to one in every three children (based
on adult parent responses to BRFSS guestions).

The DPH 2013 CT School Health Survey - Youth Risk Behavior
Component indicates that CT youth are more likely than their
counterparts nationwide to be physically active five or more
days per week {47% versus 27%) and less likely to spend
three or more hours per day in front of a television (24%
versus 33%) or a computer screen {37% versus 41%). Related
to healthy eating practices, the report found that only 1in 10
CT high school students consume the recommended 5 or
more servings of fruits and vegetables per day. Source:
hitp:/fwww.ct.gov/dph/lib/doh/hisr/pdffcshs ybc2013 report.pdf,

Another measure of the leve! of physical fitness in youth is
the percentage of students in local school districts passing all
four components of state physical fitness tests. These include
aerobic endurance, flexibility, muscular strength and
endurance. Results for K-12 students enrolied in school
districts within the county are presented in Table 14. In
general, less affluent districts in the county scored lowest.

Smoking is the single most avoidable cause of chronic disease
and death. Asshown in Figure 31, based on CT Youth
Tobaceco Survey results, rates of cigarette smoking in
adolescents have shown a dramatic decline from 2000-2013.
in both middle school and high school, Hispanic or Latino
students had the highest smoking rates.
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Figure 32: Current Alcohol Use and Binge Drinking
Among Students (Grades 9-12), Connecticut 2005 - 2013
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Figure 33: licit Drug Use Among Students (Grades 9-
12}, by Sex, Connecticut, 2013
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Figure 34: Non-Medical Use of Pain Relievers in Past
Year, by Age Group, CT, 2012-2013
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In high school, non-Hispanic Blacks had the lowest smoking
rates. National and state statistics indicate that the use of e-
cigarettes and hookahs by high school students is increasing.
in fact, e-cigarette use by high schocl youth is considerably
higher in CT (5.3%) than in the U.S, overall {2.8%). Sources:
http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/oreview/mmwrhtml/mm6414a3.htm:

hitp:/fwww. lung.org/ehout-us/media/press-releases/e-cigarette-
use-triples-in-nonsmokinr-youth.htmi
hitp:/fwww.ct.gov/doh/lib/dph/hems/tobacco/pdf/connecticut vou

th_tobacco survey report 2013.pdf

Binge drinking rates in CT high school youth are also above
national averages. lllicit drug use and non-medical use of
pain relievers by adolescents are critical public health issues
in the region, state, and nation. As shown in Figure 33, the
most frequently used illiciz drug by high school students is
marijuana (26%), followed by inhalants and Ecstasy. Non-
medical use of prescription opiates leading to addiction and
use of heroin as a less costly alternative is an emerging health
issue in the region. As shown in Figure 34, more than 1in 10
young adults ages 18-25 years reported the use of pain
relievers for non-medical reasons, and 1 in 20 high school
maies reported heroin use. Reported heroin use in CT high
school students {3.4%) exceeded national averages (2.2%).

Based on the findings of the 2013 CT School Health Survey,
Youth Risk Behavior Component and Local Youth Surveys
conducted in NW CT school districts in 2014-2015, mental
health issues are relatively common in adolescents, including

- depression and suicidal ideation. More than one in four

(27%) high school students reported feeling so sad or
hopeless that they had stopped doing some usual activities;
14.5% of students reported they had seriously considered
attempting suicide in the past 12 months.

Figure 3% Percent Students (Grades 9-12) Who
Reported Considering Attempting Suicide in Past Year,
20 by Sex, CT 2005-2013
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Source: SAMHSA, Reporis by Topic
hitp:Awww. samhisa, govidata/sites/default/fles/NSDUHSEate Est2012-2013-
p1/AueGroupComp Tab/NSDUHsaeQuintEndP T S2013.him

Sotirce: Youth Risk Behavior Surveiflance - CT, 2005-2013
htfo:Feww.cf govidohdibadphvhisipdfoshs_yvbe2013_repord pdf
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CHRONIC DISEASE PREVENTION AND CONTROL

Seurce: CT DPH, Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases in CT 2015
hitn.www, ot gowidph/owp/view. asp?a=313280=521462

Figure 37: Heart Disease, Age-Adjusted Mortality Rate,
by Sex, Connecticut, 2003-2012
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AAMRreport_State_Tyr_2000-2012.xlsx

Figure 38: Heart Disease Age-Adjusted Hospitalization

1800 Rate, Connecticut, 2003-2012
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Figure 39: Stroke Age-Adjusted Mortality Rate, by Sex,
Connecticut, 2003-2012
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Source: CT DPH, Mortality Statistics, Mortality Tables 2000-2012,
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Why Chronic Disease Prevention and Control Are
Important .

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
(CDC), 7 out of 10 deaths among Americans each year are the
result of chronic diseases, and almost 1 out of every 2 adults
has at least one chronic illness. Chronic diseases are also
estimated to be responsible for 75% of the health care costs
in the U.5. The burden of chronic disease is not shared
equally among population subgroups in our nation, state or
region - significant disparities exist. Powerful, complex
relationships exist between health, genetics, personal
behaviors, access to and utilization of quality health services,
socioeconomic factors, and the physical environment. The
burden of chronic disease in NW CT residents is best assessed
in several ways - by examination of disease surveillance data
related to the incidence and prevalence of disease, health -
care utilization data {such as emergency department visit and
hospitalization rates by diagnosis), and mortality data.

Findings in the State and NW CT

As shown in Figure 36, chronic diseases accounted for the
majority of deaths in CT residents of all ages. The most
prevalent chronic diseases in the U.S. and CT are
cardiovascular diseases {CVD). Major cardiovascular diseases
include coronary heart disease (CHD}, cerebrovascular
disease (stroke), and heart failure. CVD is the leading cause
of death in CT, accounting for about one-third of all resident

deaths. More than haif {55%) of these deaths are in females.
hitp:/fwww.ct.gov/dph/ib/dph/hisr/pdf/2010cvd burdendoc final.pdf

Risk factors for CVD may be modifiable or non-modifiable.
Modifiable risk factors include high blood pressure, high
blood cholesterol, smoking, diabetes, obesity, and physical
inactivity. Non-modifiable risk factors include increasing age
and family history of heart disease and stroke.

As shown in Figures 37-40, the age-adjusted mortality rates
for heart disease and stroke have declined significantly for
both male and female CT residents over the past decade, as
have hospitalization rates. There are considerable disparities
in mortafity rates from CVD however, with Black or African
American residents having the highest rates. Source: CTDPH,
the Burden of Cardiovascular Disease in Connecticut, April, 2015.

http:fwww.ct. gov/dph/iib/dph/hems/chronic _dis/heartdisease/burden of ¢
ordiovascular _diseases in_connecticut apr2015 web final.pdf

As shown in Figure 41, residents in many SATs experienced a
higher than average burden of premature death in 2006-2010
from heart disease, measured in Years of Potential Life Lost
(YPLL). YPLL rates for SATs were in the highest quartile in
Winchester, and second highest quartile in Harwinton,
Litchfield, Thomaston, and Torrington.

High blood pressure and elevated cholesterol levels are both
major risk factors for CVD. Data from the 2013 BRFSS
indicate that nearly one in three (31%) CT adults have been
told they have high blood pressure by a health professional;
that percentage increases to 54% for persons ages 55 and
over. High blood pressure is more common in males, Black
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Figure 40; Stroke Age-Adjusted Hospitalization Rate,

Connecticut, 2003-2012
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Source: CT Department of Public Health, Hospitalizafion Tables, 2002-2012, Table H-
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Figure 41: Premature Mortality Due To Heart Disease, Years of
Potential Life Lost (YPLL) Under Age 75, By Town, Connecticut,
2006-2010

Source: Connecticut Department of Public Health, Health Stafistics &
Surveifiance, Statistics & Analysis Reporting, 2006-2010.,; as cited in Healthy
CT 2020,

Figure 42: Adults Told by Provider they had High
Cholesterol or High Blood Pressure, CT, 2003-2014
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Figure 43: Diabefes Age-Adjusted Mortality Rate,
by Sex, Connecticut, 2003-2012
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non-Hispanic adults, and in persons with lower education and
income levels. Over one-third of CT aduilts {38%) have been
toid they have high blood cholesterol; this increased to 54%
for ages 55 and over. White non-Hispanics were most likely
to report high cholesterol, as were individuals with lower

educational attainment. Source: CTDPH, Health Risk Behaviors in
Connecticut, Results of the 2013 BRFSS, August 2015, Accessed at:
htto/Awww.ctgov/doh/lib/dph/hisr/pdf/briss2013 ct report.pdf

Based on 2013 BRFSS data, an estimated 8% of adultsin CT
aged 18 and older reported being diagnosed with diabetes;
this increased to 16% for persons ages 55 and older. Diabetes
was reported almost twice as frequently by Black non-
Hispanics than by White non-Hispanics and was highest in
persons with lower incomes and educational attainments.
The most recent county-level BRFSS data is for 2012. The age-
adjusted prevalence of diabetes in Litchfield County adults
{ages 18+) in 2012 was 7%. The prevalence of Type Il Diabetes
in CT and in the nation has increased significantly since 1990.
Type 1l Dizbetes typically develops later in life and is strongly
correlated with overweight and obesity. The increased
prevalence of Type |l Diabetes in adults is a major contributor
to other chronic diseases and health conditions. Having
diabetes increases the risk of heart disease, stroke, kidney
disease, as well as biindness, and iower-extremity

amputation. Source: CTDPH, Health Risk Behaviors in Connecticut,
Results of the 2013 BRFSS, August 2015,
hitp./fwww.ct.gov/dph/lib/dph/hisr/pdi/brfss2013 ct report.odf

Respiratory diseases are common in CT residents. As shown
in Figure 44, several SATs had higher than average mortality
rates from CLRD. Rates were in the highest quartile in
Thomaston, and second highest quartile in Harwinton,
Torrington, and Winchester. CT BRFSS results show asthma
remains prevalent in adults and children, with an increased %
of adults reporting they had been diagnosed with asthma.

Figure 44: Age-Adjusted Mortality Rate Due To Chronic Lower
Respiratory Disease (CLRD), By Town, Connecticut, 2006-2010

Source: Connecticut Depaﬁmen} of Pub!:c Heaf;h, Hééi}h Sfaﬁgﬁ;:s & Surveillance,
Statistics & Analysis Reporting, 2006-2010; as cifed in Healthy CT 2020.

Figure 45: Percent of Children & Adults Ever Told They
Have Asthma, Connecticut, 2011-2013
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CHRONIC DISEASE PREVENTION AND CONTROL
Focus on Cancer

Figure 46: Number of New Cancer Cases, by Cancer Site,
Males, Ail Ages, Litchfield County, 2008-2012
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Figure 47: Number of New Cancer Cases by Cancer Site,
Females All Ages, Litchfield County, 2008-2012
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Source; National Cancer Institute: State Cancer Profiles

hitp:#statecancerprofiles. cancer govincidencerates/index. pho? statef iPS=004&cancer=020&r

ace=008sex=2kaqe=( &ype=incdésonVariableNsme=rate&sortOrder=defatitftresilts

Table 15; Age-Adjusted Cancer Incidence Rates by Site and Sex for CT
and Litchfield County, 2008-2012 (*= Lower then siate rate; ™ = Higher than state rate)

; ,2.1, seer.cancer.goviseerstaf, September 2015; stafistical
comparisons from Health Statistics & Survelifance Section, CT Department of Public Health,
September, 2015, N/A = not applicable (gender-specific cancer) or rate not avaitable.

+ Rafe is based on less than 15 deaths and showld be interpreted with caution (statistically
unrediable).

The second most frequent category of chronic diseases in the
U.S. and CT are malignant neoplasms or cancer. The incidence
rate (number of new cancer cases per year per 100,000
population} and age-adjusted cancer mortatity rates (number
of deaths per 100,000 population) have been steadily
declining. This is the result of increased primary prevention
efforts, earlier detection, and advances in treatment.

Source: CTDPH, Connecticut Comprehensive Cancer Control Program,
Connecticut Cancer Plan 2009-2013;
http:/fwww.ct.gov/dph/lib/dph/state_health planning/dphplans/ca
neer plan 2009-2013.pdf

Nonetheless, according to the DPH State Health Assessment,
Healthy Connecticut 2020, cancer remains the second leading
cause of death in CT residents, and 1in 2 malesand 1in 3
fernales will be diagnosed with some form of cancer in their
lifetime.

As shown in Figures 46 and 47, in terms of number of newly
diagnosed cancer cases from 2008-2012 by gender in
Litchfield County, the most frequently diagnosed cancer in
males was prostate, followed by lung, bladder/urinary, colon
and skin cancer (melanoma). In females, the most commonly
diagnosed cancer was breast, followed by lung, colon,
uterine, and melanoma.

Incidence rates show overall males in the county were more
frequently diagnosed with cancer than females. Incidence
rates are considerably higher for males than females for
many types of cancer as shown in Table 15. These include
cancer of the colon and rectum, esophagus, kidney and renal
pelvis, leukemia, liver and bile duct, lung and bronchus,
melanoma, non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, oral cavity and
pharynx, pancreas, stomach, and bladder. Females have
higher incidence rates for breast cancer {less than 1% of all
breast cancers occur in men), and thyroid cancer.

By site, cancer incidence rates for Litchfield County were
significantly lower than the state rate for breast cancer,
kidney and renal pelvis cancer, and significantly higher than
the state rate for skin cancer {melanoma). The higher
incidence rate for skin cancer in the county is likely
attributable to the high proportion of Caucasians in the
population {94%) compared with the state as a whole (821%).
Source: http:/fquickfacts.census.qov/gfd/states/09/09005. hirni
Caucasians have lower levels of melanin in their skin, which is
a pratective factor against developing skin cancer.

As shown in Figure 48, overall age-adjusted cancer mortality
rates in the county are also higher in males than in females.
Disregarding gender-specific cancers such as prostate and
cervical cancer, mortality rates for males are higher for all
cancers by site. Overall mortality rates for cancer are higher
for Black or African American residents in the county, as
previously reported in Table 10, which is consistent with
cancer mortality rates for state residents overall.
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Figure 48: Age Adj
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Many types of cancer, such as breast, lung and brenchus, and
colorectal are linked to modifiable risk factors. Modifiable
risk factors for cancers include such factors as: smoking
tobacco; secondhand exposure to tobacco smoke; overweight
and obesity; excessive alcohol consumption; physical
inactivity; high fat, low fiber diets; ultraviolet light exposure;
contracting human papillomavirus (HPV); and exposure to
environmental contaminants such as radon and asbestos.

Cancer survival rates, or how long persons live after being
diagnosed with cancer, are closely related to the stage of
diagnosis. In general, persons diagnosed with localized
cancers have the highest 5-year survival rates, followed by
those diagnosed with regional cancers. Persons diagnosed
with distant cancers in general have the lowest cancer
survival rates.

Due to the high incidence of cancer, access to and
participation in cancer screenings is paramount to early
detection and treatment. As reported previously in Figures 7
and 9, data from the 2012 BRFSS for the TAHD service area
show that 21% of residents ages 50+ reported never having
colorectal screening {sigmoidoscopy/colonoscopy); 18% of
women ages 40+ reported never having a mammogram; 25%
of women reported not having a PAP test in the past 3 years,
and 63% of men ages 40+ indicated that they had not had
PSA testing in the past two years. Participation rates in
colorectal and mammography screening were significantly
lower for persons reporting incomes below 535,000 per year
than for those with incomes of 570,000 per year or higher.
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INFECTIOUS DISEASE PREVENTION AND CONTROL

Figure 50: Prevalence of HIV infection cases (N=10,637), CT, 2013
(As of December 31, 2014}
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Figure 52: Chronic Hepatitis B, By Town, Connecticut, 2011
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Source: CT Department of Public Hea!!h Repon‘ed Chromc Hepatms B by Town,
2011; as cited in Healthy CT 2020.

Why Infectious Disease Prevention and Control Are
Important

In addition to a significant decline in overall mortality and an
increase in life expectancy over the past century, there has
been a considerable shift in the leading causes of death.
Chronic diseases have emerged as the leading causes of death
in the 21% century, compared with infectious diseases in the
20" century. In 1900, the top 3 causes of death were
infectious diseases - pneumonia and flu, tuberculosis, and
gastrointestinal infections (a fourth disease, diphtheria, was
the 10th leading cause of death). Improvements in sanitation,
vaccine development, and medications such as antibiotics and
antivirals, have all contributed to dramatic dedlines in deaths
from infectious diseases during the 20th century. Source:
htto/fwww.cde.gov/nchs/data/dvs/lead 1900 98.pdf

Even with significant pubiic health and medical advances,
ocutbreaks of certain infectious diseases, such as tuberculosis
and pertussis, have occurred pericdically in the state and
region over the past decade, reinforcing the need to remain
vigilant to assure children and adults are vaccinated
completely and on time, and to enhance disease surveillance
efforts.

This section focuses on infectious diseases that have emerged
as concerns in the state and region in recent decades,
including Sexually Transmitted Infections {Chlamydia &
Gonorrhea), HIV, Hepatitis B, Hepatitis C, and Tick-Borne
Diseases.

Findings in the State and NW CT

For Service Area Towns (SATs}, Chlamydia was the most
commonly reported sexually transmitted infection {STI),

. followed by Gonorrhea, which is consistent with state trends.

In CT, Chlamydia and Gonorrhea are most frequently
diagnosed in young adults ages 20-24. Incidence rates for
selected $Tls are unreliable for most SATs, as the number of
new cases each year is often less than 15. From 2011-2014,
rates for Chlamydia and Gonorrhea in SATs were well below
the state rate. Within SATS, rates for Chlamydia were
consistently highest in Torrington. The number of diagnosed
cases for both of these STis in the county decreased from
2013 to 2014, Sources:
http:/fwww.ct.gov/dph/cwp/fview.asp?6=3136&qg=388390;
http./fwww.ct.gov/dph/dib/dph/infectious diseases/std/table

HIV infection continues to be a public health issue of concern.
Rates are highest among maies, and as shown in Figure 51, in
residents ages 20-29, followed by residents ages 40-49. The
primary risk factors for HIV infection in CT residents include
men having unprotected sex with men {(MSM}, Injectable Drug
Use {IDU}, and unprotected heterosexual contact.
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Figure 53: Hepatitis C, Past or Present, By Town, Connecticut, 2011
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Epidemiclogical Profile of HIVAIDS in CT, 2013; as cited in Healthy CT 2020.

Figure 54: Average Annual Incidence of Lyme Disease, By Town,
Connecticut, 2002-2012
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Saur;:e: CT Department of Public Health; as cited in Healthy CT 2020.

Figure 55 Babesiosis Cases for All Connecticut
Counties, 2014
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2014ktip:ffww. ct govidpivlib/dphinfectious_diseases/pdf forms /ot _disease_cases_
by _county_2014.pdf

Hepatitis B, like HIV, is commonky acquired through
unprotected sexual contact with persons who are infected and
injection drug use. The number of cases reported in NW CT,
as shown in Figure 52, is typically lower than those reported in
the state overall.

Hepatitis C is most commonly fransmitted through blood-to-
blood contact with an infected person. Currently the most
common risk factor is sharing injection drug syringes and
equipment. Prior to screening of the blood supply in 1992,
Hepatitis C was most commonly contracted through blood
transfusions and transplants. The number of cases of chronic
or resolved Hepatitis Cin Litchfield County increased
considerably from 2013 (89 cases) to 2014 (147 cases).

HIV, Hepatitis B, and Hepatitis C are preventable. Aveoiding
risky behaviors such as unprotected sex and injecting ilficit
drugs are critical. Childhood vaccination against Hepatitis B
provides protection against contracting this disease. Early
screening and detection for HIV and Hepatitis C are critical for
persons in risk groups. Medication therapy for HIV and
Hepatitis C has advanced considerably. For Hepatitis C,
treatment with newly approved antiviral drugs has resutted in
complete resolution of the infection in a high percentage of
cases.

Tick-borne diseases, such as Lyme Disease and Babesiosis, are
prevalent in rural areas of the state, such as NW CT. Ascan be
seen in Figure 54, from 2002-2012, Canaan had the highest
annual incidence of Lyme Disease in the state; among SATSs,
Litchfield and Morris the highest incidence rates.

Babesiosis is caused by microscopic parasites that infect red
blood cells typicalty spread by certain ticks. Tick-borne disease
transmission is most common during the summer months and
can be prevented by wearing protective clothing, using
repellants, and actively checking for ticks and showering after
being outdoors.
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INJURY AND VIOLENCE PREVENTION

Figure 56: Age-Adjusted Mortality Rate for
Unintentional Injury, as Percent of Total Unintential
Injury, by Type, Race and Ethnicity, CT, 2008-2012
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Figure 57: Number of Deaths Due To Suicide, by Age
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Figure 58: Tofal Deaths Due to Homicide, by Age
Group, Connecticut, 2012
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Why Injury and Violence Prevention Are Important

Injuries, whether intentional or unintentional, are a leading
cause of premature death and disability, as well as health
care costs and lost productivity in the workforce.
Importantly, most unintentional injuries are preventable. For
example, according to the National Institutes of Health,
atcohol is a factor in 30 percent of suicides, 40 percent of
crashes and burns, 50 percent of drownings and homicides,
and 60 percent of falls. CDC reports that the use of seat beits
reduces serious and fatal injuries by more than half.
Intentional injuries include suicides, homicides, domestic
violence and child abuse. Early intervention and treatment
for mental health conditions and alcoho! and drug abuse are
preventive measures to reduce the rates of intentional injury.

Findings in the State and NW CT

tn CT and the region, the major types of unintentional injury
as shown in Figure 56, are accidental poisoning, falls, and
motor vehicle accidents. Males were nearly twice as likely as
females to die from unintentional injuries and motor vehicle
accidents were the primary cause of injury death. The
primary cause of unintentional injury-related death in
fermales was falls. The rise in deaths by accidental poisoning
is in large part attributable to deaths from prescription drug
overdose in persons 15-24 years of age, which is addressed
further in the Mental Health and Substance Use section of
this report. Accidental drug intoxication deaths in CT (pure
ethanol intoxications were excluded) are projected to
increase by over 90% (from 355 to 679) from 2012-2015;
heroin-related deaths are projected to more than double.
Source:http://www.ct.qgov/ocme/iib/ocme/AccidentalDrugintoxicati
onZ015.pdf. Injury-related death rates in SATs were in the
highest quartile for Winchester, and second highest quartile
for Thomaston and Torrington.

As shown in Figures 57 and 58, CT maies are more than twice
as likely as females to die from suicide or homicide. Suicide
deaths are most prevalent in males and females ages 35-54;
homicides are most commos in young adults, ages 15-34,
with Black or African American males disproportionately
affected. in CT, about two-thirds of all homicides and one-
third of all suicides involve firearms (Healthy CT 2020).

Figure 53: Unintentional Injury Age-Adjusted Death Rates, By Town,
CT, 2006-2010

Source: Connecticut Department of Pubfic Health, Heaith Statistics & Surveiiiance,
Statistics & Analysis Repoding, 2006-2010.
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MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE USE DISORDERS

Figure 60: Percentage of Medicare Beneficiaries with
Depression, CT & Litchfield County, 2008-2012
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Source: Centers for MedicaidMedicare Senvices, State-Level Chronic Conditions
Reports, 2008-2012; hitps-/www.cms. qowResearch-Siatistics-Data-and-
Systems/Statistics- Trends-and-Reports/Chronic-Conditions/CC_Main. him/

Figure 61: Wicit Drug Use in Past Year, Among
Persons Age 12+, Connecticut, 2010-2013
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Figure 62: Non-Medical Use of Pain Relievers, by Age
Group, Connecticut, 2010-2013
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Why Mental Health and Substance Use Disorders Are
Impaortant

Mental health and substance use disorders are inextricably
finked to physical health. Mental health and substance use
disorders are leading causes of disability in the state and
region. Mental health disorders are widespread, with the
main burden of iliness concentrated among those suffering
from a seriously debilitating mental illness. Just over 20
percent (or 1 in 5} children, either currently or at some point
during their life, have had & seriousiy debilitating mental
disorder. Source:
http.//www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/prevalence/any-disorder-
among-children.shitmi

Findings in the State and NW CT

Results for the 2013 BRFSS indicate that 17% of CT adults had
been diagnosed with some form of depressive disorder, with
no differences by age group, racial/ethnic background, or
health insurance status. Women were more likely than men
to suffer from some kind of depression as were persons with
lower income and educational levels, and persons with
disabilities. As shown in Figure 60, analysis of data for
Medicare beneficiaries (adults ages 65 and over) from 2008-
2012 show an upward trend in the proportion of beneficiaries
diagnosed with depression in the state and county.

Depression is refatively common in adolescents, with one out
of every three CT female high school students and 27% of
high school (HS) students overall reporting they felt so sad or
hopeless that they had stopped doing some usual activities.
In addition, 18% of HS females and 14.5% of HS students
overall indicated they had seriously censidered attempiing
suicide. Local Youth Surveys conducted in NW CT high
schools in 2014-2015 indicate that 21-24% of students were
depressed and/or had attempted suicide.

Rates of illicit drug use in persons ages 12 and over have
remained relatively stable from 2010-2013 with the exception
of an increase in non-medical use of pain relievers, most
notably in young adults ages 18-25 (Figure 62} . As detailed in
the previous section, deaths due to accidental drug
intoxication, especially heroin-involved deaths, have
increased at an alarming rate statewide and within the
region. Behavioral health, EMS, and health care providers in
the region have responded proactively by forming the
Litchfield County Opiate Task Force to develop and
implement county-wide strategies for prevention, early
detection, and counseling and treatment services for opiate
use disorders.

Rates of underage drinking by adolescents and
binge/excessive drinking by persons of all ages persist as key
health concerns in the state and region, as state and NW CT
rates far exceed national averages and Healthy People 2020
targets.
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LOCAL HEALTH CARE ENVIRONMENT -
HEALTH CARE ACCESS

Figure 63: Percent of Uninsured CT Children and
Adults, by Race and Ethnicity, CT and Litchfield
County, 2014
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Table 16: Medically Underserved Areas or Populations (MUA/P) and
Heafth Professional Shortage Areas (HPSA), CT, 2013
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Fairfieid
Hartford
Litchfield
Middlesex
New Haven
New London
Tolland
Windham
Tribal Nation
Connecticuf 39

Source: CT DPH, Primary Care Office, October 1, 2013; as cited in Healthy CT 2020
*Tribal Nations have their own special designation
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Figure 64: Percent of Adults Reporting Not Having a
Personal Doctor, by Race and Ethnicity, CT, 2014
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Why Health Care Access is Important

Equitable access to quality health care is important to
eliminate health disparities and optimize individual and
community health. Persons without health insurance
coverage are less likely to have a usual and ongoing source of
medical care (“medical home”}, are more likely to report poor
health, and to experience premature mortality than those
with health insurance (Healthy CT 2020). With the
enactment of the federal Patient Protection and Affordable
Care Act {ACA), health insurance coverage is now required for
U.S. citizens and legally documented residents. This federal
law has increased the proportion of persons with health
insurance coverage in the nation, state and region. Access
Health CT <www.AccessHealthCT.com> was created by the
Connecticut Legislature in 2011 to satisfy ACA requirements
and serve as a central point of entry for individuals, families,
and small employers to receive information on choices about
their health care coverage options and to facilitate
enrollment in a health insurance plan. Access Health CT also
coordinates eligibility and enroilment with Medicaid and
Children’s Health Insurance Programs in CT.

Findings in the State and NW CT

Litchfield County is a federally-designated health professional
shortage area. Within the county, Torrington is a federally
designated primary care health professional shortage area.
The 2015 County Health Rankings repori indicates that the
county has a ratic of 1 mental health provider to every 548
residents, considerably below the naticnal benchmark of 1
provider to every 386 residents. The county also has &
shortage of primary care providers, with 1 primary care
physician to every 1,563 residents, well below both the
national benchmark of 1 primary care physician for every
1,045 persons and the state average of 1 primary care
physician per 1,190 residents. There is also a shortage of
dentists, with 1 provider for every 1,699 residents compared
with the national benchmark of 1 per 1,377 residents.

Litchfield County is home to three acute care hospitals:
Charlotte Hungerford Hospital in Torrington, Western CT
Health Systems-New Milford Campus of Danbury Hospital in
New Mitford, and Sharon Hospital in Sharon. In addition,
there is one federally qualified health center focated within
the county, the Community Health and Wellness Center of
Greater Torrington, with multiple service sites. Federally
gualified health centers (FQHC) receive federal funding
support to provide preventive, primary, and specialty care
services in medically underserved areas. FQHC patients
without insurance pay for care based on their income, using a
sliding fee scale, however no one is refused care based on
inability to pay. Analysis of Uniform Data System (UDS)}
Service Reports for 2014 show that the Community Health
and Weilness Center patient population (> 7,000 patients} is
disproportionately low-income {86% of family incomes were
below 200% of the federal poverty level), uninsured {15%)},
and minority {20%} when compared with the area population.
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Figure 65: Federally Qualified Health Center and School-Based Health
Center Locations, Connecticut, 2014
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Note: FQHC indicates Federally Qualified Health Center, SBHC indicates Schooi-
Based Health Center. Source: Connecticut Department of Public Health, as cited in
Heaifhy CT 2020

Figure 66: Local Health Departments and Districts, Connecticut, 2013
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Table 17: 2-1-1 Service Requests for Litchfield County, 1/1115-12{28115

2-1-1 Request Category Totals

“Public Assistance Progran 394
Individual & Family Support Services

“Utitities
Mental Health Evaluation & Treatment g1

| Housing/Shielter . a8
Counseling Settings

Health Supportive:Services
Leqal Services

- Temporary Financial Assistance
Food

Substance Abuse Services..

Source: United Way of CT: itp:/uwe. 211ct org

Mungipalities within the CHH service area are served by 2 fult-
time health districts. Torrington Area Heaith District serves
the following SATs: Bethlehem, Cornwall, Goshen,
Harwinton, Thomaston, Torrington, and Winchester. The
Farmington Valley Health District serves Barkhamsted,
Colebrook, and New Hartford. Phone, email, and website
contact information is avaitable at:

http./fwww.ct. gov/dph/ewp/view.aspPa=31238&g=397740

There are a wide variety of additional health-related
resources within the county. United Way of CT Infoline 2-1-1
maintains an up-to-date online searchable community
resource database of health and human service providers,
agencies, and organizations, available at http.//www.211ct.org.
United Way alsc publishes an annual report, The 2-1-1-
Barometer - Identifying Unmet Needs in CT, highlighting gaps
between service requests and available resources in the
community. This report can be accessed at:
http:/fwww.ctunitedway.org/barometer.asp. There were over
8,500 service requests in NW CT to 2-1-1 in 2015. The most
freguent service requesis are presenied in Table 17.

The 2012 Litchfield County Community Health Assessment
included GIS Asset Maps of Health-Related Programs &
Services located within the county compiled by the CT
Infoline Research & Evaluation Unit. Each map includes
Resource Listings of the types of services provided. More
detailed information on the programs and services included is
available at www.infoline.org or by calling Infoline at 2-1-1.

Key findings related to service availability and accessibility
inciuded:

® Tobacco cessation programs in the county are limited.

® QOpportunities for physical activity appear to be available
in most communities; however limited accessibility due
to transportation may be a factor for many residents.

®  There are no healthy eating/nutrition education
programs presently availabie in the county.

®  (linical and preventive health services are concentrated
in the three communities with acute care hospitals (New
Milford, Torrington & Sharon); access to these services
may be a factor for many residents,

® The geographic availability of health screening services in
the county is limited as is the type.

¥ Health and mental health-related support groups are
again concentrated in the three communities with acute
care hospitals.

®  The availability of mass transportation services in
general, as well as medical transportation services and
services for disabled persons, is limited in many
communities.

®  Housing for vulnerable population groups, including the
elderly, disabled, and residents in need of emergency or
supportive housing is limited and non-existent in many
communities.
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COMMUNITY INSIGHTS:

KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEW & FOCUS GROUP SUMMARY
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KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEW & FOCUS GROUP SUMIMARY FINDINGS

Background: This report section summarizes focus group and key informant interview findings conducted as part of the Community
Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) for Northwest CT (NW CT). Findings are based on focus groups (FG) and key informant {KI}
interviews conducted throughout the CHH primary service area during Novermnber and December of 2015. These attitude and
perception discussions explored the current state of health care, health-related educational opportunities, emerging trends, and
challenges and successes of the region’s health delivery system. Inall, 13 Kl interviews and 2 focus groups were conducted. The
individuals and groups interviewed were identified by Community Relations Commitiee {CRC) members for their respective
expertise in the community.

Method: Members of CRC identified the following community leaders to participate in the Kl interviews:

®  Maria Abreu, Torrington area Latino community advocate

= Joanne Borduas, CEQ, Torrington Community Health & Weliness Center

»  Dr. Debra Brandt, Oncologist

= Donna Campbell, Executive Director, Greenwoods Counseling Referrals, Inc.

=  Nancy Cannavo, Torrington Behavioral Health Center, Cutreach to the Homeless
= Elinor Carbone, Mayor of Torrington

»  Maria Coutant-Skinner, Executive Director, McCall Foundation

=  Donna Labbe, Coordinator, Torrington Early Childhood Collaborative

*  Dr. Roberta Melizer, Primary Care Physician

= Tom Narducci, Administrative Director, Outpatient Behavioral Health at Charlotte Hungerford Hospital
= Leslie Polito, Public Health Nurse, Torrington Area Health District

u  Ellen Schroeder, Director, Winsted Senior Center

»  Joel Sekorski, Director, Elderty Care of Torrington

In addition to the K} interviews, a focus group was conducted with a group of 13 senior citizens at the Sullivan Center in Torrington.
Additionally, a focus group with 9 young families was conducted in collaboration with the Family Resource Center in Torrington.
Questions for both the KI and FG were adapted from the Kl survey tools used in the CT Department of Public Health state health
assessment, with input from CRC members, the Center for Healthy Schools and Communities, and the Center for Program Research
& Evaluation {CPRE) at EDUCATION CONNECTION. CPRE staff then scheduled and conducted all interviews. Notes for each event
were recorded and analyzed by CPRE research staff. Primary themes across all events were identified and are discussed below.

Results: Qualitative data analysis revealed eight overarching themes across the 13 Kl interviews and 2 focus groups. Themes address
access to services, emerging health trends, as welt as major community provider strengths and areas in need of improvement.

Theme #1 - Positive Experiences with Care: Across many focus groups and Kl interviews, participants reported satisfaction with
available health services and positive feefings about care delivery. Participants discussed feeling listened to and understood by their
clinicians, and many cited specific examples of incidences where CHH providers had a dramatic positive influence during a medical
event. A prominent sub-theme identified was that many respondents who reported satisfaction with care reported receiving
services from providers who took a personal interest in their cases. :

Theme #2 - Bridges and Barriers to Trust: In many focus groups and Kl interviews, participants discussed a variety of factors that
either fostered or impeded the development of trust and a positive working relationship with and amongst health service providers.
The open lines of communication between CHH and many of its community-based partners was one such factor. Many respondents
spoke to the highly responsive nature of CHH staff in addressing problems within the community. “No issue ever falls on deaf ears at
Charlotte. They go out of their way to make sure that our needs are being met.” The language barrier that exists within the
community, however, was identified as a barrier to trust. Respondents raised concerns about the lack of Spanish speaking providers
at CHH. it was also noted that the wording on signage was sometimes inaccurate and not always culturally appropriate to native
speaking individuals.

Several respondents discussed the need for enhanced respect for persons with substance use disorders recelving emergency
department services. While respondents understood the tremendous burden these patients placed upon the system, they felt more
empathy was warranted. A suggestion was made for patients to have a “Patient Navigator” to assist them in better understanding
their condition as well as the services that are available to them once they are released from care.

Theme #3 - Systems Challenges and Barriers to Care: Systems challenges and barriers to care were prominent themes that emerged
in all focus groups and Ki interviews, Respondents discussed a range of experiences that they felt impeded their being able to
receive or provide effective care. Examples of such experiences include:

s difficulty in attracting and retaining guality health care providers to the area
e lack of a local detoxification or pain management facility
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* lack of communication around educational opportunities
« lack of available resources to expand much needed initiatives

Many respondents expressed frustration in their ability to recruit and hire qualified personnel. “It often takes several months to
receive just a few applicants for a position we desperately need to fill” noted one individual. In some situations this resufts in
services not being offered. When those services are offered, the stafi is almost immediately overwheimed. This is especially true of
educational outreach opportunities. While many respondents discussed educational experiences they had been involved with which
had improved their health dramatically, there was an overall sense of frustration with the lack of such opportunities. Some
respandents went so far as to suggest they did not have the proper information to make the appropriate medical decisions. Staffing,
financial and time constraints make the implementation of these much needed educational resources and services challenging.

There was an interest from those individuals for the health care community to do a better job in publicizing the resources and
services available as well as reaching out to the community to determine what other needs are not being addressed.

Theme #4 - Community Access to Health Care: Access to health services outside of CHH was an area of focus for many participants.
While most participants felt strongly that CHH does an excellent job in serving the community, the same participants expressed
frustration in finding specialists close to where they lived. Additionally, many respondents noted that medical offices that did accept
Medicare/Medicaid had very long waiting lists. Difficuities in accessing the following services were identified as major concerns:

®  Primary Care
«  Medical Specialists, specifically:
o Neurologists
o Cardiologists
o Otolaryngologists
s  Psychiatrists
s Psychologists
s  Dentists
e Addiction Counseling and Treatment Facilities
s Clinical Laboratory/Diagnhostic Services

Theme #5 - Emerging Trends: A question asked of all Kl and focus group respondents focused on the identification of health care
related trends in the community. Responses included:

s Theincreased use of opiates and other addiction related issues. While this issue has been well described, respondents
discussed the trend of addiction starting at a much earlier age. The increased number of sober houses has strained the
emergency services in some communities.

o Difficulty in navigating the insurance system. While most respondents agreec that the system has improved since the
passing of the ACA, there was still a great deal of frustration in receiving services. This was especially true in the senior
citizen community.

* Increased awareness around mental health disorders. The lack of mental health professionals and the dramatic increase in
the need for their services was identified as a major area of need. The number of individuais diagnosed with Serious and
Persistent Mental lllness (SPMI) puts & tremendous burden on the health care system. The added emphasis on dual
diagnosis has made an impact on how patients are treated, however more work needs to be done on educating the broader
community.

Theme #6 - Impacts to the Greater Community: The rise in addiction issues highlighted as an emerging trend in our findings has a
broader impact in the community as described by several respondents. Several communities in the area have experienced a growth
in the number of sober houses operating primarily in downtown locations. While these sober houses provide a valuable service to
those individuals who need them, those individuals are often not town residents. Community members expressed concern that the
services required by the sober houses may ultimately compromise the police and fire departments’ abilities to respond to other
emergencies.

Theme #7 - Transportation: The rural nature of the CHH catchment area resulis in unique challenges in regards to access to services.
Many respondents identified their inability to receive and provide services because of alack of reliable transportation. Many needed
services (i.e. mental health services for minors, specialty and sub-specialty providers) cannot be found in the catchment area. It is
often impossible for families in need to travel to areas where these services are available. Seniors also discussed the lack of reliable
transportation as a major reason they do not receive the services they may need. Thomaston was discussed as having no clinical
laboratory or diagnostic centers. If individuals did not have access to personal transportation it would be very difficult for them to
travel to another town to receive the services they might need.
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Theme #8 - Healthy Life Services: Many respondents discussed the issue of moving more toward a “wellness model” and away from

a “treatment model” when it comes to providing services. Providing proper nutrifion education and services was identified as the
key starting point. This issue was also identified as a key factor in the differences between economic groups within the community.
One respondent noted, “We are killing the poor by denying them access to better food options”. Respondents mentioned greater
educational opportunities to teach individuals how to make healthier life choices, especially amongst the younger individuals. It was
suggested that more work should be done in educating schools and area doctors in identifying mental health disorders.

Discussion and Implications:

The findings discussed in this report highlight the complex and dynamic role that CHH and its partners play within the community.
Eight overarching themes are discussed which summarize a range of positive, as well as negative, perceptions and attitudes. Further,
it is important to note that many of the negative perceptions discussed exist within a broader context. For example, themes that
suggest lack of resources are not unigue to the rural setting of CHH; rather they mirror patterns that have challenged health care in
such settings for decades. Nevertheless, the challenges discussed in this report represent an important call to action.

Service providers and users traditionally have a strong understanding of what works for them. This was well illustrated by the range

of recommendations for improving services offered by respondents. While all may not be feasible to implement now, some
represent actionable items that can be implemented with limited system effort or costs.

Conclusion:

Undertaking this evaluative work speaks to CHH's longstanding commitment to creating & system of care that is responsive to the
community they serve. This same commitment will likely fuel next step efforts to build on system strengths. Working in partnership
with all key stakeholders, it is imperative that recommendations offered are further developed and prioritized such that
interventions are aligned from personnel, policy, fiscal, and administrative perspectives.
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NEXT STEPS: OPPORTUNITIES FOR ACTION

Improving the heafth of the residents of NW CT will only be achieved through collaboration and coordination among key
stakeholders throughout the region and state, across all sectors - government, schools and higher education institutions, health care
providers, public health agencies, voluntary health agencies, civic organizations, businesses, and community and faith-based
organizations. The next step - development of a Health Improvement Plan for Northwest Connecticut - will utilize a collaborative
strategic planning process guided by the key findings from this 2015 Community Health Needs Assessment Update. Once developed,
the NW CT Health Improvement Plan will serve as a readmap far collective action by building on existing community assets,
leveraging resources, and engaging public and private partners to improve the health of NW (T residents.

Based on the findings of this 2015 CHNA Update for NW CT, the following key and emerging health issues have been identified for
prioritization and collective community health improvement planning.

Behavioral and Lifestyle Factors:

< Although not statistically significant, area residents more frequently reported the following negative health behaviars than
state residents on average: heavy drinking; current smoking; not having their blood sugar tested; not having a check-up in the
past year, not having a flu shot, a Pap smear, or PSA screening.

< Area males more frequently reported the following negative health practices/behaviors at statistically significant levels:
current binge drinking, no check-up within the past year, and not having a flu shot.

< Area residents with annual incomes below $35,000 per year more frequently reported the following at statistically significant
levels: current smoking, not being physically active in the past month, having diabetes, not being able to afford medical costs,
no dental visit in the past year, having a heart attack, no colorectal screening, and no mammogram screening (for fermales).

< Data from the 2013 BRFSS indicate that nearly one in three (319%} CT aduits have been told they have high blood pressure by a
health professional; that percentage increases to 54% for persons ages 55 and over. High blood pressure is more common in
males, Black non-Hispanic adults, and in persons with lower education and income levels.

<> Over one-third of CT adults {38%) have been told they have high biood cholesterol; this increased to 54% for ages 55 and over.
White non-Hispanics were most likely to report high cholestercl, as were individuals with lower educational attainment.

The Burden of Chronic Diseases:

< Residents in many Service Area Towns (SATs) experienced a higher than average burden of premature death from heart
disease, measured in Years of Potential Life Lost (YPLL). YPLE rates for Service Area Towns (SATs) in 2006-2010 were in the
highest quartile in Winchester, and second highest quartile in Harwinton, Litchfield, Thomaston, and Torrington.

< County Health Rankings and CHS! Health Indicators of highest concern include: Alzheimer’'s/dementia, asthma and depression
in older adutts, and adult binge drinking.

<> By race and ethnicity, AAMR rates (2008-2012) were higher for Black or African American county residents than the state
average for malignant neoplasms, For Hispanic or Latino county residents, AAMR rates were higher than state rates for major
cardiovascular diseases (CVD). AAMR rates were higher than the state rates for White residents for all causes, major CVD,
chronic lower respiratory diseases (CLRD), chronic liver disease and cirrhosis, accidents, and alcohol-induced deaths.

< Emergency department visit rates were lower for Hispanic or Latino county residents and higher for Whites and Black or
African American residents than the state averages for these same population subgroups.

< Prevention Quality Indicator (PQl} rates for asthma and hypertension in Black or African American adults in the county were
double the rate or more in White or Hispanic adults. For children, PQI rates for diabetes short-term complications and
perforated appendix in Hispanic children were more than double the rate in White non-Hispanic children.

< Emergency Department visit rates for selected diagnoses show rates for heart disease and stroke were higher in Litchfield
County than in the state overall; mental health and alcohol and drug abuse visit rates were fower than the state rates.

<> The most frequent cause of inpatient hospitalization in the service area was Hypertension (High Blood Pressure), followed by
Type |l Diabetes, Depression, Chronic Obstructive Puimonary Disease, and Heart Failure. Hypertension was also the most
frequent reason for Emergency Department visits, followed by falls, Type Il Diabetes, Asthma, and aleohol and substance
abuse.

Cancer:
<~ By site, cancer incidence rates for Litchfield County were significantiy lower than the state rate for breast cancer, kidney and
renal pelvis cancer, and significantly higher than the state rate for skin cancer {melanoma). The higher incidence rate for skir
cancer in the county is likely attributable to the high proportion of Caucasians in the population compared with the state.
< Overall mortality rates for cancer are higher for Black or African American residents in the county, which is consistent with
cancer mortality rates for state residents overall.
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<~ Data from the 2012 BRFSS specific to the TAHD service area in NW CT indicate that 21% of residents ages 50+ reported never
having colorectal screening (sigmoidoscopy/colonoscopy); 18% of women ages 40+ reported never having a mammogram; 25%
of women reported not having a PAP test in the past 3 years, and 63% of men ages 40+ indicated that they had not had PSA
testing in the past two years. Participation rates in colorectal and mammography screening were significantly fower for
persons reporting incomes below 535,000 per year than for those with incomes of 570,000 per year or higher.

Maternal, Infant, and Child Health:

< In 2007-2011, Torrington and Winchester were in the second highest quartite in the state for low birthweight births and highest
quartiie for preterm births in the state. Notably, based on birth certificate data, mothers in these two communities reported the
highest levels of smoking during pregnancy during this period as welk.

< In 2010-2012, Infant Mortality Rates in Litchfield County were nearly twice the state rate. According to analyses performed by
the CT Department of Public Health, these differences were found to be statistically significant (p <.05). This difference is
attributed in part to the higher proportion of multiple-hirth pregnancies in Litchfield County mothers compared with the state,
a known risk factor for poorer birth outcomes.

< According to 2012 BRFSS results, one in five CT children in the TAHD services area was obese according to Body Mass Index
{BMI) for age standards. For children living in households with incomes below 535,000, this increased to one in every three
children (based on adult parent responses to BRFSS questions).

Mental Health & Substance Use: )
< E-cigarette use by youth is significantly higher in CT than in the U.S. overall.
< Reported heroin use in high school students in the state and region exceeded national averages.

< Rates of underage drinking by adolescents and binge/excessive drinking by persons of all ages remain key concerns in the state
and region, as rates exceed national averages and benchmarks. Alcohol is a major contributor to both intentional and

unintentional injuries.

< Mental health issues such as depression are relatively common in adolescents as well as adults.

< Mental health and substance use disorders are inextricably linked to physical heaith and are leading causes of disability in the
state and reglion.

Infectious Diseases:
< HIV, Hepatitis B, and Hepatitis C are preventable. Vaccination for Hepatitis B and avoiding risky behaviors such as unprotected
sex and injecting illicit drugs are critical.
< Tick-borne diseases, such as Lyme Disease and Babesiosis, are more prevalent in rural areas of the state, such as NW CT. For
SATs, Litchfield and Morris had annual Lyme Disease incidence rates above the state average.

Injury:
< The rise in deaths by accidental poisoning is in large part attributable to deaths from prescription drug overdose in persons 15-
24 years of age. Accidental drug intoxication deaths in CT are projected to nearly double from 2012-2015; heroin-related
deaths are projected to more than double.
< Injury-related death rates in SATs were in the highest quartile in the state for Wincheaster, and second highest quartile for

Thomaston and Toerrington.

Health Care Access:

<+ Within the county, Torrington is a federally designated primary care health professional shortage area. The county has 1
primary care physician to every 1,563 residents, well below both the national benchmark of 1 primary care physician for every
1,045 residents and the state average of 1 primary care physician per 1,190 residents. The couniy has & ratio of 1 mental health
provider to every 548 residents, considerably below the state average of 1 provider to every 323 residents, and national
benchmark of T provider to every 386 residents. The county also has a lack of dentists, with 1 dentist for every 1,699 residents
compared with the national benchmark of 1 provider to every 1,377 residents. Lack of available primary care, specialty, and
sub-specialty health services in the region due to provider shortages was a common theme from the Key Informant Interviews
and Focus Groups conducted-as an integral component of the assessment process.
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Looking Back: Comparisons to the 2012 CHNA

When compared and contrasted with the findings of the 2012 Litchfield County Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA), this
Community Health Needs Assessment for Northwest CT 2015 Update offers valuable insights into emerging and continuing trends.
Due to its focus on the burden of chronic diseases, the 2012 CHNA did not include indicators related fo Maternal and Infant Health,
Child and Adolescent Health, Injury, and Infectious Disease Prevention and Control. The chart below highlights trends in key
indicators that were included in both assessments when consistent data sources were used to permit comparisons.
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PARTNERS AND CONTRIBUTORS

This Community Health Needs Assessment for Northwest CT 2015 Update reflects the contributions of many individuals and
community stakeholders. First and foremost, the dedicated members of the Charlotte Hungerford Hospital Community Relations
Committee listed below contributed their time and expertise in review of the content of the assessment and are now spearheading
the development of a Community Health Improvement Plan based on the key findings of this report.

CHH Community Relations Committee Members

Joanne Borduas, BSN, MSN, MBA Tim J. LeBouthillier

Chief Executive Officer Director of Public Relations

Community Health and Weliness Center Charlotte Hungerford Hospital

Heather Cappabianca, RN, MHA Brian E. Mattiello

Director, CT Office of Rural Health VP for Organizational Development
Coordinator, NCCC, Allied Health Charlotte Hungerford Hospital

Stephanie K. Fowler, M.D. Thomas Narducci, LCSW

Charlotte Hungerford Hospital Administrative Director, Outpatient Behavioral Health
Board of Governors Charlotte Hungerford Hospital

Ruthann Horvay, Director Leslie Polito, BSN, RN

Winsted Family Resource Center Public Health Nurse

Winchester Public Schools Torrington Area Health District

John N. Lavieri Frank R. Vanoni, M.D.

President Community resident/Former member CHH staff

Sterling Engineering

In wddition, by participating in the Key Informant interviews or orgunizing the Focus Groups, the following official and community
agency representatives provided vital insights to inform the assessment process:

Maria Abreu, Torrington area Latino community advocate

Joanne Borduas, CEQ, Torrington Community Health & Wellness Center

Dr. Debra Brandt, Oncologist

Donna Campbell, Executive Director, Greenwoods Counseling Referrals, Inc.
Nancy Cannavo, Torrington Behavioral Health Center, Qutreach to the Homeless
Elinor Carbane, Mayor of Terrington

Maria Coutant-Skinner, Executive Director, McCait Foundation

Donna Labbe, Coordinator, Torrington Early Childhood Collaborative

Dr. Roberta Meltzer, Primary Care Physician

Tom Narducci, Administrative Director, Outpatient Behavioral Health at Charlotte Hungerford Hospital
Leslie Polito, Public Health Nurse, Torrington Area Health District

Ellen Schroeder, Director, Winsted Senior Center

Joel Sekorski, Director, Elderly Care of Torrington

Michelle Anderson, Coordinator, Torrington Family Resource Center

The contributions of the CT Department of Public Health were also essential in providing the morbidity and mortality data sets
used in the assessment process, including:

Office of Health Care Access

Lloyd Mueller, PhD, Senior Epidernialogist, Connecticut Tumor Registry, Principal Investigator,
Health Statistics & Surveillance Section

Karyn Backus, MPH, Epidemioclogist 3, Health Statistics & Surveiilance Section

Jon Olson, DPM, DrPH, Epidemiologist 3, Health Statistics & Surveillance Section

Lastly, the excellent work of the assessment and evaluation team from EDUCATION CONNECTION is gratefully acknowledged: Mary
Bevan, MPH, Director of the Center for Healthy Schools & Communities (primary CHNA author); Kevin Glass, M.S., R.5.M, Director of
the Center for Program Research & Evaluation, and Margot Snellback, Research Associate.
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The information which follows regarding selected measures and data sources included in this Community Health Needs Assessment
for Northwest CT 2015 Update are excerpts from the Litchfield County 2012 Community Health Needs Assessment Technical
Appendices and the Definition of Measures in the state health assessment, Healthy Connecticut 2020. Please consult these source
documents for more detailed information.

Lifestyle and Behavioral Health Risk Data

Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillunce System

The Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) survey is a state-based system of health surveys that generate information
about health risk behaviors, clinical preventive practices, and health care access and use. The BRFSS, sponsored by the Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention, is the world's largest telephone survey, and is conducted in all 50 states. This includes a randomly
selected adult (aged 18 or older) within a randomly selected household with a landline telephone, or a randomly selected celiular
telephone owned by an adult with no landline or who uses their cellular telephone for 90% of their calls. Only nen-institutionalized
adults are included (no nursing homes, prisons, college dorms, etc.}. Racial and ethnic classifications are based on self-report and
include White, non-Hispanic, Black, non-Hispanic, and Hispanic (including persons of any race). Other national and state-specific risk
factor data and information regarding BRFSS methodology can be accessed on the CDC’'s BRFSS website at:
http:/fwww.cde.gov/brfss/.

Connecticut School Health Survey - Youth Behavior Component

The Connecticut School Health Survey (CSHS) is a comprehensive survey that consists of two components: Youth Tobacco
Component (YTC) and the Youth Behavior Component {YBC). The YBC collects data that is used to monitor pricrity health-risk
behaviors and the prevalence of obesity and asthma among high school students in Connecticut. The CSHS is conducted by the
Connecticui Department of Public Health in cooperation with the CDC, the Connecticut State Department of Education, and partners
from local school health districts and local health departments. The YBC is administered to a representative sample of all regular
pubiic high school students in Connecticut. Racial and ethnic classifications are based on self-report and include White, non-
Hispanic; Black, non-Hispanic; and Hispanic (including persons of any race). Further information about the CSHS can be found on the
Connecticut Department of Public Health's web site: http://www.ct.gov/dph/cshs. Other national and state-specific youth risk factor
data and information can be accessed on the CDC's web site: http.//www.cdc.gov/HeaithyYouth/YRBS/.

County Health Rankings

Rankings are based on a number of factors including health outcomes, social and behavioral risk, and policy/programmatic
environment. For detailed information about the modefing factors, see: http.,//www.countyhealthrankings.orq/our-approach.
For a list of the indicators used to develop the rankings, see:
http./fwww.countyhealthrankings.org/sites/default/files/2012%20Measures%2C%20Data%20sources%20and%20vears 0. pdf.

Mortality and Morbidity Data

Connecticut Vital Records Mortolity Files

The Connecticut Vital Records Mortality Files are part of the state’s vital statistics database that contains records pertaining to
deaths that occur within the state as well as deaths of Connecticut residents occurring in other states, or in Canada. Mortality
statistics are compiled in accordance with the World Health Organization {WHO) regulations, which specify that deaths be classified
by the current Manual of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases, Injuries, and Causes of Death.'! Deaths for the 1999-
2012 period are classified by the Tenth Revision of the International Classification of Diseases {ICD-10). The race-ethnicity
designation is typicalfy based on report by next of kin, a fureral director, coroner, or other official, often based on observations. As
such, the race-ethnicity designation based on observation may be reported incorrectly. Death Registry data follow the National
Center for Health Statistics guidelines for coding race and Hispanic ethnicity.

Connecticut Hospital Information Management Exchange (CHIME) Hospital Discharge and Emergency Department Data Set

Data on hospitalization, both inpatient admissions and emergency department {ED) visits, are availabie from individual hospitals and
the Connecticut Hospital Information Management Exchange (CHIME), an affiliate of the Connecticut Hospital Association {CHA). The
CHIME-Data Program is a proprietary healthcare information system that member hospitals use to record patient, clinical, provider,
and financial information. CHIME began in 1980 with collection of inpatient data from Connecticut’s acute care hospitals. Since then,
the CHIME database has expanded to include information about care-related finances, hospital-based ambulatory surgery,
ambutatory medical records, and ED data.

Connecticut hospitals are legally mandated to report financial, utilization, and certain statistical information to the DPH (Public
Health Code § 19a-654). Accordingly, on the behalf of its member hospitals, CHA submits CHIME data to the DPH Office of Health
Care Access (OHCA) annually; hospitals that do not participate in CHIME submit data directly to OHCA. Since 2006, hospital discharge
and billing data from Connecticut’s acute care hospitals have been submitted to OHCA. In addition to age, gender, and town of
residence, the demographic data elements include race and ethnicity. Race and ethnicity may be based upon observation of the
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patient or self-reporting by the patient. It should be noted that counts reflect hospitalizations not persons. For example, a patient
admitted to a hospital on two separate occasions in 2012 would be counted twice in these data.

Age-Adjustment {Mortality Rates, Hospitalization Rates, and ED Visit Rates)

Age adjustment is the application of observed age-specific rates to a standard age distribution to eliminate differences in crude rates
in populations of interest that result from differences in the populations’ age distributions. This adjustment permits comparisons
among two or more populations at one point in time or one population at two or more points in time. In this report, mortality rates,
hospitalization rates, and ED visit rates have been age-adjusted.

Years of Potential Life Lost {YPLL) represents the number of years of potential life lost by each death before a predetermined end
point (e.g., 75 years of age). Whereas the crude and adjusted death rates are heavily influenced by the large number of deaths
among the elderly, the YPLL measure provides & picture of premature mortality by weighting deaths that occur at younger ages
more heavily than those occurring at oider ages, thereby emphasizing different causes of death. Age-adjusted YPILs are calculated
using the methodoiogy of Romeder and McWhinnie.” This method consists of a summation of the number of deaths occurring at
each age (between 1 and 75) multiplied by the remaining years of life had the deceased lived up to age 75.

Maternal & Infant Data

Birth Rates
The birth rate in a given population is the number of births per 1,000 population. The teen birth rate is calculated based on the

number of births per 1,000 femates in the population ages 15-19 years of age.

Infant Mortality Rate
The infant Mortality Rate is the number of infant deaths before 1 year of age, per 1,000 live births in the population.

Low Birthweight Rate
The rate of low birthweight births is the number of low birthweight births (<2500 grams} per 100 live births in the population.

Preterm Birth Rate
The preterm birth rate is the number of infants born at less than 37 weeks gestation per 100 live births in the population.

Late Prenatal Care
Late prenatal care is the proportion of pregnant women who received prenatal care beginnning in the second or third trimester of

pregnancy in the population.

Demographic Data

U.S. Census

The U.S. Census counts every resident in the United States. It is mandated by Article |, Section 2 of the Censtitution and takes place
every 10 years. The data collected by the decennial census determine the number of seats each state has in the U.S. House of
Representatives and is also used to distribute billions in federal funds to local communities. 2010 Census data are available for all
places regardless of size. The results from the 2010 Census are available in o number of datasets in American FactFinder, which can
be accessed at http.//factfinder2.census.gov.

American Community Survey

The American Community Survey (ACS) is a nationwide survey designed to provide communities with timely information about
population changes. It is a critical element in the census program. The ACS collects information such as age, race, income, commute
time to work, home value, veteran status, and other important data. As with the 2010 decennial census, information about
individuals remains confidential.

U.S. Census Designations of Race and Hispanic Origin

The U.S. Census Bureau collects race and Hispanic origin information following the guidance of the U.5. Office of Management and
Budget's (OMB) 1997 Revisions to the Standards for the Classification of Federal Data on Race and Ethnicity. These federaf
standards mandate that race and Hispanic origin {ethnicity) ere separate and distinct concepts and that when collecting these data
via self-identification. OMB requires federal agencies to use a minimum of two ethnicities: Hispanic or Latino and Not Hispanic or
Latino. Hispanic origin can be viewed as the heritage, nationality group, lineage, or country of birth of the person or the person’s
parents or ancestors before their arrival in the United States. People who identify their origin as Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish may be
any race.

Starting in 1997, OMB required federal agencies to use a minimum of five race categories: White, Black or African American,
American Indian or Alaska Native, Asian, and Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander. For respondents unable to identify with any

Page | 49




of these five race categories, OMB approved the Census Bureauw’'s inclusion of a sixth category—Some Other Race—on the Census
2000 and 2010 Census guestionnaires.

The race categories included in the census questionnaire generally reflect a social definition of race recognized in this country and
are not an attempt to define race biclogically, anthropologically, or genetically. For more information on race and Hispanic origin in
the United States, visit the Census Bureau’s Internet site at htip./fwww.census.gov/popuiation/hispanic and
http://www.census.gov/population/race.

Information on other population and housing topics is presented in the 2010 Census Briefs series, located on the Census Bureau’s
web site at http.//www.census.gov/2010census/. This series presents information about race, Hispanic origin, age, sex, household
type, housing tenure, and people who reside in group guarters.

Connecticut Economic Resource Center, Inc. (CERC) Town Profiles

Detailed information about the CERC Town Profile data sources can be found at http./feerc.com/images/customer-
files//CT TP Data Sources.pdf.

2010 Population Data - U.5. Census; American FactFinder
2012 Population Data & 2012 Poverty Rate - American Community Survey 2008-12

Connecticut Data Center (University of Connecticut) Population Data
2010 Population Data - U.5. Census

2015-2025 Population and Median Age Projections - information on the modeling methodology used can be accessed at:
hitp://ctsde.uconn.edu/2015 2025 projections/

References

1. World Health Organization (WHQ). 1992, Manual of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases, Injuries, and
Causes of Death, Bused on the Recommendations of the Tenth Revision Conference, 1992. WHO, Geneva.
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Executive Summary

Health assessments help us examine changes to the health of our community, aid residents in
leading healthy and happy lives, and work to identify key health issues facing the community.
The definition of health now includes the quality of the community in which we live, work, and
play — not just the lifestyle habits of individuals. A comprehensive assessment process must
provide a framework that helps communities prioritize public health issues; identify resources for
addressing them; and develop and implement community health improvement plans.

To this end, Charlotte Hungerford Hospital (CHH) and a cealition of community health providers
and agencies have completed a second Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA). The
most recent CHNA provides an overview of the social, economic, physical, and behavioral
health of our region’s population. Assessment of the current health status of community
residents, and the diverse factors that influence health, provides an important foundation for
community stakeholders to identify: priorities for health improvement planning, existing
community sirengths and assets upon which to build, and areas for further collaboration and
collective action. This Assessment is an update fo the first-ever Community Health Needs
Assessment in Northwest CT conducted in 2012. The original county-wide assessment was
funded by a CDC Community Transformation Grant through the CT State Department of Public
Health, Torrington Area Health District, Charlotte Hungerford Hospital, United Way of Northwest
CT, and the Northwest CT YMCA. Both the 2012 and 2015 Community Health Needs
Assessments for Northwest CT were prepared by the Center for Healthy Schools &
Communities at EDUCATION CONNECTION.

Our Community Health Assessment Partners:
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Introduction

The 2015 Community Health Needs Assessment concentrates, to the extent possible, on the
primary service area of CHH, which includes these 13 communities: Barkhamsted, Bethlehem,
Colebrook, Comwall, Goshen, Harwinton, New Hartford, Norfolk, Litchfield, Morris, Thomaston,
Torrington, and Winchester (Winsted). This CHNA is aiso informed by and aligned with the
focus areas and key health indicators included in the most recent statewide health assessment,
Healthy Connecticut 2020, and in the State Healih Improvement Plan. The State Health
Assessment and State Health Improvement Plan provide opportunities for organizations and
agencies across Connecticut to focus and align dialogue around a common framework for
improving health.

During the past decade, the state and region have both experienced improvements in maternal,
infant, and child health, including significant declines in births to teen mothers. However, recent
data for several NW CT towns reveal rates of smoking during pregnancy and preterm births are
above the state average. Chronic diseases are among the leading causes of death in the
region and state, and they encompass many conditions that can be prevented or minimized. In
the past decade, there has been a significant decline in certain risk factors, such as smoking in
adolescents and adults, and increases in preventive screenings among adults. At the same
time, there were increases in the prevalence of obesity, overweight, high blood pressure, high
cholesterol, diabetes, and asthma among adults.

Connecticut and the Northwest region have alsc experienced an increase in emergency
department visits for alcohol and other substance use disorders. Specifically, deaths due to
overdoses of prescription pain killers and heroin have increased in the state and region. Mental
heaith and substance use disorders affect individuals, families, and communities in complex and
challenging ways.

As community health leaders, these findings are a call to action. Below is our initial response to
the 2015 assessment, which constitutes our CHIP over the next three years. For greater detail
regarding the referenced Fit Together initiatives and the Opioid Task Force, including their
history, developments, and status of activities, please consult the complementary Fit Together
and Opioid Task Force Strategic Plans.
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Exhibit 3 — Audited Financial Statements (item #3}

Please provide all audited financial reports to support several key elements of Connecticut General
Studies § 19a-639f. Years requested: 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, and 2016.

Response:

Prepared at the request of the Counsel, please find attached the Audited Financial Statement for 2016.

Please note that the Audited Financial Statement for 2016 is a draft. Audited Financial Statements for
The Charlotte Hungerford Hospital for the years if 2012, 2013, 2014, and 2015 are on file with OHCA.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Governors of
The Charlotte Hungerford Hospital:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Charlotte Hungerford Hospital {the
Hospital), a Connecticut not-for-profit, non-stock corporation, which comprise the balance sheets as of
September 30, 2016 and 2015, and the related statements of operations and changes in net assets and
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’'s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor's Responsibility

QOur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectivenass of
the entity’'s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

{Continued)




Opinion

n our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of The Charlotte Hungerford Hospital as of September 30, 2016 and 2015, and the
results of its operations, changas in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

DRAFT

Simsbury, Connecticut
<>, 2016




THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
BALANCE SHEETS
September 30, 2016 and 2015

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $
Accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtful accounts
of $2,021,028 in 2016 and $2,065,788 in 2015)

Inventories

Other current assets
Total current assets
Assets whose use is limited:
Investments held in trust for estimated self~insurance liabilities
Investrments held under bond indentures
Danor restricted assets

Beneficial interest in assets held in trust by others

Total assets whose use is limited
Lang-term investments
Property, plant and equipment:

Land

Land improvements

Buildings

Fixed eguipment

Moveable equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation

Construction in progress

Total property, plant and equipment

Other assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilittes:
Accounts payable $
Estimated amounts due to third-party reimbursement agencies
Accrued salaries, wages and fees
Current portion of long-term debt

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Estimated self-insurance liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion

Accrued pension liability
Total liabilities

Net assets;
Unrestricted

Temporarily restricted

Permanently restricted
Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets $

2016 2015

6,634,923 % 5,598,887
12,967 655 13,732,468
2,014,584 1,969,907
1,629,999 1,624,373
23,247,161 22,925,635
3,595,585 3,554,247
10,851,304 -
6,646,114 6,997,698
20,312,336 19,644,506
41,405,339 30,196,451
35,437,220 39,204,252
155,467 155,467
8,141,173 6,065,958
87,737,951 85,337,412
18,211,110 17,320,195
54,184,457 51,167,168
166,430,158 160,046,200
(126,819,150) (120,950,456)
30,611,008 39,095,744
2,833,092 737,026
42 444,100 39,832,770
1,111,076 1,088,648

$ 1435644896 $ 133247756
7,300,496 $ 8,062,260
4,408,534 2,797,659
4,912,249 4,471,292
650,000 -
543,860 531,004
17,905,139 15,862,215
4,200,015 3,763,019
12,025,000 -
53,813,088 42 419,641
87,043,242 62,044,875
28,743,204 44,560,677
2,893,733 3,245,317
24,064,717 23,396,887
55,701,654 71,202,881
143,644,806 $ 133,247,756

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

For the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015

Unrestricted revenues:
Net patient service revenues

Provision for bad debts, net of recoveries

Net patient service revenues less provision

for bad debts

Other revenues

Total revenues

Expenses;
Salaries and wages
Services
Supplies
Employee benefits
Depreciation and amortization
Physician fees
Repairs and maintenance
Insurance

Total expenses
Operating loss
Other income (expenses);
investment and ather income, net
Non-operating expenses
Gifts and bequests
Gain from equity method investments

Total other income

Excess of revenues over expenses

2016 201
$ 112,206,101 § 116,129,644
(2,054,040) (2,393,914)
110,242,081 113,735,730
5,483,839 6,810,204
116,725,900 120,545,934
55,898,471 57,705,714
19,267,212 18,746,264
15,365,100 15,718,481
13,950,696 14,254,317
6,335,613 5,917,387
8,379,952 5,055,157
2,556,682 2,174,074
1,748,447 2,407,852
123,502,173 121,979,246
(6,776,273) (1,433,312)
3,237,215 2,896,009
(1,762,458) (289,870)
434,158 323,459
52413 31,113
1,961,328 2,960,711
$ (4814945 $ 1,527,399

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements,



THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
For the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015

Unrestricted net assets:
Excess of revenues over expenses

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments

Pension related changes other
than net periodic pension costs

Change in unrestricted net assets
Temporarily restricted net assets:
investmant income
Contributions

Change in unrealized losses on investments
Net assets released from restrictions

Change in temporarily restricted net assets
Permanently restricted net assets:
Change in beneficial interest in assets
held in trust by others
Change in permanently restricted net assets
Change in net assets

Net assets, beginning of year

Net assets, end of year

2016

$ (4,814,945)
1,057,285

(12,059,813)

2015

$ 1,527,399
{2,530,303)

(13,805,331)

(15,817,473)

(14,808,235)

40,265 145,921
246,476 175,117
(50,405) (288,680)
(587,920) (295,159)
(351,584) (262,801)
667,830 1,755,084
667,830 1,755,084

(15,501,227)

71,202,881

(13,315,952)

84,518,833

$ 55,701,654

3 71,202,881

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statemeants.



THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015

2016 2015
Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets $  (15501,227) $  (13,315,852)
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 6,335,613 5,817,387

Realized gains on investments (2,004,943) (1,460,055}
Unrealized (gains) losses on investments (887,580) 2,818,885
Increase in beneficial interest in assets held in trust by others (657,830) (1,755,084)
Unreslized (gains) losses on donor restricted assets {(119,313) 262,801
Provision for bad debts, net of recoveries 2,054,040 2,383,914
Loss (gain) on disposal of eguipment 6,876 (2,304
Changes in assets and liabilities;
Accounts receivable (1,288,227) {2,973,803)
tnventeries {44,877} {17.646)
Other current assets (5,626} 547,397
Other assets, net {52,121} (48,452)
Accounts payable (671,764) 786,790
Estimated amounts due to third-party reimbursement agencies 1,610,875 920,284
Accrued salaries, wages and fees : 440,957 14,982
Other current liabilitias 12,856 {184,522)
Estimated self-insurance liahilities 436,996 {208,321)
Accrued pension liability 11,393,447 10,834,453
"~ Net cash provided by operating activities ' 1,047,452 4,530,854
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales of investments 15,536,755 5,347 812
Purchases of investments {19,208,945) (5,032,983)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (8,924,228) (6,470,146)
Net cash used in investing activities {12,686,416) (6,155,317)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings of long-term debt 13,000,000 -
Principal payments on long-ierm debt (325,000) -
Net cash provided by financing activities 12,675,000 -
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,036,038 {1,624,483)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 5,598,887 7,223,350
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 65,634,923 % 5,508 887

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest 3 104,347 % -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2016 and 2015

NOTE 1 - GENERAL

Organization: The Charlotte Hungerford Hospital (the Hospital), located in Torrington, Connecticut, is a
noi-for-profit acute care hospital. The Hospital provides inpatient, outpatient and emergency care
services for the residents of northwestern Connecticut.

In August 2016, the Hospital's Board of Governors entered into a formal affiliation with Hartford
HealthCare. On November 28, 2018, the Hospital and Hartford HealthCare filed a Certificate of Need
(CON} application with the Connecticut State Department of Public Health's Office of Health Care Access
and the Office of the Altorney General to approve the affiliation with Hartford HealthCare. If approved the
Hospital would become part of the Hartford HealthCare network.

As of September 30, 2018, management has not received all regulatory approvals to fully execute an
affiliation agreement. The Hospital will continue with its normal operations for the foreseeable future.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation: The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), as promulgated by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC).

Use of Estimates; The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reporied amounts of assets and liahilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Significant estimates relate to
contractual allowances and the allowance for doubtful accounts on patient accounts receivable, self-
insurance liabilities, valuation of investments, estimated seitlements due fo third-party reimbursement
agencies and pension plan assumptions. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Net Assef Categories: To ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of
resources available to the Hospital, the accounts of the Hospital are maintained in the following net asset
categories:

Unrestricted - Unrestricted net assets represent available resources other than donor
restricted contributions. Included in unrestricted net assets are assets set aside by the
Board of Governors (the Board) for future capital improvements, over which the Board
retains control and may, at its discretion, subsequently use for other purposes.

Temporarily restricted - Temporarily restricted net assets represent contributions that are
restricted by the donor either as to purpose or as to time of expenditure.

Permanently resiricted - Permanently restricted net assets represent contributions received
with the donor restriction that the principal be invested in perpetuity and that the income
earned thereon be available for operations and beneficial interest in assets held in trust by
others.

Assets Held in Trust by Others: The Hospital has been named sole or participating beneficiary in several
perpetual frusts. Under the terms of these trusts, the Hospital has the irrevocable right to receive the
income earned on the trust assets in perpetuity. The estimated present value of the future payments to
the Hospital is recorded at the fair value of the assets held in the trust. Fiuctuations in the value of such
assets are recognized as changes in permanently restricted net assets.

{Continued)




THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2016 and 2015

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Recognition of Grant Revenue: Grants are generally considered to be exchange transactions in which
the grantor requires the performance of specified activities. Entitlement to cost reimbursement grants is
conditioned on the expenditure of funds in accordance with grant restrictions and, therefore, revenue is
recognized to the extent of grant expenditures. Entitlement to performance based grants is conditioned
on the attainment of specific performance goals and, therefore, revenue is recognized to the extent of
performance achieved. The Hospital recognized $2,258,825 and $2,080,269 of grant revenue, included
in other revenues, for the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, Grant receipts in
excess of revenues recognized are presented as deferred grant support. Deferred grant support of
$81,122 and $300,778 is included in other current liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets as of
September 30, 2016 and 2015, respactively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents inciude highly liquid investments with maturities
of three months or less when purchased. In general, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)
insures cash balances up to $250,000 per depositor, per bank. It is the Hospital's policy to monitor the
financial strength of the banks that hold its deposits on an ongoing basis. During the normal course of
business, the Hospital maintains cash balances in excess of the FDIC insurance limit.

Inventories: Inventories, used in general operations of the Hospital, are stated at the lower of cost or
market. Costis determined by the specific identification method.

Investments: The Hospital accounts for its investments in accordance with FASB ASC 320, invesiments -
Debt and Equity Securities. Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all
investments in debt securities are measured at fair value in the accompanying balance sheets.
Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments in invested securities at the time
of the purchase and reevaluates such determination at each balance sheet date. Investment income
(including realized gains and losses on investments, interest and dividends) is included in the excess of
revenues aver expenses unless the income is restricted by donor or law. Unrealized gains and losses on
investments are excluded from excess of revenues over expenses,

All of the Hospital's investments, as of September 30, 2016 and 2015, were classified as available for
sale. Available for sale securities may be sold prior to maturity and are carried at fair value.

Assets Whose Use is Limited: Asseis whose use is limited include assets set aside for self-insurance
trust arrangements, assefs held by ftrustees under bond indenture agreements, donor restricted
endowments and assets held in trust by others.

Fair Value Measurements - The Hospital classifies its investments in accordance with FASB ASC 820,
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value under GAAP and requires certain disclosures about fair value measurements (see
Note 5). The definition of fair value under FASB ASC 820 focuses on the price that would be received to
sell the asset, which is referred to as the exit price.

(Continued)}



THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2016 and 2015

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other Than Temporary Impairments on investments: The Hospital accounts for other than temporary
impairments In accordance with certain provisions of FASB ASC 320 Invesfments - Debt and Equify
Securities and continually reviews its securities for impairment conditions, which could indicate that an
other than temporary decline in market value has occurred. In conducting this review, numerous factors
are considered, which include specific information pertaining to an individual company or a particular
industry, general market conditions that reflect prospects for the economy as a whole, and the ability and
intent to hold securities until recovery. The carrying value of investments is reduced to its estimated
realizable value if a decline in fair value is considered to be other than temporary. There were no
impairments recorded in 2016 or 2015.

Federal Income Taxes: The Hospital is a not-for-profit corparation under Section 501{c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code (the Code) and is exempt from federal income taxes on related income pursuani to
Section 501(a) of the Code.

The Hospital accounts for uncertain fax positions in accerdance with provisions of FASB ASC 740,
Income Taxes which provides a framework for how companies should recognize, measure, present and
disclose uncertain tax positions in their financial statements. The Hospital may recegnize the tax benefit
from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The Hospital does
not have any uncertain tax positions as of September 30, 2016 or 2015. As of September 30, 2016 or
2015, the Hospital did not record any penalties or interest associated with uncertain tax positions. The
Hospital would recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
The Hospital’s prior three tax years are open and subject to examination.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipmeant purchased by the Hospital is recorded at
cost, or if received as a donation, at fair value on the date received. The Hospital provides for
depreciation of property, plant and equipment for financial reporting purposes using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the various assets. American Hospital Association lives are
generally used and pravide for a 15-50 year life for buildings and a 3-20 year life for building fixtures and
equipment. Leased equipment is amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the life of the
applicable lease or life of the leased asset.

Depreciation expense was $6,305,920 and $5,879,781 for the years ended September 30, 2016 and
2015, respectively.

(Continued)




THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2016 and 2015

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments_in Joint Ventures: The Hospital has invested in certain joint ventures which are accounted
for under the equity method of accounting and included within other assets on the balance sheets. The
Hospital's investment in these joint ventures is as follows:

Ownership

Percentage
Advanced Medical Imaging of Northwest CT, LLC {(AMI) 50%
MedConn Collection Agency, LLC (MedConn) 33%
Urology Center of Northwest CT, LLC (Urology) 62.5%

The Hospital has recorded its share of AMI's net income of $844,018 and $506,231 within other revenues
as of September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, as these services are a component of the Hospital
operations. In addition, the 62.5% investment in Urology is presented under the equity method of
accounting as it is immaterial to present in a consolidated presentation. The Hospital has recorded an
asset of $18,617 and $42,886 related to the ownership of Urology as of September 30, 2018 and 2015,
respectively. The Hospital has recorded its share of MedConn and Urology’s net income of $52,413 and
$31,113 in gain from equity method investments as of September 30, 2016 and 2015.

QOther Income: Activities other than in connection with providing health care services are considered to be
non-operating. Non-operating income consists primarily of income on investment funds, unrestricted gifts
and beguests and gains from equity method investments.

Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets: For purposes of display, transactions deemed by
management to be ongoing, major or central to the providing of healthcare services are reported as
operating revenues and expenses. Investment income and realized gains and losses on securities are
considered non-operating activity. Changes in unrestricted net assets which are excluded from excess of
revenues over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include unrealized gains and losses on
investments, except for losses that are deemed to be other than temporary, certain changes in pension
liabilities and contributions of long-lived assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by
donor restriction were to be used for the purposes of acquiring such assets).

Reclassifications: Some items in the prior year financial statements were reclassified to conform to the
current presentation. Reclassifications had no effect on prior year net assets or the change in net assets.

Subsequent Events: Subsequent events have been evaluated through <>, 2018, the date through which
procedures were performed to prepare the financial statements for issuance. Management believes there
are no subsequent events having a material impact on the financial statements.

(Continued)
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THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2016 and 2015

NOTE 3 - REVENUES FROM SERVICES TO PATIENTS AND CHARITY CARE

The following tables reconcile gross revenues to net revenues from services to patients:

2016
Medicaid and
Medicaid
Medicare . HMQs Biue Cross Other Total
Gross revenuas from services $ 141,282,183 § 65,352,800 § 29,758,781 $ 57,660,060 $ 204,062,824
to patients
[Deductions and allowances {86,915,241) (48,504,181) (14,213,717) (32,133,584) (181,766,723)

Net revenues from services to patients $ 54,366,542 § 16,848,619 § 15545064 § 25535476 $ 112,296,101

2014
Medicaid and
Medicaid
Medicare HMOs Blue Cross Other Total
Gross revenues from services $ 137,801,587 $ 61,199,842 § 27,818,056 § 56,786,623 § 283,706,108
to patients )
Deductions and allowances {81,418,666) (43,357.625) (12,626,338) (30,173,835} (167,576,464

Net revenues from services to patients $ 56482021 § 17,842,217 $15191,718 § 26,612,788 § 116,125,644

Net Patient Service Revenues and Net Accounts Receivable: Net patient service revenue is reported at
the established net realizable amounts from patients, third-party payors and others for services rendered,
including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-party payors.
Net patient service revenue and accounts receivable are recorded when patient services are performed.
Amounts received from most third-party payors are different from established billing rates of the Hospital,
based on agreements with these payors, and these differences are accounted for as contractual
allowances. Payment arrangements include prospectively determined rates per discharge, reimbursed
costs, per diem payments, and discounted charges, including estimated retroactive settlements under
payment agreements with - third-party payors. Adjustments and settlements under reimbursement
agreements with third-party payors are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the related services
are provided and adjusted in future periods as final seftlements are determined.

For uninsured patients that do not qualify for charity care, the Hospital recognizes revenue based on its
discounted rates. On the basis of historical experience, a significant portion of the Hospital's uninsured
patients will be unable or unwilling to pay for the services provided. Thus, the Hospital records a
significant provision for bad debts related to uninsured patients in the period the services are provided.

Patient accounts receivable are based on gross charges and stated at net realizable value. Accounts
receivable are reduced by an allowance for contractual adjustments, based on expected payment rates
from payors under current reimbursement methodologies, and also by an allowance for doubtfui
accounts, In evaluating the collectability of accounts receivable, the Hospital analyzes its past history and
identifies trends for each of its major payor sources of revenue to estimate appropriate allowance for
doubtful accounts and provision for bad debts based upon management’s assessment of historical and
expected net collections considering business and economic conditions, trends in health care coverage,
and other collection indicators. Management regularly reviews data about these major payor sources of
revenue in evaluating the sufiiciency of the allowance for contractual adjustments and allowance for

doubtful accounts.

(Continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
' September 30, 2016 and 2015

NOTE 3 - REVENUES FROM SERVICES TO PATIENTS AND CHARITY CARE (Continued)

For receivables associated with services provided to patients who have third-party coverage, the Hospital
analyzes contraciually due amounts and provides an allowance for doubtful accounts and a provision for
bad debts (for example, for expected uncollectible deductibles and copayments on accounts for which the
third-party payor has not yet paid, or for payors who are known to be having financial difficulties that
make the realization of amounts due unlikely). For receivables associated with self-pay patients {which
includes both patients without insurance and patients with deductible and co-payment balances due for
which third-party coverage exists for part of the bill), the Hospital records a significant provision for bad
debts in the period of service on the basis of its past experience, which indicates that many patients are
unable or unwilling to pay the portion of their bill for which they are financially responsible.

For uninsured patients that do not qualify for financial assistance, the Hospital offers a discount off its
standard rates for services provided. The difference between the discounted rates and the amounts
actually coliected after all reasonable collection efforts have been exhausted is written off against the
allowance for doubtful accounts in the period they are determined uncollectible. The Hospital's allowance
for doubtful accounts covers all accounts greater than six months for both self-pay accounts receivable
and third party payors as of September 30, 2016 and 2015, The Hospital's provision for bad debts
before recoveries totaled $3,814,026 and $3,985,617 far 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Hospital's
bad debt recoveries totaled $1,759,986 and $1,591,703 for 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Hospital did
not change its charity care or financial assistance policy during 2016 or 2015.

At September 30, 2016 and 2015, 63% and 64% of net patient accounts receivable were from
govemnmental payors (Medicare and Medicaid) and 37% and 36% were from nongovernmental payors,
respectively.  Nongovernmental payors are primarily insurance companies and self-pay payors.
Management has recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts, as noted above, which, in its opinion, is
sufficient to provide for risk of nonpayment.

Charity Care: It is an inherent part of the Hospital's mission to provide necessary medical care free of
charge, or at a discount, to individuals without insurance or other means of paying for such care. As the
amounis determined to qualify for charity care are not pursued for collection, they are not reported as net
patient service revenue. Patients who would otherwise aqualify for charity care but who do not provide
adequate information would be characterized as bad debt and included in the provision for bad debts.
The amount of traditional charity care provided, determined on the basis of cost, was $817,622 and
$695,328 for the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Hospital released assets
whose use was restricted to fund free-care of $69,519 and $37,174, for the years ending September 30,
2016 and 2015, respectively.

Federal Regulatory Environment: The healthcare industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of
federal, state and local governments. These laws and regulations include, but are not necessarily limited
to, matters such as licensure, accreditation, government healthcare program participation requirements,
reimbursement for patient services and Medicare and Medicaid fraud and abuse. Government activity
continues to increase with respect to investigations and allegations concerning possible vialations of fraud
and abuse statutes and regulations by healthcare providers. Violations of these laws and regulations
could result in expulsion from government healthcare programs togather with the imposition of significant
fines and penalties, as well as significant repayments for patient services previously billed. Management
believes that the Hospital is in compliance with fraud and abuse regulations as well as other applicable
government laws and regulations. While no known regulatory inquiries are pending, compliance with
such laws and regulatians can be subject to future government review and interpretation as well as
regulatory actions known or unasserted at this time.

(Continued)
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THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2016 and 2015

NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS
Market values of investments, as of September 30, 2016 and 2015, are summarized as follows:

2016 2015

Long-term investments:
(including Board and donor restricted)
Equity securities $ 26528873 § 28,6852281
Corporate bonds 5,508,556 7,343,599
Mutual and exchange traded funds 4,458,433 5,601,435
Money market funds 15,353,891 3,269,362
Certificates of deposit 973,253 1,222,102
Municipal bonds 109,161 112,545
U.S. treasury and government agencies 471 626
Total $ 52,934,638 $ 46,201,850
Investments held in trust for estimated
self-insurance liabilities:
Mutual funds 3 811213 % 2,243 107
Money market funds 2,784 372 1,305,140

$ 3595585 % 3,554,247

Beneficial interest in assets held in irust of $20,312,366 and 519,644,508, as of Sepiember 30, 2016 and
2015, respectively, are held by bank trustees and are not under the Hospital’s investment control. These
assets are invested within diversified portfolios.

Investment and other income net is comprised of the following for the years ended September 30, 2016
and 2015:

2016 2015
Income, gains and (expenses):
Interest and dividend income $ 1,530,700 $ 1,708,268
Reailized and unrealized gains on secutities 3,012,685 4,413,368
Expenses ' (219,025 (229,926)
Total $ 4324360 $ 5889710

(Continued)
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THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2016 and 2015

NOTE 5 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

U.S. GAAP defines fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid io transfer a
liability (an exit price) in the Hospital's principal or most advantageous market for the asset or
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. A fair value
hierarchy requires an eniity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unchservable inputs when measuring fair value. There are three levels of inputs that may be used
to measure fair value:

Level 1. Quoted prices {unadjusted) for identical assets or liahilities in active markets that the
Hospital has the ability to access as of the measurement date. The fair values of money market
funds, exchange traded funds, mutual funds, the self insurance trust and equity securities that
are readily marketable are determined by obtaining quoted prices from nationally recognized
securities exchanges. The unit investrent trust is valued at the closing price reporied on the
active market on which the individual trust is traded.

Levei 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. The fair values of the Hospital's
Level 2 corporate, foreign, U.S. treasury and government agency and municipal bonds were
determined by matrix pricing, which is a mathematical technigue widely used in the industry to value
debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific securties but rather by
relying on the securities' relationship to other benchmark quoted securities. The fair value of
certificates of deposit are estimated using a discounted cash fiows calculation that applies interest
rates currently being offered on ceriificates fo a schedule of aggregated expected monthly
maturities on time deposits.

Level 3. Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a reporting entity's own assumptions about
the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. Funds held in
trust by others represents beneficial interest in certain assets held by third parties. These
interests are classified as Level 3 investments as the reported fair values are based on a
combination of Level 1 and Level 2 inputs and significant unobservable inputs as determined by
the trustees whao exercise control over the investments.

In many cases, a valuation technique used to measure fair value includes inputs from multiple levels
of the fair value hierarchy. The lowest level of significant input determines the placement of the entire
fair value measurement in the hierarchy.

(Continued)
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NOTE 5 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS {Continued)

The following table presents the financial instruments, carried at fair valug as of September 30, 2016, by

the valuation hierarchy:

Money market funds

Certificates of deposit

Equity securities:
Industrials

Consumer discretionary

Financials
Technology
Consumer staples
Health care
Energy
Real estate
Utilities

Corporate bonds

Municipal bonds

Mutual and

exchange traded funds:

international
index funds
Fixed income
Industry funds
Materials
U.S. large cap

.S, mid and small cap

U.S. treasury and
government agencies

Held under bond indentures

Self-insurance trust

Funds held in trust by others

Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ 15,353,891 $ - % - $ 15,353,891
- 973,253 - 973,253
3,005,210 - - 3,005,210
2227674 - - 2,227,674
3,478,777 - - 3,478,777
5,629,458 . - - 5,629,458
2,849,100 . - - 2,849.100
4,553,596 - - 4,553,596
1,904,551 - - 1,904,551
407,199 - - 407,199
2,476,308 - - 2,476,308
- 5,609,556 - 5,509,556
- 109,161 - 109,161
1,536,291 - - 1,536,291
1,189,089 - - 1,189,089
907,566 - - 907 566
533,000 - - 533,000
138,996 - - 138,996
99,483 - - 99,493
53,998 - - 53,998
- 471 - 471
10,851,304 - - 10,851,304
3,595,585 - - 3,595,585
- - 20,312,336 20,312,336
$ 60,780,086 $ 6592441 $ 20,312336 $ 87,693,863

{Continued)
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NOTE 5 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

The following table presents the financial instruments, carried at fair value as of September 30, 2015, by
the valuation hierarchy:

Level 1 lLevel 2 Level 3 Total
Money market funds $ 3269362 $ - % - § 3,269,362
Cerificates of deposit - 1,222,102 - 1,222,102
Equity securities:
Industrials 4,842,500 - - 4,842,500
Consumer staples 4,383,341 - - 4,383,341
Consumer discretionary 3,984,093 - - 3,984,093
Health care 3,513,023 - - 3,513,023
Energy 3,512,054 - - 3,512,054
Financials 3,230,447 - - 3,230,447
Technology 2,680,086 - - 2,680,096
Utilities 1,968,485 - - 1,968,485
Real estate 538,242 - - 538,242
Corporate bonds - 7,343,569 - 7,343,599
Municipal bonds - 112,545 - 112,545
Mutual and
exchange traded funds:
Materials 2,460,530 - - 2,460,530
Index funds 1,585,824 - - 1,585,824
Fixed income 800,557 800,557
Industry funds 472 803 - - 472,803
International : 139,728 - - 139,728
U.S. large cap 88,016 - - 88,016
U.8. mid and small cap 53,977 - - 53,977
U.S. treasury and
government agencies - 626 - 626
Self-insurance trust 3,554,247 - - 3,554,247
Funds held in trust by others - - 19,644,506 19,644,506
Total $ 41077325 § 8678872 $ 19644506 § 69,400,703
{Continued)
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NOTE 5 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

A rollforward as of September 30, 2016 and 2015, of the amounts classified as Level 3 investments,
within the fair value hierarchy is as follows:

Funds Held in

Trust by Others

Balance as of October 1, 201.4 $ 17889422
Interest and dividends 414,231
Distributions (547,525)
Net realized gains 173,157
Fees (97,595)
Net unrealized gains 1,812,816
Balance as of September 30, 2016 19,644,506
Interest and dividends 344,236
Distributions {522,317)
Net realized gains {109,592)
Fees {(86,517)
Net unrealized gains 1,042,020
Balance as of September 30, 2016 _ $ 20,312,336

There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 for any invested assels
recorded at fair value during 2016 and 2015, The valuation techniques used by the Hospital maximize
the use of observabie inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

The fair values of the Hospital's Level 2 and Level 3 investments are determined by management after
considering prices received from third party pricing services.

As of September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Hospital's other financial instruments include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts payable, accrued expenses, estimated settlements due to and from third-party
payors and long-term debt. The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for these financial
instruments approximate their fair value.

NOTE 6 - RESTRICTED ASSETS

The Hospital's endowment and other restricted assets consist of multiple funds established for a variety of
purposes. The endowment and other restricted assets include both donor-restricted endowment funds
and funds held in trust by others. As required by GAAP, net assets associated with endowment funds,
are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor restrictions.

{Continued)
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NOTE 6 - RESTRICTED ASSETS (Continued)

The Hospital has interpreted the relevant laws as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original
gift as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the
contrary. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified in
permanently restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricied net assets until those amounts are
appropnated for expenditure by the Hospital during its annual budgeting process.

The Hospital considers the following factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate
donor-restricted endowment funds: (1) the duration and preservation of the fund; (2) the purposes of the
Hospital and the donor-resiricted endowment fund; {3) general economic conditions; (4) the possible
effect of inflation and deflation; (5) the expected total return from income and the appreciation of
investments; (6) other resources of the Haspital, and (7) the investment policies of the Hospital.

The Hospital's endowment as of September 30, 2016 and 2015, was made up of investments restricted
by donors of $24, 064,717 and $23,396,887.

Changes in endowment for the year ended September 30, 2016, are as follows:

Temporarily Permanently
Restricted Restricted Total
Balance at beginning of year $ - $ 23,396,887 $ 23,396,887
Investment return:
Investment income, net 1,171,871 - 1,171,871
Net change in market value - 667,830 667,830
Appropriations {(1,171,871) - {1,171,871)
Baiance at end of year % - $ 24064717 $ 24064717
Changes in endowment for the year ended September 30, 2015, are as follows:
Temporarily Permanently
Restricted Restricted Total
Balance at beginning of year $ - $ 21641803 % 21,641,803
Investment return:
Investment income, net 476,901 - 476,901
Net change in market value - 1,755,084 1,755,084
Appropriations {476,901) - (476,901)
$ - $ 23396887 $ 23396887
Balance at end of year
(Continued)
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NOTE 6 - RESTRICTED ASSETS (Continued)

Funds with Deficiencies: From time fo fime, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor
restricted endowment funds may fall below the level that the donor or relevant law reguires the Hospital fo
retain as a fund of perpetual duration. In accordance with GAAP, deficiencies of this nature are reported
in unrestricted net assets. As of September 30, 2016 and 2015, there were no funds that were below the
level required by donor or law.

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters: The Hospital's investment and spending policies for endowment
assets attempts to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while
seeking to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets. Endowment assets are invested in a
manner that is intended to produce results that approximate the price and yield results of the S&P 500
index while assuming a moderate level of investment risk.

Strategies Empioyed for Achieving Objectives: To satisfy its long-term rate of return objectives, the
Hospital relies on a total return strategy in which investment retumns are achieved through both capital

appreciation {realized and unrealized) and current yield {interest and dividends). The Hospital targets a
diversified asset allocation that places a greater emphasis on equity-based investments o achieve its
long-term return objectives within prudent risk constraints.

Spending Policy: During its annual budgeting process, the Hospital appropriates donor restricted
endowment funds for expenditure in accordance with donor purpose and time restrictions. During the
years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 the Hospital appropriated $1,171,871 and $476,901,
respectively, of temporary restricted funds for expenditure as donor restrictions on those funds were met.

Temporarily restricted net assets are available for the following purposes as of September 30, 2018 and
2015:

2016 2015
Healthcare related services $ 165,645 % 335,364
Facility improvement 635,447 065,264
Purchases of equipment 513,000 513,000
Clinical educator 1,579,641 1,431,689
Total 8 2,893,733 $ 3,245,317

Net assets released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes or by
occurrence of other events by donors as follows:

018 2015
Facility improvement $ 518,401 $ 238,226
Clinical educator 69,5189 55,933
Total 3 587,920 $ 295,159

{Continued)

19.




THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2016 and 2015

NQTE 6 - RESTRICTED ASSETS (Continued)

Endowment and other funds permanently restricted as of September 30, 206 and 2015, consist of the
following:

2016 2015
Beneficial trusts 3 20,312,336 3 16,644,506
Held in perpetuity,
income restricted for operations 3,752,381 3,752,381
Total 3 24,064,717 $ 23,396,887

NOTE 7 - PROFESSIONAL AND GENERAL LIABILITY AND WORKERS' COMPENSATION
INSURANCE

The Hospital self-insures the deductible amounts of the below coverages and all excess limits are
covered by insurance policies purchased from commercial carriers. The Hospital's professional and
general liability insurance limits are as follows:

Deductible Amounts

Per Claim/ Excess Coverage Type of
Policy Year Aggregate Limits Coverage
Fiscal 1982-1984 $100,00/500,000 $ 10,000,000 Occurrence
Fiscal 19885 $250,000/750,000 $ 15,000,000 Occurrence
Fiscal 1986 $500,000/1,500,000 $ 15,000,000 QOccurrence
Fiscal 1987-1988 $1,000,000/3,000,000 $ 20,000,000 GL Occurrence / PL Claims-made
Fiscal 1889-1290 $1,000,000/3,000,000 $ 25,000,000 GL Occurrence / PL Claims-made
Fiscal 1991-2001 $1,000,000/3,000,000 $ 30,000,000 GL Occurrence / PL Claims-made
Fiscal 2002 $1,000,000/3,000,000 $ 25,000,000 Gl. Occurrence / PL Claims-made
Fiscal 2003-2009 $1,000,000/3,000,000 $ 20,000,000 GL Occurrence / PL Claims-made
Fiscal 2010-2016 $1,000,000/4,000,000 $ 20,000,000 GL Occurrence / PL Claims-made
The Hospital's workers’ compensation insurance limits are as follows:
Self-Insured Retention  Excess Coverage Type of
Palicy Year [Aggregate Limits Coverage
Fiscal 1993-2002 $300,000/1,000,000 Statutory Occurrence
Fiscal 2003 $350,000/1,000,000 Statutory Occurrence
Fiscal 2004-2012 $325,000/1,000,000 Statutory Occurrence
Fiscal 2013-2018 $400,000/1,000,000 Statutory Occurrence
{Continued)
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NOTE 7 - PROFESSIONAL AND GENERAL LIABILITY AND WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
INSURANCE (Continued)

Professional, general liability and workers’ compensation claims that fall within the Hospital's self-
insurance levels have been asserted against the Hospital by various claimants. The claims are in various
stages of activity and resolution. There are also known incidents that have occurred through September
30, 20186, that may result in the assertion of additional claims. Other claims may be asseried arising from
services provided to patients or for other matters, for which no estimate of exposure can be determined at
this time. The Hospital utilizes an independent actuary to estimate its self-insurance liability that reflects
management’s accrual of its best estimate of these sel-insured losses under the policies described
above, for occurrences through September 30, 2016. ‘

The Hospital has established a trust for the purpose of setting aside assets for self-insurance purposes.
Under the trust agreement, the trust assets can only be used for payment of professional and general
liability losses, rejated expenses and the cost of administering the trust. The assets of, and contributions
to the trust are reported in the accompanying financial statements. Income from trust assets and
administrative costs are reported in the accompanying statements of operations and changes in net
assetls as other income.

Estimated self-insurance liabilities include estimates for claim obligations related to professional liability,
general liability and workers’ compensation claims. As of September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Hospital
maintains a commercial policy for its employees’ medical coverage. In fiscal years 2016 and 2015,
management discounted accrued medical malpractice and workers’ compensation losses at 3.00% and it
is management's opinion that this provides for adeguate loss contingencies.

NOTE 8 - LEASES

The Hospital has entered into non-cancellable operating and building rentals that expire in various years
through fiscal year 2020 and beyond. Certain leases may be renewed at the end of their term.

The foliowing is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
and building rentals as of September 30, 2016:

Operating Building
L.eases Rentals
For the year ended September 30:

2017 $ 445333 $ 1,140,605
2018 - 601,339
2019 - 445727
2020 - 218,586
2021 - 219,908
Thereafter - 670,620
Tatal minimum lease payments $ 445333 $ 3,206,785

Rental expense was $1,418,967 and $1,707.428 for the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively and is included in “Services” on the statements of operations and changes in net assets..

{Continued)
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NOTE 9 - PENSION PLAN

The Hospital has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the Plan) that covers all eligible
employees and provides for retirement, disability and optional survivor benefits. To participate in the
Plan, an employee must meet certain eligibility reguirements including attainment of age 21 and one-year
of continuous service (defined as 1,000 hours of service in a 12-month period). The time period for
employee benefits to become fully vested is five years of continuous service. Contributions are intended
to provide not only for benefits atiributed to service to date but also for those expected to be earned in the
future. Effective January 1, 2011, the Hospital executed a "soft freeze” of the Plan allowing no new
employees to participate. All employees that were currently enrelied in the Plan continued to vest and
accrue benefits in line with Plan policies. Effective January 1, 2013, the Hospital executed a "hard freeze"
of the Plan, freezing all vasting and accruing of benefits to employees enrolled in the Plan.

The Hospital's funding policy for the Plan is io contribuie each year the amount as required by the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1874, as determined by actuarial valuations developed by
the Plan’s actuary. Such funding requirements have been met for fiscal years 2016 and 2015.

Significant disciosures relating to the Plan as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

2016 2015

Change in benefit obligations:

Benefit obligations at beginning of year

$ 125,603,383

$ 116,600,051

Interest cost 5,655,864 5,068,072
Actuarial loss 14,109,928 7,907,890
Benefits paid (4,348,724) (3,972 .650)

Benefit obligations at end of year

Change in plan assets:

3 141,020,451

$ 125,603,363

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 83,183,722 § 85,014,863
Actual return on plan assets 7,495,799 {81,485)
Employer contributions 2,093,000 3,720,000
Expenses paid {1,216,434) {1,497,026)
Benefits paid {4,348,724) {3,972,650)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 87,207,363 § 83,183,722

Accrued pension liability:
Unfunded status and accrued pension liability

$ (53,813,088)

$ (42,419,641)

{Continued)
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NOTE & - PENSION PLAN (Continued)

2016 2015
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost $ 1,050,000 3 850,000
Interest cost 5,655,884 5,088,072
Expected return on plan assets (6,584 ,853) (6,286,593}
Amortization of prior service cost 173,007 173,007
Recognized net loss 1,132,586 944,635
Net periodic benefit cost $ 1,426,634 3 749121
Assumptions:
Weighted-average assumptions used 2018 2015
to determine benefit obligations:
Discount rate 3.86% 4.58%
Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A
Weighted-average assumptions used
to determine net periodic benefit cost;
Discount rate 4.58% 4.42%
Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A
Expected long-term return on plan assets 7.75% 7.75%

The accumulated benefit obligation at September 30, 2016 and 2015, under the Hospital's Plan was

$141,020,451 and $125,603,383, respectively.

The Hospital expects to contribute $1,500,000 fo its pension plan for the fiscal year beginning October 1,

2016.

Amounts recorded in unrestricted net assets as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 not yet amortized as a

compenent of net periodic benefit cost are as foliows:

201 2015
Unamortized prior service costs : $ 4,364,972 $ 4537979
Unamortized actuarial loss 60,888,313 48,655 483
Total $ 65253285 § 53193472

The amortization of prior service costs expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit costs for the year
ended September 30, 2017 is $173,007. The amortization of actuarial loss expected to be recognized in

net pericdic benefit costs for the year ended September 30, 2017 is $1,625,000.

The expected long-term rate of return assumption is determined by adding expected inflation to expected
long-term real returns of various asset classes, taking into account expected volatility and the correlation

between the returns of various asset classes.

{Continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2016 and 2015

NOTE 9 - PENSION PLAN (Continued)

The Hospital's target and actual pension plan weighted average asset allocations at September 30, 2016
by asset category was as follows:

Target Actual
Asset Category Allocations Allocations
Equity securities £69% 65%
Debt securities 25% 30%
Shortterm investments and other 6% 5%
Total 100% 100%

The asset mix was determined by evaluating the expected return against the Plan’s long-term objectives.
Performance is monitored on a monthly basis and the portfolio is rebalanced back to target levels to
ensure the targets are within reasonable range. The investment policy describes which securities are
allowed in the portfolios and the financial objectives of the Plan with which the investment Committee of
the Board of Governors oversees. The Investment Committee monitors the investment performance
quarterly to determine the continued feasibility of achieving the investment objectives and the
appropriateness of the investment policy.

The fair values of the Hospitals pension plan assets by asset category, are as follows, as of
September 30, 2016:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Common and preferred stocks $ 44,562 469 $ - $ - $ 44,562,469
Exchange traded funds 12,625,085 - - 12,525,095
Money market funds 5,306,562 - - 5,306,562
Mutual funds 2,675,611 - - 2,675,611
Unit investment trust - 790,445 - 790,445
Corporate and foreign bonds - 11,853,211 - 11,853,211
Certificates of deposit - 6,805,529 - 6,805,529
U.S. treasury and
government agencies 2,368,813 - 2,368,813
Municipal bonds - 153,759 - 153,759
Other - 165,869 - 165,869
Total $ 65,069,737 $ 22137626 - $ 87,207,363
{Continued)
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NOTE 9 - PENSION PLAN (Continued)

The fair values of the Hospital's pension plan assets by asset calegory, are
September 30, 2015:

as follows, as of

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Common and preferred stocks $ 40,652,066 $ - $ - $ 40,652,066
Exchange traded funds 18,675,024 - - 18,675,024
Money market funds 4,244 356 - -
Mutual funds 2,690,104 - - 2,680,104
Unit investment trust - 815,690 - 615,690
Corporate and foreign bonds - 12,048,982 - 12,948,982
Certificates of deposit - 1,628,614 - 1,628,614
U.S. treasury and
government agencies - 1,173,896 - 1,173,896
Municipal bonds - 359,240 - 359,240
Other - 195,750 - 195,750
Total $ 66,261,550 $ 16,922,172 3 - $ 83,183,722

The valuation methods used to value these assets are described in Note 5.

The following are the benefit payments, which are expected fo be paid in future years:

2017 $ 4,828,571
2018 5,187,000
2019 5,625,373
2020 5,859,675
2021 6,144,958
Years 2022-2025 35,658,796

The Hospital also has established a 403(b) plan covering all full-time and part-time employees of the
Hospital. Participants may elect to contribute a specific percentage of their compensation in pre-tax
deferrals subject to established Internal Revenue Code limitations. For the years ended September 30,
2016 and 2015, the Hospital contributed $611,317 and $966,910, respectively, to the 403(b) plan.

NOTE 10 - FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

The Hospital provides general health care services to residents within its geographic location. Expenses
related to providing these services for the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, are as follows:

2016 2015
Patient care services $ 108,268,606 $ 106,933,527
General and administrative 15,233,567 15,045,719
Total $ 123,502,173 $ 121,979,246

(Continued)
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September 30, 2016 and 2015

NOTE 11 - LONG TERM DEBT AND LINES OF CREDIT

On February 1, 2016, the State of Connecticut Health and Educational Facilities Authority (CHEFA)
issued $13,000,000 of Series D Bonds {the Series I Bonds or Bonds) on behalf of the Hospital. The
Series D Bonds mature serially from 2016 through 2036. The interest rate on the Bonds initially bear
interest at a fixed rate of 2.24% from issuance through and including December 31, 2025. On January 1,
20286, the interest rate on the Series D Bonds shall be adjusted to the Adjusted Federal Home Loan Bank
{FHLB) Rate, such adjusted rate shall remain fixed and in effect uniil January 1, 2038. The Loan
Agreement with CHEFA and the Trust Indenture for the Series D Bonds contain certain covenants that
require the Hospital to maintain a debt service coverage ratio of at least 1.1 to 1 at each fiscal year end
and o maintain a ratio of unrestricted and temporarily restricted net assets to long term debt of 1.0t 1 or
greater. :

Below is a summary of the Hospital's annual principal payments due relating to CHEFA as of September
30, 20186:

2017 3 650,000
2018 650,000
2019 650,000
2020 650,000
2021 650,000
Thereafter 9,425,000

Total $ 12675000

Effective September 11, 2014 the Hospital secured a revolving line of credit loan up to $3,000,000 with
Santander Bank, N.A.. As of September 30, 2016 and 2015, there were no outstanding borrowings
against the line of credit.

NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Hospital is party to various lawsuits incidental to its business. After consultation with legal counsel,
management believes that the lawsuits and inquines will not have a material adverse effect on the
Hospital's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

FASB ASC 410 Asset Relirement and Environmental Qbligations addresses financial accounting and
reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets such as asbestos-
containing facilities, when the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Management
currently believes that two facilities under their control could require a fair market value assessment of
their Asset Retirement Obligation (ARO). As of September 30, 2018 and 2015, no ARO has been
established, as no plans to renovate or sell any facility, or area within, with significant asbestos
material have been identified and an estimate of the removal cannot be determined and therefore no
settlement date has been determined. Management will continue to moniter its exposure for asbestos
removal and establish an ARO for the fair market value of the associated costs once sufficient
information has been obtained or a reasonable estimate can be made.

(Continued)
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NOTE 13 - RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities and the level of uncertainty related to
changes in the value of investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values
of investment securities will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect the
amounts reported in the statements of financial position.

In addition, the Plan invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to
various risks such as interest rate, market and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain
investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment securities
will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the
statements of financial position.

27.







Exhibit 4 — Organizational Documents (liem #4)

Please provide copies of documents sufficient to describe the ownership, operational, contracting and
clinical structure of your organization from 2012 to 2016.

Response:

Prepared at the request of Counsel, please find attached two Corporate Org Charts that represents our
structure over the time period requested. Only recently was there a change which is reflected in the
chart dated Gctober 2016. Also attached are the organization’s Bylaws, Deed, Articles of Incorporation,
and our Functional Org Charts for each year requested by OHCA in their December 19%
communication.







AN ACT INCORPORATING
THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD
HOSPITAL

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives in General Assembly
convened:

SEC. 1. Uri T. Hungerford of the city and state of New York, James A.
Doughty, Robert C. Swayze, Luther G, Turner, Thomas W. Bryant, John Workman,
F. F. Fuessenich, Charles F. Alvord and Willard A. Roraback, all of Torrington,
Charles F. Brooker of Ansonia, Elisha J. Steele, Charles G. Agard, Frederick P.
Weston and Edward H. Hotchkiss, all of Torrington, and John M. Wadhams of
Goshen, John A. Coe, Jr., of Waterbury, Wiiliam C. Hungerford of New Britain,
Benjamin B. Phillips and Edmund Wall, Sr., both of Torrington, B. Austin Cheney of
New Haven, Edward J. Kelley, John N. Rosenbeck, Frederick L. Braman and Frank J.
Damon, all of Torrington, and their successors, selected in the manner hereinafter
specified, are constituted a body politic and corporate, by the name of The
Charlotte Hungerford Hospital and by that name may purchase, receive hold and
convey any estate, real or personal, may have a common seal and alter the same,
may make such bylaws, rules and regulations as may be necessary and may
appoint such officers, agents, assistants and servants and define their powers and
duties and determine their term of office or employment.

SEC. 2. The object of said corporation shall be to receive by
conveyance from Uri T. Hungerford a certain estate situate within and near the
westerly line of the borough of Torrington, as described in a deed from said ;
Hungerford to said corporation, and to hold the same subject to all the terms, -
conditions, restrictions and provisions of said deed and for the purpose of |
carrying out the trust created by said deed, namely maintaining and supporting a
hospital to be known as The Charlotte Hungerford Hospital. Said corporation is
further authorized to receive any other property, real or personal, that may be
transferred to it for the purpose of said corporation, and apply the same for that
purpose as hereinafter directed. ;-

SEC. 3. Said corporation is authorized in the administration of its trust
to comply with the regulations, restrictions, and provisions in reference thereto
contained in said deed of trust of said Uri Taylor Hungerford and with any
regulations, restrictions or provisions which may be imposed by any other donor



in relation to the management or administration of any donations, provided the
same shall not conflict with the provisions of said deed, with the provisions of this
act or the laws of this state, and shall not be foreign to or inconsistent with the
purposes of said organization.

SEC. 4. The number of corporators shall at no time be more than 40
nor less than 20 and vacancies shall be filled by a majority vote of the corporators
at a meeting specially called for that purpoese, provided no practicing physician

shall be elected a corporator.

SEC. 5. All the property of said corporation which shall be actually
used for the purposes of said hospital and from which it shall receive no revenue,
including money at interest or investments the revenue from which shall be used
for the benefit of said hospital, shall be free from taxation.

SEC. 6. The first meeting of said corporation shall be held on call of
four of said corporators named in said deed, namely, James A. Doughty, Elisha J.
Steele, Robert C. Swayze of Torrington and Charles F. Brooker of Ansonia, or any
two of them, by written notice signed by them stating the time and place of the
meeting, addressed to each of the corporators and either left at their usual places
of abode or deposited in the post office at Torrington, at least five days before the
date of said meeting. Ten corporators shall constitute a quorum at any meeting
of said corporation, except at a special meeting called to elect a corporator.

Approved March 21, 1917
Section 4 amended February 20, 1991
Section 4 amended December 21, 2011
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in relation to the management or administration of any donations, provided the
same shall not conflict with the provisions of said deed, with the provisions of this
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BYLAWS
OF
THE CHARLOTTE HUNGERFORD HOSPITAL

ARTICLE |

The pumposes for which The Charlotte Hungerford Hospital (the "Hospital) is
formed are set forth in its Certificate of incorporation. The role of the Hospital shall be
delineated in mission and vision statements which shall be reviewed from time to time as
the Board of Governors deems appropriate.

ARTICLE Il
MEMBERS AND MEETINGS OF THE CORPORATION

1. Membership. The hospital shall have no more than 40 nor less than 20
Cormporators. The Corporators shall have the right to elect the Board of Governors of the
Hospital and shall have all of the other rights, powers and privileges usually or by law
accorded fo the members of a nonstock; nonprofit hospital and not conterred thereby or by
the bylaws upon the Board of Governors of the Hospital. '

2. Annual Meetings. The annual meeting of the corporation shall be held at such
time in the month of December and at such place in the City of Torrington as the Board of
Govemnors shall appoint. The Chaiman of the Board, President, or Secretary shall cause
written notice of such meetings to be given to each corporator not less than seven days in
advance. In addition to the annual meeting, two regular meefings of the Corporation shall
be held each year. The times and places of such meetings shall be designated by the
officer entifled to preside thereat, except that such meetings will be held in the months of
April and August.

3. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the comporation may be called at any
time by the Board of Govemors or any three corporators. Notice of any such meeting,
stating the purpose thereof, shall be given by the Chairman of the Board, President or
Secretary in the same manner as is provided for annual meetings.

ARTICLE Il
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

1. Composition and Election. The Board of Governors shall consist of no fess
than fifteen (15) nor more than eighteen (18) members, one of whom shall be the
executive director, ex officio, and at least one of whom shall be a physician on the staff of
the Hospital. The corporators, at the annual meeting, shall fix the number of governors
and shall elect by three quarters of alf corporators present, a sufficient number of




governors to comply with at least the minimum composition of the Board. Each
governor shall serve for a term of two (2) years or until his or her successor is duly
elected and qualified. Members of the Board may but need not be corporators. The
Board of Governors may fill any vacancy arising in its own body for any unexpired term.

2. Quaglifications. All Governors shall be selected for their ability o participate
effectively in fulfifling the Board of Governors responsibilities and the role and purpose of
the Hospital. Govemors shall have such other qualifications as the Corporators and the
Board of Governors may deem appropriate to assure that the Board of Governors
represents a broad range of community interests.

3. Powers and Authority. The administrative powers of the Hospital shall be
vested in the Board of Governors, which shall have charge, control, and management of
the property, affairs, and management of the property, affairs, and funds of the Hospital,
and which shall have the power and authority to do and perform all acts and functions not
inconsistent with these Bylaws.

4. Conflict of Interest. All Governors shall avoid conflict of interest between
personal/professional interests and Board responsibilities. Any duality of interest or
possible conflict of inferest on the part of any governing Board member must be disclosed
to other members of the Board and made a matter of record, either through an annual
procedure or when the interest becomes a matter of Board action.

5. Appointive Power, Executive Direclor. The Board of Govemnors shali appomt
an Execufive Director of the Hospital whose basic function is to provide leadership and
overalt direction and administration of the operations of the Hospital, and to interpret and
apply the policies of the Board of Governors, and to recommend any new policies as
needed, and further, to guide and develop long-range planning, and evaluate activities in
terms of objectives.

His responsibilities are to:

Direct and generally supervise all Hospital activities. Prepare short and long-range
objectives and recommend their adoption to the Board. Prepare plans and programs for
attainment of approved objectives. Coordinate the activities of all depariments.

See that adequate organization plans, procedures and controls are employed by
each depariment to make possible the proper execution of their responsibilities and
attainment of their goals.

Direct selection, emp!oymen_t, control and discharge of all employees.

Develop and maintain personnel policies and practices for the Hospital. -




Delegate portions of these responsibilities and authority when necessary, but may
not delegate overall responsibility for results nor any portion of his accountabifity.

Subrmit annual accomplishment objectives, the annual budget and proposed capital
and extraordinary expenditure programs to the Board for approval, making appropriate
recommendations. Report financial status and progress on programs to the Board.

Perform all duties within fimits of the policies of the Board.

Refer to the Board all matters of major importance to the Hospital's progress and
well being, for the purpose of securing authorization, or decision.

Assure that the Hospital complies with Hospital guidelines, rules and regulations
and with govemmental and voluntary codes and standards.

Maintain an intimate working relationship with the Medical Staff particularly with the
President and Executive Commitice. Act as liaison between the Medical Staff and the
Board, attending Stafi meetings, reporting and explaining Board actions and activities,
coordinating Hospital departments with staff needs, and keeping the Board advised of the
Medical Staff's activities and problems. Receive applications fo the Medical Staff and
enforce disciplinary policies set forth in the Board, or in the Medical Staff bylaws, on such
questions as the maintenance of medical records, etc.

Act as liaison between the Board of Governors and the Hospital Auxiliary.

6. Regular Meetings. The annual meeting of the Board of Governors shall be held
foliowing the annual meeting of the corporation or at such other convenient fime as may
from time to time be designated by the officer entitled to preside at such meeting. In
addition to the annual meeting, five regular meetings of the Board of Governors shall be
held each year. The times and places of such meetings shall be designated by the officer
enfitled to preside thereat, except that such meetings shall be held in the months of
February, April, June, August and October. ‘ :

7. Notice. Notice of the time and place of the annual meeting of the Board of
Governors may be announced at the annual meeting of the corporation, or may be given
in the manner provided for regular meetings. The Secretary shall give a notice of the time
and place of every regular meeting of the Board of Governors by mailing such notice to
each member of the Board in sufficient time for defivery in the ordinary course of post at
his last known address, or by oral notice, at least twenty-four hours in advance of such
meeting.



8. Special Meefings. Special meetings of the Board of Governors may be called
at any time by the Chairman of the Board, and such meetings shall be called by him on
the written request of any five members of the Board stating the purpose of the meeting
requested. Notice of the time and place of every special meeting, stating the purpose

9. Quorum. Nine members of the Board of Governors shall constitute a guorum
for all business.

10. Chairmman of the Board. The Board of Governors may elect a Chairman of the
Board, who shall serve at its pleasure and preside at alt meefings of the Board at which he
is present.

11. Aftendance at Meetings. Board members are expected to attend at least two-
thirds of the meetings of the Board of Govemnors, unless excused for good cause by the
President or Chairman of the Board. Failure to attend the requisite number of mestings,
unless so excused, shall be deemed a resignation from the Board.

ARTICLE IV
COMMITTEES

1. Creation_and Election. There shall be an Executive Committee, a Health
Care Planning Committee, a Patient Care Conference Committee, a Community Relations
Committee, a Finance Committee, a Human Resources Committee, a Nominating
Committee, and such additional committees of the Board of Govemnors with such powers
and duties as the Board may from time to time direct. Members of committees shall,
except as otherwise provided, be elected at the annual meeting of the Board, or at any
other meeting called for the purpose and shall serve for a term of one year at the pleasure
of the Board and until their successors are elected.

2. Executive . Commitiee. The Executive Committee shall consist of the
Chairman, all other officers of the corporation, except salaried employees, and the
chairmen of the Health Care Planning, Patient Care Conference, Community Relations,
Building, if then in existence, Finance and Human Resources Commitiees. The Board of
Governors shall designate a Chairman and a Vice Chairman of the Committee from the
members of the Executive Committee. Except as otherwise expressly provided in these
bylaws or any amendment thereto, the Executive Committee shall exercise all the powers
of the Board of Governors in the infervals between meetings of the Board, shall be
responsible to the Board and shall report all of its doings to the Board as requested, and
may appoint such committees, officers and agents as it shall consider advisable for the
efficient operation of the corporation's affairs. The Chairman of the Executive Committee,
in case of the absence of any member from a meeting of that committee, may designate
another member of the Board of Govemors to attend in lieu of such absent member and
any person so designated shall be entitled to vote on all questions arising at such meeting.




3. FEinance Committee. The Finance Committee shall consist of the number of
Govemnors as may from time to time be established by the Board of Govemors, The
Committee shall cany out the Board of Governors' responsibility to insure the financial
integrity of the Hospital by defermining that its present and future programs are within its
present and future financial capabilities. The Committee shall (i) review, challenge and
recommend annually operating and capital budgets which” are in conformity with the
Hospital's long range plan developed by the Health Care Planning Committee; (i) manage
the several funds of the Hospital; (iii) advise the Health Care Planning and Community
Relations Committees of the financial needs of the Hospital and the recommended
approach to obtaining the needed financial resources; (iv) ensure the development and
implementation of a cost containment program which has the participation of Hospital
administration and medical staff, (v} review quarterly the performance of the Hospital's
investment managers, (vi) serve as the Hospital's Audit Committee, meeting at least
annually with the Hospital's auditor to review the Hospital's financial performance,
including the annual Management letter, and (vii} review at least quarterly, the Hospital's
Compliance Program as reported by the Hospital's Compliance Officer and Compliance
Committee.

4, Patient Care Conference Committee. The Patient Care Conference
Committee shall consist of the Executive Director, with vote, together with equal numbers
of representatives of the Board of Govemors and the Medical Staff Representatives of
the Board of Governors shall be appointed to this Committee as herein provided;
representatives of the Medical Staff shall be appointed in accordance with the bylaws of
the Medical Staff. It is the responsibility of this committee to monitor and evaluate all
aspects of quality assurance and report such information to the Board of Governors in
order to ensure that all aspects of professional and administrative performance result in
high quality patient care. The Committee shall:

i) review and recommend appointments and reappointments to the Medical Staff,
ii) monitor all patient care evaluation, utilization review and malpractice claim activity,
i)  obtain and evaluate information on patient attitudes,

iv) monitor the implementation of standards as set forth by appropriate professional
and regulatory bodies, and

v) in the interest of better patient care, promote effective and constructive dialogue
among the Board of Governors, Administration, and the Medical Staff.

5. Human Resources Committee. The Human Resources Committee shall consist
of the number of Govemors as may from time to time be established by the Board of
Governors. The duties of this Commitiee shall be to develop and maintain personnel
standards with regard to qualifications, position classification, salary ranges and benefits,




and personnel practices. To implement these duties, the Committee shall review and
advise the Board in the following areas:

v)

Professional development and recruitment.

Staffing pattemns.

Position classification.

Salary plan. This involves the recommendation of a salary and benefits structure
for all employees other than top management empioyees and staff physicians
related to the position classification that will attract and retain the needed staff,
compensate them adequately and providé rewards for continued efforts and

increased competence. It calls for annual review of such salary and benefit ranges
to be recommended to the Finance Committee for action.

Continuing improvements in communication and employee relations.

The Committee shall complete and present annually to the Board of Govemors an

annual report covering Human Resource projects and annual goals,

6. Heaith Care Planning Committee. The Health Care Planning Committee

shall consist of the number of members as may from time to time be established by the
Board of Govermnors. The Committee shall include representatives of the administrative
and Medical Staff. The Committee shall carry out the Board of Govemors' responsibility
for the preparation and periodic revision of a five year plan that supporis the delivery of the
most efficient, high quality patient care programs which are consistent with defined
community needs. The Committee shall:

i}

prepare for Board review and approval a long range plan that sets forth patient care
programs developed from an evaluation of community needs and availability of
financial resources. This plan will consider, among other things, the physical
facilities needed, medical and support staff required as well as the capital funds and
operating expenses needed to support the plan,

prepare a three-year capital expenditure plan,

prepare an annual update/revision of the Hospital's plans,

meet with staff representatives of the Office of Health Care Access to

(a) understand this regulatory agency’s plan for the region's heaith care delivery
system, and (b) communicate to this agency the heatlth care needs of the Hospital's

service area and the Hospital's plans to respond to these needs,

communicate with the Community Relations Committee to obtain information on
this Committee's work relative to the health care needs of the community, and




vi) communicate with the Finance Committee to obtain information on the Hospital's
financial limitations.

7. The Community Relations Committee (hereinafter “Commitiee”) shall consist
of the number of members as may from time to time be established by the Board of
Governors, and shall include Governors, and may include representatives of the Medicat
Staff and Administrative Staff, as well as members from the community. The Committee
Chair, which shall be appacinted by the Board of Governors, shall be a current member of
the Board of Governors.

The Committee shalf carry out the Board of Governors’ responsibility for establishing
ongoing communication with the community in order to identify community health care
needs, make recommendations fo the Board of Govemors for responses to those needs,
and spread a deeper understanding within the community of the Hospital's mission,
strategic plans, and resources.

More specifically, the functions of the Commitiee, subject to Board oversight, shall include:

i) Planning and supporting a strategic communications plan that fosters a positive
community image of Charlotte Hungerford Hospital through a wide aray of
strategies;

i) Planning and supporting the creation of community and public/private partnerships
and community benefit programming for the service area based on real and
perceived health care needs;

iii) Maintaining communication with the Hospital's Auxiliary;

iv) Planning and support a variety of oufreach efforts aimed at patients, physicians,
employees, volunteers, area elected officials, media, and the business and

nonprofit commurity; and
V) Planning and supporting a marketing plan that promotes awareness of the
Hospital's existing and planned programs and services through news releases,

radio, public sefvice announcements, talks, branding, new media, and other
means.

Duties shall include:
i) Meet at least bi-monthily;
i) Annually submit objectives as part of its planning process;

iii} Annually evaluate progress made in achieving these objectives and report the
same to the Board;



v) Routinely report to the Board on the status of activities related to the above
functions; and

v)  Develop necessary procedures and routines to accomplish these duties.

8. The Nominating Committee shall consist of four members. Three members,
who shall be Governors, shall be appointed by the Chairman of the Board annually. One
member, who shall be a Corporator who is not a Governor, shall be elected by the
Corporators at the Annual Meeting of the Corporation. The Committee shall:

)] prepare a slate of candidates for nomination as Corporators of The Charlotte
Hungerford Hospital to present at the Annual Meeting of the Corporation.

i) prepare a slate of candidates for nomination as Board members of Thé Chadotte
Hungerford Hospital to present at the Annual Meeting of the Corporation.

fii} prepare a slate of candidates for nomination as officers of the Board of Governors
and Chairmen of the Board committees to present at the Annual Meeting of the
Board of Governors.

iv) communicate with the Communily Relations Committee {c obtain the names of
potential Board members and members of the Corporators which the Community
Relations Committee has identified.

9. Building Committee. The Building Commitiee shall consist of the number of
members as may from time to be established by the Board of Govemnors. The Committee
shall include representatives of the Administrative Staff and the Board. The Committee
shall carry out the Board of Govemnors’ responsibility for overseeing Senior Management's
activities related to all major new construction and existing facility renovation projects,
including the architectural services, cost estimating services, engineering services,
construction services, and construction administration services.

i) .~ The Building Commitiee will review and evaluate the Administration’s faciiity
renovation and new construction project recommendations stemming from either
the Health Care Planning Committee’s strategic plan review process, or from the
Administration’s annual business plan and supporting capital budget process.

i} The Building Committee will charge the Hospital's Administration with the
responsibility of enforcing the Hospital's Competitive Bid_Policy for selecting
architects, designers, engineers and builders.

iii) Final project recommendations will be presented by the Administration fo the
Building Committee for review and approval, before being brought to the Finance
Committee and the full Board.




10. Mesetings. The Health Care Planning Committee, the Patient Care
Conference Committee, the Community Relations Committee, the Finance Committee
and the Human Resources Committee shall all meet at least six times a year on a
bimonthly basis. The Nominating Committee shall meet at least once a year. The
Executive Commitiee shall meet upon the call of the Chaiman or Vice Chairman of the
Corporation. Meetings of commiitees may be called by the Chairman or Vice Chairman of
the corporation or by the Chairman of the Committee.

11. Attendance at Meetings. Members of a committee are expected to attend at
least two-thirds of the meetings of that committee unless excused for good cause by the
President, Chairman of the Board, or Chairnan of the Committee. Failure to aftend the
requisite number of committee meetings unless so excused shall be deemed a resignation
from the committee.

12. The committees of the Board of Governors shall include, but not be limited to,
the Finance Committee, Patient Care Conference Committee, Human Resource
Commiltee, Health Care Planning Committee, Community Relations Committee,
Executive Committee, Building Committee, Bylaw Committee and Nominating Committee.

Said committees shall be established pursuant te Hospital Bylaws and
conducted in a manner consistent with the Connecticut Peer review Statute, CGS Sec. -
18a-17b when the responsibility of the members of these commitiees address issues
focused on improving the quality of healthcare, reducing morbidity and morality, or
attempting to keep healthcare costs within reasonable bounds. Portions of committee
proceedings dealing with these issues shall be conducted in accordance with the Peer
Review Statute and such confidentiality shall be invoked by the committee members as
part of their administrative responsibilities.

ARTICLEV
OFFICERS

1. Appointment. The Beard of Governors shall annually appoint a President,
one or more Vice Presidents, a Secretary and a Treasurer, and may also appoint a
Chairman of the Board, one or more Vice Chairmen of the Board and such other officer as
it may deem appropriate. Officers may, but need not be, governors. If the President, or
Chairman of the Board, or Vice Chairman is not already a member of the Board of
Govemors, he shall be ex officio a member for the duration of the term of his office or
offices.

2. Duties. The Chairman of the Board, if there be one, otherwise the President
or his designate shall represent the Corporation at official ceremonies and functions, shall
preside at all meetings of the Board of Govemnors, and except as the Corporators may
- otherwise direct, shall also preside at all meetings of the Corporation. In the absence of
the Chaiman or the President or upon his inability to act in any matter, his powers shall
inhere in, and his duties shall be performed by any of the Vice Chairmen. The office of



Treasurer may be heid by either an individual or a Corporation. Subject to the direction of
the Board of Governors and the Finance Committee, the Treasurer shall supervise and
conduct the financial matters of the corporation in accordance with sound business and
accounting practice. The Secretary shall act as clerk at meetings of the corporation and
Board of Governors and keep records of all their votes and minutes of all their
proceedings. He shall keep the seal of the corporation. The Secretary or Treasurer may
attest the seal of the corporation whenever it may be affixed to any document. The
Executive Director of the Hospital shall hold office at the pleasure of the Board of

3. General Authority. The officers shall have such other and further powers and
duties as the Board of Governors shall from time to time direct.

ARTICLE Vi
MEDICAL STAFF

1. Al physicians, surgeons, oral surgeons, and podiatrists granted clinical
pnwleges in the Hospital shall constitute the Medical Staif. The Staff shall adopt bylaws
for its operation and governance, which, together with any amendments thereto, shall be
approved by the governing board, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. The
bylaws shall provide, inter alia, for appropriate officers and committees of the Staff; for the
qualification of members thereof;, for procedures of appointment, reappointment, and
termination of services, and the delineation, granting, curtailing, suspension and denial of
clinical privileges, including a mechanism for review of decisions, including the right to be
heard at each step of the process when requested by the staft member.

2. The Board of Govemnors may appoint such numbers of physicians, surgeons,

oral surgeons and podiatrisis to the Medical Staff as may be advisable to staff and
operate the medical staff depariments. The Board shall consider recommendations of the
Medical Staff for appointment. All appointees shall meet the qualifications of the bylaws of
the Staff. Appointments and reappoiniments and the granting of and denial of privileges
shall be made in accordance with the provisions of the Staff bylaws. Each member of the
Medical Staff shall observe all the ethical principles of his profession. Only a member of
the Medical Staff shall admit a patient to the Hospital, and only a licensed pracfitioner with
clinical privileges shall be directly responsible for the patient's diagnosis and freatment
within the area of his privileges.

3. Subject 1o the overail direction of the Board of Governors, the Medical Staff
shall ensure appropriate professional care {o the Hospital's patients. The Staff shall
conduct an ongaing review and appraisal of the quality of professional care rendered in
the Hospital and shall reguiarly report such activities and their results to the Goveming
Board.

, 4. Any member of the Medical Staff aggrieved by a decision of the Executive
Committee of the Medical Staff relating to clinical privileges shall have a right fo appeat to
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the Board of Governors, which appeal may be heard by a subcommittee of the Board of
Govemors consisting of not less than five members.

The hearing shalt be conducted in accord with the procedures established by the
Medical Staff bylaws within two weeks of the appeai; and the Board or subcommitiee
thereof shall render its decision within two weeks of the time of completion of the hearing.

In the event that the decision of the Board or subcommittee of the Board, as the
case may be, is contrary to the decision of the Executive Committee of the Medical Staff,
there shall be a review of the matter by a joint meeting of the Executive Committee of the
Medical Staff and the Board, or the subcommittee of the Board considering the matter,
* prior to a final decision by the Board, or by a subcommittee of the Board, as the case may
be.

5. Physicians employed by the Hospital shall be appoirnted and terminated in
accordance with the personnel policies and practices prevailing at the time where
applicable and/for the terms of their contracts or other conditions of employment.

All physicians employed by the Hospital whose functions, duties and responsibilities
include the exercise of clinical skilis and judgment and/or the direct supervision of
professional activities of members of the Medical Staff subjeet to his direction, shall be
members of the Medical Staff. If a physician's membership on the Medical Staff is
terminated, his employment by the Hospital in any capacity involving such clinical skills,
judgment or supervision shall be automatically terminated.

If the grounds, or one of the grounds, for temination of employment of a physician
involves lack of, or failure to use clinical skills, judgment andfor supervision, termination of
employment shall be made in accordance with the provisions of the Medical Staff Bylaws
regarding suspension or revocation of staff membership. Termination of employment after
hearing and appeal as therein provided may, but need not, result in revocation of Medical
Staff membership.

8. The Medical Staff membership may be called upon to act in an administrative
role while serving on one or more of the administrative committees andior Medical Staff
standing committees. These committees shall include but not be limited to the following:
- the Finance Committee, Patient Care Conference Committee, Human Resource
Committee, Health Care Planning Committee, Community Relations Committee Executive
Commitiee, Building Committee, Bylaw Committee, Nominating Committee, Critical Care
Committee, and Infection Control Committee.

Said committees shall be established pursuant to Hospital Bylaws and conducted in
a manner consistent with the Connecticut Peer Review Statute, CGS Sec. 19a-17b when
the responsibility- of the members of these commiftees address issues focused on
improving the quality of healthcare, reducing morbidity and mortality, or attempting to keep
healthcare costs within reasonable bounds. Portions of committee proceedings dealing
with these issues shall be conducted in accordance with the Peer Review Statute and
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such confidentiality shall be invoked by the committee members as part of their
administrative responsibilities.

ARTICLE VIl
MISCELLANEOUS

, 1. Salaries and Compensation. No member of the Board of Governors, nor

any officer, member or employee of the corporation, shall receive any pecuniary profit from
its operations except reasonable compensation for services in effecting one or more of its
corporate purposes.

2. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the corporation shall end at the close of
business on the 30th day of September in each year.

3. Surety Bonds. The Board of Govemors may require the Treasurer,
Assistant Treasurers and any other officers, agents or employees to give bond in such
forms and amounts as it may determine, and may designate the custodian of such bonds.

4. Savings Provisions. Al actions heretofore taken and all appoiniments
heretofore made under any bylaw in effect at the adoption of these bylaws are hereby
ratified and confirmed.

5. Amendments. These bylaws may be amended or repealed from time to
time, and new bylaws may be added hereto, by the vote of two-thirds of the members who
are present at any meeting of the Board of Govemnors wamed and held for the purpose, -
but no such amendment enlarging or impairing the powers of the Board of Governors or
changing its composition or the tenure or method of electing its members or the
qualifications for membership on the Board shalf be valid unless it shall be approved by
vote of a majority of Corporators present at a meeting of the corporation wamed and heid
for the purpose. The bylaws shalf be reviewed by the Board of Governors at least every
two years. ' -

ARTICLE Vil
AUXILIARY

1. There shall be an auxiliary to be organized and govemed according to the
rules approved by the Board of Govemors.

12
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